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A. INTRODUCTION 

I am a director of Taurus Funds Management Pty Limited, an affiliate of the moving 

parties, QMetco Limited (“QMetco”) and Taurus Resources No. 2 B.V. (“Taurus” and 

together with QMetco, the “Moving Parties”). 

The Moving Parties are part of a group of related companies that provide financing 

solutions to global mid-tier and junior mining companies, including to the respondents. 

The respondents, who I collectively refer to as the NSC Companies (as defined below), 

operate an integrated silica mining and transport business from facilities in Alberta and 

British Columbia. 

I have been a member of the Moving Parties’ internal working group responsible for 

advancing senior credit facilities to the NSC Companies and in that capacity I have gained 

knowledge of the NSC Companies’ business, operations and financial circumstances. I 

am authorized to make this affidavit on behalf of the Moving Parties and have personal 

knowledge of the facts hereinafter deposed to except where such facts are stated to be 

based upon information and belief, and in such cases I verily believe them to be true.

Before June 18, 2020, I was also a director of Northern Silica Corporation (“NSC”), the

ultimate corporate parent of the NSC Companies, and in that capacity I gained extensive 

knowledge of the business, operations and financial circumstances of the NSC 

Companies. I am presently a director of Heemskirk Mining Pty. Ltd. (“Heemskirk 

Australia”).

This affidavit is sworn in support of an originating application by the Moving Parties 

pursuant to the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act, RSC, c C-36, as amended (the 

“CCAA”). The Moving Parties seek an order (the “Initial Order”) in respect of the NSC 

Companies substantially in the form attached as Schedule “A” to the originating 

application filed concurrently with this affidavit, granting relief that is reasonably necessary 

for the continued operations of the NSC Companies within an initial 10-day stay period, 

including:

(a) declaring that each of the NSC Companies are companies to which the CCAA 

applies;
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(b) appointing Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc. (“Alvarez”) as Monitor in these CCAA 

proceedings to monitor the NSC Companies’ business and affairs (in such 

capacity, the “Monitor”);

(c) granting a stay of proceedings in respect of the NSC Companies until July 10, 

2020, subject to further Order of the Court;

(d) authorizing the NSC Companies to pay all reasonable ordinary course operational 

expenses incurred by the NSC Companies prior to, on or after the commencement 

of these proceedings;

(e) granting an administration charge (the “Administration Charge”) over all of the 

assets and undertakings of the NSC Companies (the “Property”), which is 

intended to be increased with this Court’s approval at a subsequent hearing prior 

to the expiry of the initial 10-day stay period (the “Second Hearing”), to secure the 

payment of the fees of the proposed Monitor, counsel to the proposed Monitor, and 

counsel to the NSC Companies; and

(f) granting a directors’ and officers’ charge (the “D&O Charge”) over the Property to 

indemnify the directors and officers of the NSC Companies in respect of liabilities 

they may incur during the CCAA proceedings in their capacities as directors and 

officers.

Based on my understanding of the matters deposed to herein I believe the facts relating to 

the NSC Companies’ financial and other obligations, are correct. 

If the above relief is granted as sought, I expect that the NSC Companies will return before 

this Court at the Second Hearing to seek further relief to continue the CCAA proceeding, 

including an extension of the stay of proceedings, authorization for the NSC Companies to 

obtain interim financing, and the granting of a priority charge over the Property to secure 

the NSC Companies’ borrowings under an interim financing facility. 

Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts stated in this affidavit are in Canadian dollars. 
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B. CORPORATE STRUCTURE AND BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Corporate Structure

NSC is an Alberta corporation with a registered office address of 1900, 520 – 3rd Avenue 

SW, Calgary, AB T2P 0R3. NSC is the sole shareholder and parent company of

Heemskirk Australia, an Australian corporation that conducts business in Canada. 

Heemskirk Australia is the direct or indirect corporate parent of Custom Bulk Services Inc. 

(“Custom Bulk”), Heemskirk Canada Limited (“Heemskirk Canada”), Heemskirk Canada 

Holdings Limited (“Heemskirk Holdings”) and HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited 

(“HCA Moberly”) (collectively, the “Heemskirk Subsidiaries” and together with NSC and 

Heemskirk Australia, the “NSC Companies”).

The NSC Companies are all privately held corporations. The corporate structure of the 

NSC Companies is set out in the following table: 

Entity Jurisdiction Shareholders

NSC Alberta Various shareholders as described further 
below

Heemskirk Australia Australia NSC (100%)

Heemskirk Canada Alberta Heemskirk Australia (100%)

Heemskirk Holdings British Columbia Heemskirk Australia (100%)

Custom Bulk Alberta Heemskirk Canada (100%)

HCA Moberly British Columbia Heemskirk Canada (100%)

An organizational chart of the NSC Companies is attached hereto as Exhibit “A”. 

The NSC Companies operate integrated and intertwined silica mining and transport 

businesses, though the majority of their operations have been suspended since February 

2020, as further described below. The NSC Companies each own various assets used in 

their joint business operations. Prior to the suspension of their mining and processing 

operations, the NSC Companies collectively employed 51 employees. Currently, the NSC 

Companies collectively employ 13 employees.

The NSC Companies’ corporate, financial and accounting records are located in Calgary, 

Alberta. The majority of executive management and administrative support is provided 

from the NSC Companies’ head office in Calgary.
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History of the Moberly Plant

HCA Moberly operated the Moberly silica mine located near Golden, British Columbia (the 

“Moberly Plant”) until February 2020. The Moberly Plant mines and processes silica sand 

from a high-grade silica deposit that has recently been redeveloped by the NSC 

Companies with a new processing facility capable of producing frac sand products 

predominantly used in the oil and gas industry. The Moberly Plant is situated on land 

owned by Heemskirk Holdings.

In 1980, Mountain Minerals Co. Ltd. (“MMCL”) began mining, crushing and delivering high 

purity silica from the Moberly silica deposit to a large glass container manufacturing plant 

located in Lavington, British Columbia (the “Lavington Plant”) owned by Consumers 

Glass Inc. (“CGI”).

In 2002 the Lavington Plant was acquired by Owens Illinois, one of the world’s largest 

glass manufacturers and on June 30, 2005, MMCL was acquired by Heemskirk Australia. 

On October 31, 2008, Owens Illinois closed the Lavington Plant. As a result of the closure, 

the primary source of revenue for the Moberly silica operations was eliminated.

Acquisition of Heemskirk Australia

Heemskirk Australia was previously a public corporation listed on the Australian Stock 

Exchange, but has been delisted since June 21, 2017. All of the shares of Heemskirk 

Australia were acquired by NSC in July 2017.

The Moberly Plant had been operated by HCA Moberly since the acquisition in 2017 until 

its closure due to adverse economic conditions in February 2020.

Since acquiring the shares of Heemskirk Australia, NSC has invested approximately 

$69,599,422 into the Moberly Plant to redevelop it and increase its production capabilities.

The Moberly Plant consists of the following 6 distinct areas of operation:

(a) portable crushing plant;

(b) pre-screen and crushing;

(c) wet process;

(d) drying and finishing; 
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(e) fines processing and water clarification; and

(f) storage and load-out of silica.

When it was operating, operations at the Moberly Plant included blasting and hauling raw 

silica for processing. After being processed the majority of silica was moved to the NSC 

Companies’ Penhold Facility (as defined below) for sales to the frac sand market in 

Alberta with limited quantities sold directly to customers at the mine gate. 

Penhold Transloading Facility

In addition to the Moberly Plant, the company acquired a transloading facility in Penhold, 

Alberta (the “Penhold Facility”) when it purchased the Custom Bulk business in February 

2018.

Transloading is the process of transferring a shipment from one mode of transportation to 

another. The Penhold Facility is located directly on the Canadian Pacific Rail (“CPR”) main 

haul line and was designed to transport various products to same. The Penhold Facility 

features upgraded and specialized equipment, including certified scaling legal for trade, 

an accurate inventory tracking system, a dust collection system, and a noise control 

system. 

The Penhold Facility was acquired with the intention of using it to receive frac sand by rail 

from the Moberly Plant. However, in June 2018, there was a CPR derailment near the 

Moberly Plant, which damaged the existing rail switch to access the facility. The cost to 

replace the dated rail switch was estimated at $4.5 million, which in the current economic 

environment, was cost prohibitive.

After the derailment and damage to the rail switch needed to access the Moberly Plant, 

the NSC Companies were unable to send silica from the Moberly Plant via rail. Instead, 

since June of 2018 silica has been sent via truck from the Moberly Plant to the Penhold 

Facility. 

While the Penhold Facility does not receive silica from the Moberly Plant via rail (and 

therefore is not currently operating as originally intended), the Penhold Facility has 

become a necessary and integral part of the NSC Companies’ business because it is 

strategically placed to receive silica from the Moberly Plant via truck, to store the silica, 

and then to transport the silica to wider markets via rail. Without the Penhold Facility and 
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direct rail access, the Moberly Plant would have no ability to store and distribute product at 

a proximal location to its target market. Timing, storage and distribution of materials are 

critically essential to serving clients in the frac sand market, therefore, Moberly product 

could not be readily marketed without a strategically located storage and distribution 

facility. 

Since the shut-down of the Moberly Plant, the Penhold Facility has been used to store 

silica and has been used to transload frac sand from third parties to current clients.

Since the closure of the Moberly Plant, the NSC Companies have also explored using the 

Penhold Facility for the storage and transloading of agricultural materials.

C. CHALLENGES FACED BY THE NORTH AMERICAN FRAC SAND INDUSTRY

The NSC Companies produce frac sand used in oil and natural gas extraction. 

Frac sand price and demand have been trending downward since early 2019. Intense 

competition from both in-basin and Wisconsin based sand suppliers has resulted in lower 

prices. These factors have led to a wave of bankruptcies of frac sand companies since 

mid-2019.

In addition to these significant market pressures, the Moberly Plant does not have the 

production capacity to commit months of production to a single large completion job. 

Further, logistics and the expense of delivery by truck (instead of via rail) beyond 

immediate geography has made sales from the Moberly Plant uneconomic. 

In early 2020 the oil price war between Saudi Arabia and Russia and the emergence of the 

COVID-19 pandemic caused the price of oil to fall to unprecedented low levels. The price 

of Western Canadian Select oil has recovered slightly, but the price of oil remains low and 

volatile and has continued to affect investment interest in the Alberta oil and gas market. 

This has led to an immediate knock-on effect in the frac sand industry.

Throughout the fourth quarter of 2019 and the first quarter of 2020, the price of frac sand 

commanded by the NSC Companies was less than the cost for the NSC Companies to 

produce and ship the product. 
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As a result of the difficulties experienced by the NSC Companies, operations at the 

Moberly Plant were shut down in late February of 2020. The NSC Companies also 

transitioned the Penhold Facility to store and ship agricultural products for customers.

The NSC Companies have also been investigating diversification possibilities which could 

allow them to repurpose the Moberly Plant to provide product to industries other than the 

oil and gas industry, however, such investigations have not concluded and will require 

further investment in order for the companies to pursue a repurposing of the Moberly 

Plant.

D. LIABILITIES

Loan Agreements

The NSC Companies collectively owe $81.6 million pursuant to various loan agreements, 

as set out below (collectively, the “Loan Agreements”):

Borrower Lender Amount 
Outstanding

Security 
Agreement

HCA Moberly Taurus $53.2 million Yes

HCA Moberly First Samuel Limited (“First Samuel”) $5.6 million No

HCA Moberly QMetco $21.5 million Yes

Custom Bulk Alberta Treasury Branches (“ATB”) $1.3 million Yes

On June 11, 2020, the board of directors of NSC received notice of a share transfer (the 

“Rabinov Share Transfer Notice”), pursuant to which a corporation controlled by an 

existing shareholder named Marc Rabinov (“Rabinov”) would become the beneficial 

holder of 40.06% of the issued and outstanding shares of NSC (the “Rabinov Share 

Transfer”). The Rabinov Share Transfer Notice also stated that, pursuant to section 4.2(d) 

of the Amended and Restated Unanimous Shareholders’ Agreement of NSC dated May 

18, 2017 (the “NSC USA”), Rabinov’s greater than 40% interest in NSC entitled Rabinov 

to appoint Philip Katz (“Katz”) and Jeremy Katz as directors of NSC. A copy of the NSC 

USA is attached hereto as Exhibit “B”.

As of June 26, 2020, the Rabinov Share Transfer had not been accepted by 

Computershare Investor Services Inc. (“Computershare”), the transfer agent of NSC. As 

a result, Rabinov is not yet entitled to appoint directors pursuant to the NSC USA. 
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As of June 26, 2020, NSC had 1,172,321,433 common shares issued and outstanding. 

Shareholders of NSC with significant holdings include:

(a) Taurus with just over 50% of outstanding common shares; and

(b) First Samuel with approximately 39% of the outstanding common shares.

It is anticipated that if the Rabinov Share Transfer closes, shareholders of NSC with 

significant holdings are anticipated to include:

(a) Taurus with just over 50% of outstanding common shares; and

(b) Rabinov with approximately 42% of the outstanding common shares, which 

includes his pre-existing shareholdings.

As will be discussed further below, pursuant to the NSC USA, shareholders holding 20% 

or more of the outstanding common shares of NSC are entitled to appoint a director to the 

board of NSC at a duly constituted shareholders meeting. However, I have been advised 

that the process to transfer the shares has not yet been completed by Computershare and 

First Samuel. Therefore, the Rabinov Share Transfer has not yet closed and Rabinov is 

not yet a shareholder with 20% or more of the common shares of NSC entitled to appoint 

a director under the USA.

Taurus Indebtedness

The NSC Companies’ most significant secured creditor is Taurus, which, as discussed 

above, is also a significant shareholder of NSC. Taurus, together with its wholly owned 

subsidiary, QMetco, are the largest secured creditors of the NSC Companies. 

On July 15, 2015, Taurus, as lender, and HCA Moberly, as borrower, entered into a 

secured facility agreement in the aggregate amount of US$40 million (the “Original Loan 

Agreement”) as amended and novated by an agreement dated February 10, 2016 (the 

“First Amendment Agreement”), and as amended by an amending and accession 

agreement dated December 21, 2018 (the “Second Amending Agreement”) 

(collectively, the “Taurus Loan Agreement”). Attached as Exhibit “C” is a copy of the 

Taurus Loan Agreement. Despite the commitment of US$40 million, only US$25 million of 

the loan was drawn for the purpose of building the Moberly Plant.
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NSC, Heemskirk Australia, Heemskirk Holdings, and Heemskirk Canada jointly and 

severally unconditionally guaranteed the obligations of HCA Moberly under the Taurus 

Loan Agreement.

On February 14, 2016, HCA Moberly issued a $100 million debenture (the “Taurus 

Debenture”) in favour of Taurus as security for its obligations under the Taurus Loan 

Agreement. The Taurus Debenture grants security in all assets and undertakings of HCA 

Moberly, including all of HCA Moberly’s mineral leases and claims tenures. On February 

14, 2016, each of Heemskirk Canada and Heemskirk Holdings issued $100 million

debentures in favour of Taurus as security for their obligations as guarantors under the 

Taurus Loan Agreement (the “Taurus Guarantor Debentures”). The Taurus Guarantor 

Debentures are secured against all assets and undertakings of each of Heemskirk 

Canada and Heemskirk Holdings. 

In addition, Heemskirk Canada pledged 100% of the shares of HCA Moberly and Custom 

Bulk as security for HCA Moberly’s obligations under the Taurus Loan Agreement.

On February 14, 2016, HCA Moberly executed a royalty deed in favour of Taurus to 

provide a royalty in the products produced on the Moberly Plant lands.

On March 22, 2016, Taurus registered mortgage instrument number CA5058473 in the 

amount of $100 million against title to the Moberly Plant lands as security for the 

indebtedness of HCA Moberly under the Taurus Loan Agreement. Attached as Exhibit 

“D” is a copy of a B.C. Land Title search current to May 19, 2020 evidencing same.

As of the date of this affidavit, there is approximately $53.2 million outstanding under the 

Taurus Loan Agreement.

HCA Moberly failed to make payments to Taurus as required under the terms of the 

Taurus Loan Agreement on:

(a) June 30, 2018;

(b) September 30, 2019;

(c) December 31, 2019; and

(d) March 31, 2020.
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On December 16, 2019, Taurus agreed to waive the defaults up to June 30, 2020. 

Attached as Exhibit “E” is a copy of the waiver agreement.

QMetco Indebtedness

On June 28, 2019, QMetco, as lender, and HCA Moberly, as borrower, entered into an 

unsecured working capital facility agreement in the original amount of $6,500,000 (the 

“QMetco Facility Agreement”). HCA Moberly made subsequent draws under the 

QMetco Facility Agreement in the amount of $11.5 million.

On December 6, 2019, QMetco, as lender, and HCA Moberly, as borrower, entered into a 

secured working capital facility agreement (the “QMetco Secured Facility Agreement”), 

under which HCA Moberly repaid any amounts owing under the QMetco Facility 

Agreement. In December 2019 QMetco made advances under the QMetco Secured 

Facility Agreement in the amount of $18 million. Attached as Exhibit “F” is a copy of the 

QMetco Secured Facility Agreement.

NSC, Heemskirk Australia, Heemskirk Holdings, and Heemskirk Canada jointly and 

severally unconditionally guaranteed the obligations of HCA Moberly under the QMetco 

Secured Facility Agreement.

On December 6, 2019, HCA Moberly issued a $45 million debenture (the “QMetco 

Debenture”) in favour of QMetco as security for its obligations under the QMetco Secured 

Facility Agreement. The QMetco Debenture is secured against all assets and 

undertakings of HCA Moberly, including all of HCA Moberly’s surface leases and mining 

tenures. 

On December 6, 2019, each of Heemskirk Canada and Heemskirk Holdings executed 

debentures in favour of QMetco as security for their obligations as guarantors under the 

QMetco Secured Facility Agreement (the “QMetco Guarantor Debentures”). The 

QMetco Guarantor Debentures are secured against all assets and undertakings of each of 

Heemskirk Canada and Heemskirk Holdings. Copies of the Taurus Debenture, the Taurus 

Guarantor Debentures, the QMetco Debenture and the QMetco Guarantor Debentures 

will be provided in a separate affidavit in the interest of efficiency, given my location in 

Melbourne, Australia and the length of these materials. 
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In addition, Heemskirk Canada pledged 100% of the shares of HCA Moberly and Custom 

Bulk as security for HCA Moberly’s obligations under the QMetco Secured Facility 

Agreement.

On December 6, 2019, HCA Moberly, as borrower, Taurus, as subordinated lender, and 

QMetco, as senior lender, entered into an intercreditor agreement (the “Intercreditor 

Agreement”). Attached hereto as Exhibit “G” is a copy of the Intercreditor Agreement.

Pursuant to the Intercreditor Agreement, the obligations of HCA Moberly under the Taurus 

Loan Agreement were postponed and subordinated to the obligations of HCA Moberly 

under the QMetco Secured Facility Agreement.

The QMetco Secured Facility Agreement termination date of January 31, 2020, has been 

extended pursuant to certain letter agreements dated January 28, 2020, February 28, 

2020, and March 31, 2020, April 28, 2020, and May 26, 2020 (the “QMetco Extension 

Letters”). Attached hereto as Exhibit “H” are copies of the QMetco Extension Letters. 

The most recent extension granted by QMetco on May 26, 2020, extended the termination 

date to June 30, 2020. 

As of the date of this affidavit, there is approximately $21.5 million outstanding under the 

QMetco Secured Facility Agreement.

Recent Correspondence with HCA Moberly

On June 17, 2020, counsel for the Moving Parties wrote to counsel for HCA Moberly as 

borrower under the Taurus Loan Agreement and the QMetco Secured Facility Agreement. 

The Moving Parties advised that they were not prepared to provide any further funding to 

the NSC Companies and that they would not agree to any further extensions of the 

maturity date of the Taurus Loan Agreement or the QMetco Secured Facility Agreement

beyond the previously agreed June 30, 2020 date. In its correspondence the Moving 

Parties further requested that the NSC Companies advise Taurus and QMetco whether 

the NSC Companies were insolvent and whether the NSC Companies intended to repay 

the indebtedness owing under the Taurus Loan Agreement and the QMetco Secured 

Facility Agreement in full by no later than June 30, 2020. Attached hereto as Exhibit “I” is 

a copy of the correspondence.
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On June 18, 2020, counsel for HCA Moberly responded and advised the Moving Parties

that the NSC Companies were recently forced to suspend their silica mining operations for 

the reasons described herein and that without additional financial support from their 

lenders, the NSC Companies are or will soon be unable to repay their obligations as they 

generally become due. For this reason, and because the realizable value of the NSC 

Companies’ assets does not appear to be sufficient to enable payment of all of their 

obligations as they come due, it appears that the NSC Companies are insolvent and are 

not currently in a position to repay their indebtedness to the Moving Parties nor do they 

expect to be in a position to do so by June 30, 2020. Attached hereto as Exhibit “J” is a 

copy of the response. 

On June 18, 2020, QMetco delivered demand letters and notices of intention to enforce 

security under s.244 of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, RSC 1985, c B-3, as amended 

(the “BIA”) to HCA Moberly, NSC, Heemskirk Australia, Heemskirk Holdings, and 

Heemskirk Canada demanding payment of all amounts outstanding under the QMetco 

Secured Facility Agreement.

On June 23, 2020, Taurus delivered demand letters and notices of intention to enforce 

security under s.244 of the BIA to HCA Moberly, NSC, Heemskirk Australia, Heemskirk 

Holdings, and Heemskirk Canada demanding payment of all amounts outstanding under 

the Taurus Loan Agreement. 

ATB Secured Indebtedness

The secured creditor of Custom Bulk is Alberta Treasury Branches (“ATB”). On July 30, 

2012, ATB, as lender, and Custom Bulk, as borrower, entered into a loan agreement 

dated August 1, 2012, which was amended and restated on December 12, 2013, February 

24, 2014, August 11, 2015, February 15, 2018 and February 12, 2020 (as amended and 

restated, the “ATB Loan Agreement”).

Under the ATB Loan Agreement, ATB granted Custom Bulk a non-revolving reducing 

credit facility of $631,644.17, a non-revolving reducing credit facility of $623,266.58 and 

an Alberta BusinessCard Mastercard of $50,000, which was amended from time to time. 

Attached as Exhibit “K” is a copy of the ATB Loan Agreement. 

On August 14, 2012, Custom Bulk executed a general security agreement as security for 

its obligations under the ATB Loan Agreement (the “Custom Bulk GSA”). Attached as 
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Exhibit “L” is a copy of the Custom Bulk GSA.  The Custom Bulk GSA grants in favour of 

ATB security interest in all of the assets and undertakings of Custom Bulk.

On August 16, 2012, ATB registered mortgage instrument number 122268071, as 

amended by registration 132194298 dated June 27, 2013, in the amount of $2,700,000 

against title to the Penhold Facility lands as security for the indebtedness under the ATB 

Loan Agreement. Attached as Exhibit “M” are copies of the Alberta Land Title searches 

for the applicable legal titles current to June 4, 2020 and June 12, 2020, evidencing same.

Heemskirk Canada guaranteed the obligations of Custom Bulk under the ATB Loan 

Agreement, limited to $1,500,000, pursuant to a continuing guarantee dated February 14, 

2018 (the “ATB Guarantee”).

On February 15, 2018, Heemskirk Canada executed a general security agreement as 

security for its obligations under the ATB Guarantee (the “Heemskirk Canada GSA”).

The Heemskirk Canada GSA provides a security interest against all present and after 

acquired personal property and proceeds of Heemskirk Canada in favour of ATB. 

As of the date of this affidavit, there is approximately $1.3 million outstanding under the 

ATB Loan Agreement (the “ATB Indebtedness”).

On February 15, 2018, ATB, Heemskirk Canada, and Taurus entered into a subordination 

agreement whereby ATB postponed the ATB Indebtedness and its security against 

Heemskirk Canada to Taurus as senior secured lender (the “Subordination 

Agreement”).

The Subordination Agreement does not apply to debt or security in respect of Custom 

Bulk. As such, ATB appears to be the primary secured creditor in respect of the assets of 

Custom Bulk. 

The Custom Bulk-owned Penhold Facility is a valuable asset within the NSC Companies’ 

enterprise, being the facility that enables the transport element of the business. Although 

the Moving Parties are not creditors of Custom Bulk, the Moving Parties are interested 

parties in Custom Bulk as they are pledgees of 100% of Custom Bulk’s common shares. 

As discussed in greater detail below, I believe that if the NSC Companies’ business 

enterprise is marketed en-bloc within a CCAA sale process that includes the assets of 
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Custom Bulk, the business enterprise will yield a higher recovery compared to a marketing 

process that excludes the Custom Bulk assets.    

The Rolling Stock Lease

Custom Bulk and TrinityRail Canada Inc. are parties to a railroad car lease (the “Rolling 

Stock Lease”), which is also subject to a trust indenture with Wilmington Trust. The 

Rolling Stock Lease was entered into connection with the transloading of sand from truck 

to rail and the transportation of sand from the Penhold Facility to customers. The Rolling 

Stock Lease is not currently necessary for the NSC Companies’ business given the CPR 

derailment which has left the NSC Companies unable to ship frac sand by rail from the 

Moberly Facility, the lack of demand for frac sand in the Alberta oil and gas market, and 

the shut down of the Moberly Plant. 

PPR Registrations

Taurus and QMetco have registrations in the Alberta and British Columbia Personal 

Property Registries (each a “PPR”) against:

(a) Heemskirk Holdings;

(b) Heemskirk Canada; and

(c) HCA Moberly.

ATB has a registration in the Alberta PPR against 

(a) Custom Bulk; and

(b) Heemskirk Canada.

Attached as Exhibit “N” are copies of the Alberta and British Columbia PPR searches of 

the NSC Companies current to June 8, 2020, with the exception of Custom Bulk, which 

searches are current to June 9, 2020. 

Other than Taurus, QMetco, and ATB, the parties with registrations against some or all of 

the NSC Companies in the Alberta and British Columbia PPRs include: 

(a) Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, which provides banking arrangements for 

certain of the NSC Companies (as discussed further below);
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(b) Trinityrail Canada Inc., Wilmington Trust Company, as indenture trustee, and NP 

SPE X LP in respect of the Rolling Stock Lease; 

(c) RCAP Leasing Inc. in respect of certain office equipment; and

(d) Jack Carter Chevrolet Cadillac Buick GMC Ltd in respect of certain motor vehicles.

Other Significant Liabilities

On April 27, 2018, First Samuel, as lender on behalf of certain subscribers, and HCA 

Moberly, as borrower, entered into a loan note subscription agreement, as amended by an 

amending agreement dated February 11, 2019 (the “Loan Note Subscription 

Agreement”).

As of the date of this affidavit, there is approximately $5.6 million outstanding under the 

Loan Note Subscription Agreement.

As noted above, I am advised that Rabinov recently acquired the First Samuel 

indebtedness for a nominal purchase price.

In total, the NSC Companies have over $97 million in liabilities, including:

(a) approximately $81.6 million outstanding pursuant to the Loan Agreements;

(b) an estimated liability of approximately $7,947,355 under the Rolling Stock Lease;

(c) $5.6 million outstanding under the Loan Note Subscription Agreement;

(d) estimated liabilities of approximately $45,000 under various vehicle and 

equipment leases; 

(e) liabilities under siding lease agreements between CPR and each of Custom Bulk 

and HCA Moberly (the “Siding Lease Agreements”);

(f) liabilities under a railcar storage agreement between Canadian Heartland Training 

Railway Services Inc. and Custom Bulk (the “Railcar Storage Lease” and 

together with the Rolling Stock Lease and the Siding Lease Agreements, the “Rail 

Agreements”); and

(g) contingent liabilities of approximately $2.1 million relating to disputes with 

contractors and subcontractors regarding construction deficiencies at the Moberly 
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Plant for which notices of arbitration and claims have been filed. The NSC 

Companies estimate that they have a counter-claim for such deficiencies in the 

amount of $2.7 million.

E. ASSETS

The aggregate book value of NSC’s assets as reported in the annual financial statements 

for the year ended September 30, 2019, is approximately $62,269,000, with property, 

plant and equipment comprising $53,988,000 of the total asset amount. The aggregate 

current assets of NSC are reported as $8,281,000.

The aggregate book value of NSC’s assets as reported in the interim financial statements, 

as at the six months ended March 31, 2020, is approximately $66,028,000 with property, 

plant and equipment comprising $53,982,000 of the total asset amount. The aggregate 

current assets of NSC are reported as $5,719,000. 

In light of the pricing and demand challenges facing the North American frac sand industry 

described above, I believe that the net realizable value of these assets is likely to be 

materially lower than the book value.

The assets attributed to each of the NSC Companies can be described generally as 

follows:

(a) NSC and Heemskirk Australia own the shares of the Heemskirk Subsidiaries;

(b) Custom Bulk owns assets related to the Penhold Facility, including the plant, real 

property, rail siding, rail cars, and other equipment;

(c) Heemskirk Canada is a holding company and owns computers, vehicles, and 

other administrative assets;

(d) Heemskirk Holdings owns the land on which the Moberly Plant is situated; and

(e) HCA Moberly owns all equipment and buildings related to the Moberly Plant 

including rail siding, propane infrastructure as well as the mineral claims and 

mineral leases related to the NSC Companies’ mining operations. Attached hereto 

as Exhibit “O” are copies of the British Columbia Mineral Title Online searches 

with respect to such mineral claims and mineral lease, current to May 20, 2020.
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F. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Attached hereto as Exhibit “P” are the consolidated financial statements of NSC for the 

years ended September 30, 2018, and September 30, 2019. For the year ended 

September 30, 2018, NSC reported a net loss of $8,359,000, followed by a net loss of 

$87,568,000 for the year ended September 30, 2019.

Attached hereto as Exhibit “Q” are the consolidated interim financial statements of NSC 

as at the six months ended March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2019. For the six months ended 

March 31, 2020, NSC reported a net loss of $16,564,000. 

The NSC Companies continue to suffer losses as a result of the current economic climate 

and other challenges facing their businesses. Without relief under the CCAA, the NSC 

Companies will continue to incur losses and be unable to restructure their businesses to 

adapt to recent economic developments.

Each of NSC, Heemskirk Canada, Heemskirk Holdings, HCA Moberly and Heemskirk 

Australia cannot meet their obligations as they come due, including their obligations under 

the Taurus Loan Agreement and the QMetco Secured Facility Agreement. 

Custom Bulk cannot meet its obligations under the Rail Agreements as they come due. 

Custom Bulk has not made payments in respect of the Rolling Stock Lease for several 

months and there is an estimated liability of approximately $7,947,355 under the Rolling 

Stock Lease. In addition, the insolvency of Heemskirk Canada is a default under the ATB 

Loan Agreement. Upon the granting of any order under the CCAA in respect of Heemskirk 

Canada, ATB would be in a position to demand repayment of the amounts outstanding 

under the ATB Loan Agreement and Custom Bulk would not be able to repay such 

amounts. 

The NSC Companies are insolvent and cannot continue to operate without restructuring 

their debt and affairs. In order to pursue a restructuring that will maximize value for 

stakeholders, the NSC Companies require the flexible relief that is available under the 

CCAA.

G. EMPLOYEES

As stated above, the NSC Companies currently employ 13 employees. 
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If the Initial Order is granted the NSC Companies intend to continue to employ their 

present 13 employees to assist with the restructuring.

The employees will continue to support the NSC Companies during the CCAA proceeding 

by continuing to provide certain accounting, management, and operational functions to the 

NSC Companies.

In addition, if the NSC Companies are successful in repurposing their operations, the NSC 

Companies anticipate continuing the employment of each of their current employees and 

anticipate requiring several new employees upon a successful repurposing of their 

business.

H. THE URGENT NEED FOR RELIEF UNDER THE CCAA

Various options were considered to restructure the NSC Companies for the benefit of their 

creditors and stakeholders.

NSC attempted to raise capital to restructure its debt by issuing a private placement in 

March 2020, but was unsuccessful. Although Taurus subscribed for securities as part of 

the private placement, none of the other shareholders, including First Samuel, Rabinov 

and Katz, chose to subscribe. 

In April 2020, Taurus put forward a proposal for an issuance of approximately $80 million 

NSC convertible notes to retire all secured debt held by Taurus and QMetco and to raise 

$6 million of working capital to support the NSC Companies. Taurus suggested that 

Rabinov and Katz participate in such an issuance by contributing $3 million, but Rabinov 

and Katz declined. At the same time, Rabinov and Katz had proposed a $6 million equity 

raise that valued the NSC Companies’ enterprise value at only the value of the equity 

raised. Implicit in the Rabinov and Katz proposal was their view that all existing debt and 

equity positions within the NSC Companies were worthless. Attached hereto as Exhibit 

“R” are the Rabinov and Taurus proposals, exchanged over email.

Since February 2020, operations at the Moberly Plant have been suspended due to the 

current economic circumstances.

As noted above, the Moving Parties have delivered demands and statutory enforcement 

notices under their respective credit facilities. The NSC Companies have insufficient 

liquidity to repay such facilities. 
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The NSC Companies have notable strengths, including an efficient extraction process. 

However, the NSC Companies must restructure to continue operating as a going concern.

Case Roadmap

The Moving Parties seek the Court’s approval of the Initial Order in order to commence a 

Court-supervised restructuring process. I am advised by my legal counsel, Jeffrey Oliver, 

of Cassels Brock & Blackwell LLP, that the nature of relief available on an initial CCAA 

application is restricted to the relief reasonably necessary for the continued operations of 

the debtor companies in the ordinary course of business for an initial 10-day period. 

If the Initial Order is granted, the NSC Companies anticipate returning before this Court at 

the Second Hearing prior to the expiry of the 10-day stay period to seek an extension of 

the stay of proceedings. At the Second Hearing, the NSC Companies intend to seek the 

Court’s approval of, among other things, an interim financing facility (the “DIP Facility”) 

and associated priority charge over the Property, which is presently being negotiated 

among the Moving Parties and the NSC Companies.

If finalized and approved by this Court, the DIP Facility would provide the NSC Companies 

with required liquidity to develop and implement a Court-supervised sale and investment 

solicitation process (“SISP”), which would feature a broad marketing of the NSC 

Companies’ assets and attempt to achieve a going concern sale for the benefit of all of the 

NSC Companies’ stakeholders. 

Given their familiarity with the NSC Companies and their continued interest in the NSC 

Companies’ business, the Moving Parties intend to participate as a bidder in a future SISP

and are considering the possibility of becoming a stalking horse bidder. 

Considering the issues identified above, I believe that a Court-supervised restructuring 

proceeding under the CCAA is the best way to accomplish these goals. 

I. RELIEF SOUGHT

Stay of Proceedings

The NSC Companies do not have adequate liquidity to continue operations or the 

necessary stability to restructure without a CCAA proceeding.
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The NSC Companies operate as an integrated enterprise, with their head office located in 

Calgary. The NSC Companies require a stay of proceedings to restructure their affairs and 

allow the NSC Companies the necessary time to repurpose and re-start operations at the 

Moberly Plant and to ramp-up operations at the Penhold Facility.

The initial request for a stay of proceedings is limited to a 10-day stay period, which will 

provide additional time and breathing space for the Moving Parties and the NSC 

Companies to finalize the DIP Facility and the SISP, in coordination with the proposed 

Monitor.

For these reasons, I believe that the granting of a stay of proceedings is in the best 

interests of the NSC Companies.  

Appointment of Monitor

The NSC Companies seek to have Alvarez appointed as Monitor in accordance with the 

CCAA. The proposed Monitor has agreed to act as court appointed Monitor to the NSC 

Companies. Attached as Exhibit “S” is a copy of the consent to act executed by the 

Monitor.

To date the proposed Monitor has been assisting the NSC Companies by beginning to 

develop a restructuring plan and is familiar with the NSC Companies’ assets and 

businesses.  

Administration Charge

There are a number of financial and operational issues for which the NSC Companies will 

require the expertise of the proposed Monitor during the CCAA proceedings. In my 

dealings and interaction to date with the proposed Monitor I have determined that the 

proposed Monitor possesses expertise, not only in corporate restructuring matters 

generally, but also brings to bear insight and experience in connection with operational 

and financial issues experienced by entities such as the NSC Companies who are 

undergoing a restructuring. 

The proposed Monitor, its counsel, and the NSC Companies’ counsel are essential to the 

success of the proceedings. 

I would expect that a first ranking Administration Charge against the Property will be 

required in order to secure the fees and disbursements incurred in connection with 
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services rendered to the NSC Companies both before and after the commencement of the 

proceedings by:

(a) the proposed Monitor and its counsel, Torys LLP; and

(b) McMillan LLP, the NSC Companies’ counsel.

Directors’ & Officers’ Charge

The NSC Companies’ directors and officers are essential personnel to the NSC 

Companies’ business. The restructuring process requires the participation of these 

important personnel.

NSC’s directors and officers currently benefit from directors’ and officers’ insurance 

coverage up to an amount of $5 million. However, this coverage may prove insufficient or 

subject to standard exclusions which could make it difficult to cover all potential liabilities 

that may arise in the CCAA proceeding.

I would expect the NSC Companies’ directors and officers to be concerned about the 

potential consequences for their personal liability that may arise in the context of the 

present restructuring. 

Failure to offer additional protections to the directors and officers may result in 

resignations and will complicate the restructuring process.

For the reasons set out above, the NSC Companies seek the D&O Charge, which shall 

constitute a charge on the Property to indemnify the directors and officers of any liability 

that they may incur in connection with these proceedings and that are not covered by the 

current insurance coverage. I am advised by the NSC Companies that they plan to seek 

an increase in the amount of the D&O Charge at the Second Hearing.  

J. CASH MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

The NSC Companies utilize consolidated cash management systems. Heemskirk Canada 

and HCA Moberly maintain accounts with Canadian Bank of Imperial Commerce (“CIBC”) 

which are used to pay expenses. 
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Custom Bulk maintains accounts with ATB which are used to pay expenses. In addition, 

the NSC Companies maintain a corporate credit card with ATB that is utilized on a 

consolidated basis.

The NSC Companies also retain the services of Ceridian Canada Ltd. (“Ceridian”), as a 

third-party payroll service provider, through which payroll is paid twice each month from 

the CIBC accounts along with employee taxes and deductions as required. 

The CIBC and ATB cash management systems, as well as the services of Ceridian, are 

integral to the business of the NSC Companies.

K. NSC UNANIMOUS SHAREHOLDERS AGREEMENT

As noted above, Rabinov expects to soon complete a transaction that would result in his 

control of approximately 42% of the issued and outstanding NSC shares.

The NSC USA provides that shareholders with 20% or greater equity interest in NSC may 

appoint one director per each 20% interest. Such shareholders are entitled to appoint 

directors at a duly called shareholders meeting or upon 21 days notice to the board of 

directors.

There are currently three directors sitting on the NSC board of directors, including the 

chief executive officer of NSC and two independent directors. In addition to myself, Peter 

Briggs also resigned from the NSC board of directors on June 18, 2020.

The USA requires special approval (75%) by the board of directors for certain matters 

relating to the sale of assets, the restructuring of shares or the granting of security. Special 

approval is not required to seek protection under the CCAA or any restructuring legislation 

generally.

From discussions I have had with NSC’s management, I understand that Rabinov intends 

to appoint two new directors – Katz and Jeremy Katz - to the NSC board with the intention 

of opposing an application for relief under the CCAA. 

L. PROCEDURAL MATTERS

As discussed above, the NSC Companies operate as an integrated enterprise. The 

Calgary-based employees have historically provided general management, accounting, 
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**CURRENT INFORMATION ONLY - NO CANCELLED INFORMATION SHOWN**

Title Issued Under SECTION 98 LAND TITLE ACT

Land Title District NELSON
Land Title Office NELSON

Title Number CA3503445
From Title Number CA3503444

LB483512

Application Received 2013-12-11

Application Entered 2013-12-20

Registered Owner in Fee Simple
Registered Owner/Mailing Address: HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED, INC.NO. BC0727165

SUITE 204 - 1212 1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB
T2G 2H8

Taxation Authority East Kootenay Assessment Area

Description of Land
Parcel Identifier: 029-224-861
Legal Description:

LOT A SECTION 29 TOWNSHIP 28 RANGE 22 WEST OF THE 5TH MERIDIAN
KOOTENAY DISTRICT PLAN EPP30862

Legal Notations
HERETO IS ANNEXED EASEMENT CA7140469 OVER LOT 2 PLAN 4182

Charges, Liens and Interests
Nature: UNDERSURFACE AND OTHER EXC & RES
Registration Number: CA3503443
Registration Date and Time: 2013-12-11 14:48
Registered Owner: THE CROWN IN RIGHT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA
Remarks: PURSUANT TO SECTION 50 LAND ACT

Nature: MORTGAGE
Registration Number: CA5058473
Registration Date and Time: 2016-03-22 15:54
Registered Owner: TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V.

TITLE SEARCH PRINT 2020-05-19, 15:38:26

File Reference: 273913 Requestor: Jessica Villella

Title Number: CA3503445 TITLE SEARCH PRINT Page 1 of 2



Nature: ASSIGNMENT OF RENTS
Registration Number: CA5058474
Registration Date and Time: 2016-03-22 15:54
Registered Owner: TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V.

Nature: STATUTORY RIGHT OF WAY
Registration Number: CA5059767
Registration Date and Time: 2016-03-23 10:53
Registered Owner: BRITISH COLUMBIA HYDRO AND POWER AUTHORITY

Nature: STATUTORY RIGHT OF WAY
Registration Number: CA5059768
Registration Date and Time: 2016-03-23 10:53
Registered Owner: TELUS COMMUNICATIONS INC.

INCORPORATION NO. A0097809

Duplicate Indefeasible Title NONE OUTSTANDING

Transfers NONE

Pending Applications NONE

TITLE SEARCH PRINT 2020-05-19, 15:38:26

File Reference: 273913 Requestor: Jessica Villella

Title Number: CA3503445 TITLE SEARCH PRINT Page 2 of 2
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HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited 
A wholly owned subsidiary of Northern Silica Corporation 

Suite 204, 1212 – 1st Street SE 
Calgary, Alberta, T2G 2H8 

Canada 

 36308509_1 

 

 

January 28, 2020 

To QMetco Limited  
Level 12, 300 Queen Street, Brisbane, Qld, 4000 
Australia 

 

Dear Sirs 

HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited – Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement 
Deed of Amendment  

1 Introduction 

We refer to the HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited – Secured Working Capital Facility 
Agreement dated 13 December 2019 between HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited (Borrower) 
and QMetco Limited (QMetco) (Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement).  The Borrower 
requests the Lender’s consent to amend the Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement on the 
following terms. 

The terms defined and expressions used in the Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement have the 
same meaning and construction when used in this document, unless the contrary intention appears. 

2 Amendments 

On and from the Effective Date (defined below):  

(a) the definition of “Availability Period” in clause 1.1 (“Definitions”) of the Secured Working Capital 
Facility Agreement is amended by deleting the word “31 January 2020” and replacing it with the 
word “29 February 2020”; 

(b) The definition of “Commitment” in clause 1.1 (“Definitions”) of the Secured Working Capital 
Facility Agreement is amended by deleting the word “C$18,000,000” and replacing it with the 
word “C$19,000,000. 

(c) the definition of “Termination Date” in clause 1.1 (“Definitions”) of the Secured Working Capital 
Facility Agreement is amended by deleting the word “31 January 2020” and replacing it with the 
word “29 February 2020”; 

 

3 Conditions Precedent 

The amendments in paragraph 2 do not take effect until the date on which the Borrower provides the 
Lender with a copy of any Authorisation or other document, opinion or assurance which the Lender 
considers to be necessary or desirable (if it has notified the Borrower accordingly) in connection with 
the entry into and performance of the transactions contemplated by this document or which relate to 
the validity and enforceability of any Finance Document (Effective Date). 
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4 Finance Document 

The Lender and the Borrower designate this letter as a “Finance Document” for the purposes of the 
Unsecured Working Capital Facility Agreement. 

5 Conflict 

If there is a conflict between a Finance Document and this letter, the terms of this letter prevail. 

6 Counterparts 
This document may be executed in any number of counterparts and this has the same effect as if the 
signatures on the counterparts were on a single copy of this letter. 

 

EXECUTED as a deed 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party by its respective officer(s) or other representative(s) thereunto duly 
authorized have caused this deed to be duly executed and delivered as of the date stated at the beginning of 
this document. 

HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS 
(MOBERLY) LTD. 
 
      
 By: _______________________ 
      
 Name: 
 Title:     
 I have authority to bind the above. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party by its respective officer(s) or other representative(s) thereunto duly 
authorized have caused this deed to be duly executed and delivered as of the date stated at the beginning of 
this document. 

        QMetco Limited 
 
 
        By: _______________________ 
 
        Name: 
        Title: 
        I have authority to bind the above. 

 

Jerrad Blanchard
Director, CFO

John.Fisher-Stamp
Typewritten text
John Fisher-Stamp

John.Fisher-Stamp
Typewritten text
Chief Financial Officer



HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited 
A wholly owned subsidiary of Northern Silica Corporation 

Suite 204, 1212 – 1st Street SE 
Calgary, Alberta, T2G 2H8 

Canada 
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February 28, 2020 

To QMetco Limited  
Level 12, 300 Queen Street, Brisbane, Qld, 4000 
Australia 

 

Dear Sirs 

HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited – Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement 
Deed of Amendment  

1 Introduction 

We refer to the HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited – Secured Working Capital Facility 
Agreement dated 13 December 2019 and amended 28 January 2020 between HCA Mountain 
Minerals (Moberly) Limited (Borrower) and QMetco Limited (QMetco) (Secured Working Capital 
Facility Agreement).  The Borrower requests the Lender’s consent to amend the Secured Working 
Capital Facility Agreement on the following terms. 

The terms defined and expressions used in the Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement have the 
same meaning and construction when used in this document, unless the contrary intention appears. 

2 Amendments 

On and from the Effective Date (defined below):  

(a) the definition of “Availability Period” in clause 1.1 (“Definitions”) of the Secured Working Capital 
Facility Agreement is amended by deleting the word “29 February 2020” and replacing it with 
the word “31 March 2020”; 

(b) the definition of “Termination Date” in clause 1.1 (“Definitions”) of the Secured Working Capital 
Facility Agreement is amended by deleting the word “29 February 2020” and replacing it with 
the word “31 March 2020”. 

3 Conditions Precedent 

The amendments in paragraph 2 do not take effect until the date on which the Borrower provides the 
Lender with a copy of any Authorisation or other document, opinion or assurance which the Lender 
considers to be necessary or desirable (if it has notified the Borrower accordingly) in connection with 
the entry into and performance of the transactions contemplated by this document or which relate to 
the validity and enforceability of any Finance Document (Effective Date). 

4 Finance Document 

The Lender and the Borrower designate this letter as a “Finance Document” for the purposes of the 
Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement. 
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5 Conflict 

If there is a conflict between a Finance Document and this letter, the terms of this letter prevail. 

6 Counterparts 
This document may be executed in any number of counterparts and this has the same effect as if the 
signatures on the counterparts were on a single copy of this letter. 

 

EXECUTED as a deed 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party by its respective officer(s) or other representative(s) thereunto duly 
authorized have caused this deed to be duly executed and delivered as of the date stated at the beginning of 
this document. 

HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS 
(MOBERLY) LTD. 
 
      
 By: _______________________ 
      
 Name: 
 Title:     
 I have authority to bind the above. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party by its respective officer(s) or other representative(s) thereunto duly 
authorized have caused this deed to be duly executed and delivered as of the date stated at the beginning of 
this document. 

        QMetco Limited 
 
 
        By: _______________________ 
 
        Name: 
        Title: 
        I have authority to bind the above. 

 

Jerrad Blanchard
Director, CFO

John.Fisher-Stamp
Typewritten text
John Fisher-Stamp

John.Fisher-Stamp
Typewritten text
Chief Financial Officer



HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited 
A wholly owned subsidiary of Northern Silica Corporation 

Suite 204, 1212 – 1st Street SE 
Calgary, Alberta, T2G 2H8 

Canada 
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March 31, 2020 

To QMetco Limited  
Level 12, 300 Queen Street, Brisbane, Qld, 4000 
Australia 

 

Dear Sirs 

HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited – Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement 
Deed of Amendment  

1 Introduction 

We refer to the HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited – Secured Working Capital Facility 
Agreement dated 13 December 2019 and amended 28 January 2020 and 28 February 2020 between 
HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited (Borrower) and QMetco Limited (QMetco) (Secured 
Working Capital Facility Agreement).  The Borrower requests the Lender’s consent to amend the 
Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement on the following terms. 

The terms defined and expressions used in the Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement have the 
same meaning and construction when used in this document, unless the contrary intention appears. 

2 Amendments 

On and from the Effective Date (defined below):  

(a) the definition of “Availability Period” in clause 1.1 (“Definitions”) of the Secured Working Capital 
Facility Agreement is amended by deleting the word “31 March 2020” and replacing it with the 
word “30 April 2020”; 

(b) the definition of “Termination Date” in clause 1.1 (“Definitions”) of the Secured Working Capital 
Facility Agreement is amended by deleting the word “31 March 2020” and replacing it with the 
word “30 April 2020”. 

3 Conditions Precedent 

The amendments in paragraph 2 do not take effect until the date on which the Borrower provides the 
Lender with a copy of any Authorisation or other document, opinion or assurance which the Lender 
considers to be necessary or desirable (if it has notified the Borrower accordingly) in connection with 
the entry into and performance of the transactions contemplated by this document or which relate to 
the validity and enforceability of any Finance Document (Effective Date). 

4 Finance Document 

The Lender and the Borrower designate this letter as a “Finance Document” for the purposes of the 
Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement. 
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5 Conflict 

If there is a conflict between a Finance Document and this letter, the terms of this letter prevail. 

6 Counterparts 
This document may be executed in any number of counterparts and this has the same effect as if the 
signatures on the counterparts were on a single copy of this letter. 

 

EXECUTED as a deed 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party by its respective officer(s) or other representative(s) thereunto duly 
authorized have caused this deed to be duly executed and delivered as of the date stated at the beginning of 
this document. 

HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS 
(MOBERLY) LTD. 
 
      
 By: _______________________ 
      
 Name: 
 Title:     
 I have authority to bind the above. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party by its respective officer(s) or other representative(s) thereunto duly 
authorized have caused this deed to be duly executed and delivered as of the date stated at the beginning of 
this document. 

        QMetco Limited 
 
 
        By: _______________________ 
 
        Name: 
        Title: 
        I have authority to bind the above. 

 

Jerrad Blanchard
Chief Financial Officer

John.Fisher-Stamp
Typewritten text
John Fisher-Stamp

John.Fisher-Stamp
Typewritten text
Chief Financial Officer



HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited 
A wholly owned subsidiary of Northern Silica Corporation 
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April 28, 2020 

To QMetco Limited  
Level 12, 300 Queen Street, Brisbane, Qld, 4000 
Australia 

 

Dear Sirs 

HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited – Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement 
Deed of Amendment  

1 Introduction 

We refer to the HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited – Secured Working Capital Facility 
Agreement dated 13 December 2019, 28 January 2020, 28 February 2020 and 31 March 2020 
between HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited (Borrower) and QMetco Limited (QMetco) 
(Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement).  The Borrower requests the Lender’s consent to 
amend the Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement on the following terms. 

The terms defined and expressions used in the Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement have the 
same meaning and construction when used in this document, unless the contrary intention appears. 

2 Amendments 

On and from the Effective Date (defined below):  

(a) the definition of “Availability Period” in clause 1.1 (“Definitions”) of the Secured Working Capital 
Facility Agreement is amended by deleting the word “30 April 2020” and replacing it with the 
word “31 May 2020”; 

(b) The definition of “Commitment” in clause 1.1 (“Definitions”) of the Secured Working Capital 
Facility Agreement is amended by deleting the word “C$19,000,000” and replacing it with the 
word “C$20,000,000 

(c) the definition of “Termination Date” in clause 1.1 (“Definitions”) of the Secured Working Capital 
Facility Agreement is amended by deleting the word “30 April 2020” and replacing it with the 
word “31 May 2020”. 

3 Conditions Precedent 

The amendments in paragraph 2 do not take effect until the date on which the Borrower provides the 
Lender with a copy of any Authorisation or other document, opinion or assurance which the Lender 
considers to be necessary or desirable (if it has notified the Borrower accordingly) in connection with 
the entry into and performance of the transactions contemplated by this document or which relate to 
the validity and enforceability of any Finance Document (Effective Date). 

4 Finance Document 
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The Lender and the Borrower designate this letter as a “Finance Document” for the purposes of the 
Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement. 

5 Conflict 

If there is a conflict between a Finance Document and this letter, the terms of this letter prevail. 

6 Counterparts 
This document may be executed in any number of counterparts and this has the same effect as if the 
signatures on the counterparts were on a single copy of this letter. 

 

EXECUTED as a deed 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party by its respective officer(s) or other representative(s) thereunto duly 
authorized have caused this deed to be duly executed and delivered as of the date stated at the beginning of 
this document. 

HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS 
(MOBERLY) LTD. 
 
      
 By: _______________________ 
      
 Name: 
 Title:     
 I have authority to bind the above. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party by its respective officer(s) or other representative(s) thereunto duly 
authorized have caused this deed to be duly executed and delivered as of the date stated at the beginning of 
this document. 

        QMetco Limited 
 
 
        By: _______________________ 
 
        Name: 
        Title: 
        I have authority to bind the above. 

 

John.Fisher-Stamp
Typewritten text
John Fisher-Stamp

John.Fisher-Stamp
Typewritten text
Chief Executive Officer 
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May 26, 2020 

To QMetco Limited  
Level 12, 300 Queen Street, Brisbane, Qld, 4000 
Australia 

 

Dear Sirs 

HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited – Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement 
Deed of Amendment  

1 Introduction 

We refer to the HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited – Secured Working Capital Facility 
Agreement dated 13 December 2019, 28 January 2020, 28 February 2020, 31 March 2020 and April 
28 2020 between HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited (Borrower) and QMetco Limited 
(QMetco) (Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement).  The Borrower requests the Lender’s 
consent to amend the Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement on the following terms. 

The terms defined and expressions used in the Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement have the 
same meaning and construction when used in this document, unless the contrary intention appears. 

2 Amendments 

On and from the Effective Date (defined below):  

(a) the definition of “Availability Period” in clause 1.1 (“Definitions”) of the Secured Working Capital 
Facility Agreement is amended by deleting the word “31 May 2020” and replacing it with the 
word “30 Jun 2020”; 

(b) the definition of “Termination Date” in clause 1.1 (“Definitions”) of the Secured Working Capital 
Facility Agreement is amended by deleting the word “31 May 2020” and replacing it with the 
word “30 Jun 2020”. 

3 Conditions Precedent 

The amendments in paragraph 2 do not take effect until the date on which the Borrower provides the 
Lender with a copy of any Authorisation or other document, opinion or assurance which the Lender 
considers to be necessary or desirable (if it has notified the Borrower accordingly) in connection with 
the entry into and performance of the transactions contemplated by this document or which relate to 
the validity and enforceability of any Finance Document (Effective Date). 

4 Finance Document 

The Lender and the Borrower designate this letter as a “Finance Document” for the purposes of the 
Secured Working Capital Facility Agreement. 
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5 Conflict 

If there is a conflict between a Finance Document and this letter, the terms of this letter prevail. 

6 Counterparts 
This document may be executed in any number of counterparts and this has the same effect as if the 
signatures on the counterparts were on a single copy of this letter. 

 

EXECUTED as a deed 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party by its respective officer(s) or other representative(s) thereunto duly 
authorized have caused this deed to be duly executed and delivered as of the date stated at the beginning of 
this document. 

HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS 
(MOBERLY) LTD. 
 
      
 By: _______________________ 
      
 Name: 
 Title:     
 I have authority to bind the above. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party by its respective officer(s) or other representative(s) thereunto duly 
authorized have caused this deed to be duly executed and delivered as of the date stated at the beginning of 
this document. 

        QMetco Limited 
 
 
        By: _______________________ 
 
        Name: 
        Title: 
        I have authority to bind the above. 

 

Jerrad Blanchard
Director

John.Fisher-Stamp
Typewritten text
John Fisher-Stamp

John.Fisher-Stamp
Typewritten text
Chief Executive Officer
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June 17, 2020 

By Email  

McMillan LLP 
TD Canada Trust Tower, Suite 1700 
421 7th Avenue SW 
Calgary, AB T2P 4K9 

Attention: Adam Maerov 
adam.maerov@mcmillan.ca 
 

Dear Sir: 

Re: HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited (the “Borrower”) credit facilities with 
Taurus Resources No. 2 B.V. (“Taurus”) and QMetco Limited (“QMetco” and, 
together with Taurus, the “Lenders”) 

We are the solicitors for the Lenders with respect to: 

1. the US$25,000,000 secured facility agreement between Taurus, as lender, the 
Borrower, as borrower, and Northern Silica Corporation, Heemskirk Mining Pty 
Limited, Heemskirk Canada Limited and Heemskirk Canada Holdings Limited as 
guarantors (together, the “Guarantors”), dated July 15, 2015, as novated and 
amended on February 10, 2016 and further amended and acceded by an 
amending and accession deed dated December 21, 2018 (as amended, restated, 
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Taurus Facility”); and 

2. the secured working capital facility agreement between QMetco, as lender, the 
Borrower, as borrower, and the Guarantors, as guarantors, dated December 6, 
2019 (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to 
time, the “QMetco Facility”). 

We are writing to you in your capacity as counsel to the Borrower and the Guarantors. 

 

  

mailto:adam.maerov@mcmillan.ca
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We are advised by the Lenders that, as at June 15, 2020, the Borrower is indebted to the Lenders 
as follows (the “Indebtedness”): 

1. in respect of the Taurus Facility, in the principal amount of US$25,000,000 plus 
approximately US$14,109,485 of capitalized interest and fees; and 

2. in respect of the QMetco Facility, in the principal amount of CAD$19,600,000 plus 
approximately CAD$1,900,000 of capitalized interest.  

As the Indebtedness is guaranteed by the Guarantors, the Lenders may look to the Guarantors 
for the immediate repayment of the Indebtedness upon the maturity of the Taurus Facility and 
QMetco Facility. 

We are advised by the Lenders that certain waivers have been executed under the Taurus Facility 
and QMetco Facility, among other things, extending the maturity dates of such facilities to 
June 30, 2020.  

On behalf of the Lenders, we hereby confirm that the Lenders are not prepared to provide any 
further funding to the Borrower under either of the Taurus Facility or the QMetco Facility. Indeed, 
pursuant to the terms of such facilities, the Borrower does not have sufficient time before June 
30, 2020 to deliver a utilization request in relation to any further advances in any event, and the 
Lenders would not agree to waive the required time periods between the Borrower’s delivery of a 
utilization request and the utilization date. We also advise that the Lenders will not agree to any 
further extensions of the maturity dates of the Taurus Facility or the QMetco Facility beyond the 
previously agreed June 30, 2020 date.  

In these circumstances, the Lenders request that the Borrower and the Guarantors provide 
responses to the following questions: 

1. Are the Borrower and each Guarantor insolvent? 

2. Are the Borrower and each Guarantor able to repay their obligations as they 
generally become due? 

3. Does the Borrower and each Guarantor intend to repay the Indebtedness in full by 
no later than June 30, 2020, and have the financial ability to do so? If the answer 
to both of these questions is “yes”, what are the Borrower’s expected sources of 
financing to repay the Indebtedness? 

We trust that the above is clear. Please let us know if you have any questions. We look forward 
to receipt of your response. 
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Yours truly, 
Cassels Brock & Blackwell LLP 
 
 
 
Jeffrey Oliver 
Partner 
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Reply to the Attention of:  Preet Saini 

Direct Line: 403.531.4716 

Direct Fax:  Email Address: preet.saini@mcmillan.ca 

Our File No.: 273913 

Date: June 18, 2020 

EMAIL 

 

Jeffrey Oliver 

Partner 

Cassels Brock & Blackwell LLP 

Suite 3810, Bankers Hall West, 888 3 St SW, 

Calgary, AB T2P 5C5 

Dear Sir, 

Re: HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited (the “Borrower”) credit 

facilities with Taurus Resources No. 2 B.V. (“Taurus”) and QMetco 

Limited (“QMetco” and, together with Taurus, the “Lenders”) and   

Northern Silica Corporation, Heemskirk Mining Pty Limited, 

Heemskirk Canada Limited and Heemskirk Canada Holdings Limited 

as guarantors (together, the “Guarantors”) 

As you are aware, we act as counsel for the Borrower and each Guarantor. We write in 

response to your letter dated June 17, 2020.  

As you are aware, our clients were recently forced to suspend their silica mining operations 

for a number of reasons, including the decline in the demand for frac sand in North America 

and the resulting decline in pricing.  

As a result of these and other challenges, without additional financial support from their 

lenders, the Borrower and Guarantors are or will soon be unable to repay their obligations 

as they generally become due. For this reason, and because the realizable value of our 

clients’ assets does not appear to be sufficient to enable payment of all of their obligations 

as they come due, it appears that our clients are insolvent. 

With respect to the Indebtedness referred to in your letter, our clients are not currently in a 

position to repay the Indebtedness nor do they expect to be in a position to do so by June 

30, 2020.  
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Please do not hesitate to contact us if you wish to discuss this matter. 

Yours truly, 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Preet Saini 

 

cc: Adam Maerov and Kourtney Rylands 

 

 



































GENERAL SECURITY AGREEMENT
Non-Consumer

TO:

BRANCH:

Alberta Treasury Branches
("ATB")

6794 - 50 AVENUE, RED DEER, ALBERTA, T4N 4El

FROM: CUSTOM BULK SERVICES INC. (the "Debtor")

DEFINITIONS

All capitalized terms used in this Agreement and in any schedules attached hereto shall, except where defined herein, be
interpreted pursuant to their respective meanings when used in the Personal Property Security Act (the "PPSA") of the
province or territory referred to in the "Governing Law" section of this Agreement (the "Province") and any regulations
issued thereunder.

SECURITY INTEREST AND CHARGE

(a) As general and cominuing collateral security for the payment and performance of all debts, liabilities and obligations
of the Debtor to ATB howsoever arising, both present and future, absolute and contingent, direct and indirect,
matured or not, and whether the Debtor be bound alone or jointly or severally with others (the "Indebtedness"), the
Debtor hereby assigns and grants a mortgage, pledge, charge and security interest (which, in the case of any real
property and any other Collateral (as hereinafter defined) not subject to the PPSA, shall be a mortgage as and by
way of a floating charge) to and in favour of ATB in all property, assets and undertaking of the Debtor referred to in
Schedule "A" (including all such property, assets and undertaking owned or leased by or licensed to the Debtor and
in which the Debtor at any time has an interest or to which the Debtor is or at any time may become entitled), and in
all Proceeds and renewals thereof, Accessions thereto and substitutions therefor (herein collectively called the
"Collateral ").

(b) The assignments, mortgages, pledges, charges, security interests and floating charges (if applicable) granted
hereunder are hereinafter collectively called the "Security Interests". The Debtor warrants and acknowledges to and
in favour of ATB that:

(i) the Debtor has rights in all existing Collateral and the parties intend the Security Interest hereby created in
any of the Debtors existing property which is subject to the PPSA to attach upon execution and delivery
hereof;

(c)

(ii) the parties intend the Security Interest created in any of the Debtor’s after-acquired property which is
subject to the PPSA to attach at the same time as it acquires rights in the after-acquired property; and

(iii)    value has been given.

For greater certainty, where the Collateral includes all of the Debtor’s present and after-acquired Personal Property,
and any of such Collateral is or becomes located on lands or premises leased or subleased by the Debtor, the
Collateral includes the Debtor’s interest as tenant or lessee under any and all of such leases and subleases of the
lands or premises.

(d) The last day of any term reserved by any lease or agreement to lease is excepted out of the Security Imerest and does
not form part of the Collateral, but the Debtor shall stand possessed of such last day in trust to assign the same to
any person acquiring such term.
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(e) If the grant of the Security Interest in respect of any contract, lease, agreement to lease, license, permit, approval or
intellectual property right would result in the termination or breach of such contract, lease, agreement to lease,
license, permit, approval or intellectual property right, then the applicable contract, lease, agreement to lease,
license, permit, approval or intellectual property right will not be subject to the Security Interest but will be held in
trust by the Debtor for the benefit of ATB and, on exercise by ATB of any of its rights under this Agreement
following Default, assigned by the Debtor as directed by ATB,

CONTINUOUS INTEREST

The Security Interest hereby created is a continuing charge, and shall secure all Indebtedness notwithstanding that the
Indebtedness may be fluctuating and even may from time to time and at any time be reduced to a nil balance, and
notwithstanding that monies advanced may be repaid and future advances may be made to or to the order of the Debtor or in
respect of which the Debtor is liable. The Security Interest maintains priority for all Indebtedness secured hereby whether
incurred or arising before or after the creation or registration of any Encumbrance (as hereinafter defined) and
notwithstanding that at any time there may not be any Indebtedness then outstanding.

AUTHORIZED DEALING WITH COLLATERAL

Until Default (as hereinafter defined), or until ATB provides written :notice to the contrary to the Debtor, the Debtor may deal
with the Collateral in the ordinary course of the Debtor’s business in any manner not inconsistent with the provisions of this
Agreement, provided that the Debtor shall not, without the prior written consent of ATB:

(a) sell, exchange, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of the Collateral other than inyentory being sold, leased or
disposed of for fair market value in the ordinary course of the Debtor’s business as it is presently conducted and for
the purpose of carrying on that business, or

(b) create, incur or permit to exist any security interest, mortgage, lien, claim, charge or other encumbrance (herein
collectively called the "Encumbrances" and individually, an "Encumbrance") upon any of the Collateral whether
it would rank or purport to rank in priority to, equally with or behind the Security Interest granted under this
Agreement, except operating leases incurred in the ordinary course of the Debtor’s business.

o

Nothing in this Agreement or otherwise creates a postponement or subordination of any priority of ATB in any of the
Collateral in favour of any present or future holder of an Encumbrance (including without limitation, a holder of a lease) in
any of the Collateral.

If the Collateral comprises any Investment Property, Chattel Paper, Instrument, Money or Document of Title, the Debtor will,
forthwith upon request, deliver the same to ATB and will allow ATB to retain possession of the same. If the Collateral
comprises any Investment Property that is a Certificated Security, the Debtor will, upon request, deliver to ATB all Security
Certificates relating to such Certificated Security endorsed in blank. If the Collateral comprises any Investment Property that
is an Uncertificated Security or a Security Entitlement, the Debtor, on request by ATB, will, or will cause the issuer of such
Investment Property to, or will cause the Securities Intermediary that holds such Investment Property to, take all steps as are
necessary to give exclusive control (as that term is used in the PPSA) over such Investment Property to ATB on terms and
conditions satisfactory to ATB.

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE DEBTOR

The Debtor hereby represents and warrants to ATB that:

(a) the Collateral is owned by the Debtor free of all Encumbrmaces, save for those Encumbrances agreed to in writing
between ATB and the Debtor and those shown on Schedule "B" hereto;

(b) each Account, Chattel Paper and Instrument constituting Collateral is enforceable in accordance with its terms
against the party obligated to pay the same (the "Account Debtor") and the amount represented by the Debtor to
ATB from time to time as owing by each Account Debtor will be the correct amount actually and unconditionally
owing from such Account Debtor, except for normal cash discounts where applicable;
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(d)

(e)

as at the date hereof, the description of the Collateral in Schedule "A" hereto is complete and accurate, and, if so
requested by ATB, all serial numbers and vehicle identification numbers affixed to or ascribed to any of the
Collateral have been provided to ATB;
the Debtor has full power and authority to conduct its business and own its properties in all jurisdictions in which
the Debtor carries on business, except to the extent any failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to have a
material adverse effect on its business, operations or financial condition or impair its ability to perform its
obligations hereunder, and has full power and authority to grant to ATB the Security Interest created under this
Agreement and to execute, deliver and perform all of its obligations under this Agreement;

this Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Debtor and constitutes a legal, valid and binding
obligation of the Debtor, subject only that such enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency and any
other similar laws of general application affecting creditors’ rights generally and by rules of equity limiting
enforceability by specific performance;

(0

(g)

there is no provision in any agreement to which the Debtor is a party, nor is there any statute, rule or regulation, or
to the knowledge of the Debtor any judgment, decree or order of any court, binding on the Debtor which would be
contravened by the execution and delivery of this Agreement;

there is no litigation, proceeding or dispute pending, or to the knowledge of the Debtor threatened, against or
affecting the Debtor or the Collateral, the adverse determination of which might materially and adversely affect the
Debtor’s business, financial condition or operations or impair the Debtor’s ability to perform its obligations
hereunder or affect the priority of the Security Interest created hereunder or affect the rights and remedies of ATB
hereunder;

(h) the name of the Debtor is accurately and fully set out below, and the Debtor is not nor has it been known by any
other name other than as set out below;

(i) as at the date hereof, the Collateral is located in the Province and such other jurisdictions indicated on Schedule "A"
hereto. With respect to Goods (including Inventory) constituting Collateral, the locations specified in Schedule "A"
are accurate and complete save for Goods in transit to such locations and Inventory on lease or consignment; and all
buildings, fixtures or Goods about to become fixtures and all crops and all oil, gas or other minerals to be extracted
and all timber to be cut which forms part of the Collateral will be situate at one of such locations. For certainty, the
Security Interests attach to all Collateral, wherever located, whether or not in jurisdictions indicated on Schedule
"A" hereto;

(J)

(k)

the Collateral does not consist of Consumer Goods;

the Collateral, except as previously communicated to ATB in writing, does not consist of Goods that are of a kind
that are normally used in more than one jurisdiction; and

(l) the Debtor’s place of business, or if more than one place of business, the Debtor’s chief executive office, is located in
the Province (unless otherwise advised to ATB in writing).

6. COVENANTS OF THE DEBTOR

The Debtor hereby covenants with ATB that:

(a) the Debtor owns and will maintain the Collateral free of Encumbrances, except those agreed to in writing between
ATB and the Debtor and those described in Schedule "B" hereto, or hereafter approved in writing by ATB prior to
their creation or assumption, and will defend its title ~o the Collateral for the benefit of ATB against the claims and
demands of all persons;

(b) the Debtor will maintain the Collateral in good condition and repair and will not allow the value of the Collateral to
be materially impaired and will permit ATB or such person as ATB may from time to time appoint to enter into any
premises during business hours and on reasonable prior notice (or at such other time as may be reasonably requested
by ATB or such person) where the Collateral may be kept to view its condition;

(c) the Debtor will conduct its business in a proper and business-like manner and will keep proper books of account and
records of its business, and upon request will furnish access to its books and records at all reasonable times, and will
give to ATB any information which it may reasonably require relating to the Debtor’s business;
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(d)

(e)

(0

(g)

(h)

(i)

(J)

the Debtor will punctually pay all rents, taxes, rates and assessments lawfully assessed or imposed upon any
property or income of the Debtor and will punctually pay all debts and obligations to labourers, workers, employees,
contractors, subcontractors, suppliers of materials and other creditors which, when unpaid, might under applicable
federal, provincial, state or other laws have priority over the Security Interest granted by this Agreement;

the Debtor will punctually make all payments and perform all of its obligations under any contracts under which any
material Collateral is held or to which it is subject;

the Debtor will immediately give notice to ATB of:

(i) any change in the location of the Collateral from that specified in Section 5(i) hereof;

the details of any material acquisition or disposition of Collateral (whether authorized by ATB or not),
including any additions to or deletions from the listing of serial numbers and vehicle identification numbers
specified in Schedule "A" hereto;

(iii) any material loss of or damage to Collateral;

(iv) the details of any claims or litigation that could adversely affect the Debtor or the Collateral in any material
way;

(v) any change of its name or of any trade or business name used by it;

(vi) any change of its place of business, or if it has more than one place of business, of its chief executive
office; and

(vii)    any merger or amalgamation of the Debtor with any person;

and the Debtor agrees not to effect or permit any of the changes referred to in clauses (i), (ii), (v), (vi) or (vii) above
unless all filings have been made and all other actions have been taken that are required or desirable (as determined
by ATB) in order for ATB to continue to have a valid and perfected Security Interest in respect of the Collateral at
all times following such change;

the Debtor will insure and keep insured the Collateral (or, in the case of any real property, the buildings located on
and constituting part of the Collateral) against loss or damage by fire, lightning, explosion, smoke, impact by aircraft
or land vehicle, riot, windstorm, hail and other insurable hazards to the extent of its full insurable value, and will
maintain all such other insurance as ATB may reasonably require. The loss under the po|icies of insurance will be
made payable to ATB as its interest may appear and will be written by an insurance company approved by ATB on
terms reasonably satisfactory to ATB, and the Debtor will provide ATB with copies of the same. The Debtor will
pay all premiums and other sums of money necessary for such purposes as they become due and will deliver to ATB
proof of said payment, and will not allow anything to be done by which the policies may become vitiated. Upon the
happening of any loss or damage the Debtor will furnish at its expense all necessary proofs and will do all necessary
acts to enable ATB to obtain payment of the insurance monies;

the Debtor will observe the requirements of any regulatory or governmental authority with respect to the Collateral,
except to the extent any failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on its
business, operations or financial condition or affect the priority of the Security Interest created hereunder or affect
the rights and remedies of ATB hereunder;

the Debtor will not remove any of the Collateral from any location specified in Section 5(i) hereof without the prior
written consent of ATB;

ATB may pay or satisfy any Encumbrance created in respect of any Collateral, or any sum necessary to be paid to
clear title to such Collateral, and the Debtor agrees to repay the same on demand, plus interest thereon at a rate equal
to the highest rate of interest payable by the Debtor on any portion of the Indebtedness;
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J

(k)

(1)

ATB and the Debtor may from time to time agree in writing as to affirmative and negative covenants and restrictions
to be performed and observed by the Debtor in respect of provision of financial information, payment of dividends,
capital expenditures, incurring of additional obligations, reduction of capital, distribution of assets, amalgamation,
repayment of loans, lending of money, sale and other disposition of assets and/or such other matters as ATB and the
Debtor may think fit, and the Debtor agrees to pertbrm and observe such affirmative and negative covenants and
restrictions to the same extent and effect as if the same were fully set forth in this Agreement; and

the Debtor will not permit the Collateral constituting personal property to become affixed to real or other personal
property (unless the Debtor owns such real or other personal property, and ATB has a Security Interest therein
having the same priority as in respect of the Collateral becoming so affixed) without the prior consent of ATB in
writing, and will obtain and deliver to ATB such waivers regarding the Collateral as ATB may reasonably request
from any owner, landlord or mortgagee of the premises where the Collateral is or may be located.

DEFAULT

The happening of any of the following shall constitute default (a "Default") under this Agreement:

(a) the Debtor fails to pay, when due, the Indebtedness or any part thereof;

(b)

(c)

the Debtor fails, when due, to perform any obligation (other than payment of the Indebtedness or any part thereof) to
ATB, and such failure, if capable of being cured, is not cured within 5 days of the date the Debtor first knew or
should have known of such failure;

(d)

the Debtor fails when due to perform any obligation to any other person, and such failure, if capable of being cured,
is not cured within 7 days of the date the Debtor first knew or should have known of such failure;

(e)

any representation or warranty made in this Agreement or any other document or report furnished to ATB in respect
of the Debtor or the Collateral is false or misleading in any material respect;

(f)

(g)

the Debtor ceases or demonstrates an intention to cease to carry on business or disposes or purports to dispose of all
or a substantial part of its assets;

any of the licenses, permits or approvals granted by any government or any government authority and material to the
business of the Debtor is withdrawn, cancelled or significantly altered;

(h)

(i)

an order is made or a resolution is passed for winding up the Debtor, or a petition is filed for the winding up,
dissolution, liquidation or amalgamation of the Debtor or any arrangement or composition of its debts;

the Debtor becomes insolvent or makes an assignment or proposal or files a notice of intention to make a proposal
for the benefit of its creditors, or a bankruptcy petition or receiving order is filed or made against the Debtor, or a
Receiver (as hereinafter defined), trustee, custodian or other similar official of the Debtor or any part of its property
is appointed, or the Debtor commits or demonstrates an intention to commit any act of bankruptcy, or the Debtor
otherwise becomes subject to the provisions of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada), the Companies’
Creditors Arrangements Act (Canada) or any other act for the benefit of its creditors;

(J)

(k)

any execution, sequestration, extent or distress or any other like process is levied or enforced against any property of
the Debtor, or a secured party takes possession of any of the Debtor’s property;

any material adverse change occurs in the financial position of the Debtor; or

ATB considers that it is insecure, or that the prospect of payment or performance by the Debtor of the Indebtedness
is or is about to be impaired, or that the Collateral is or is about to be placed in jeopardy.

8. REMEDIES

On Default:
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(a) ATB may seize or otherwise take possession of the Collateral or any part thereof and sell the same by public or
private sale at such price and upon such terms as ATB in its sole discretion may determine, and the proceeds of such
sale less all costs and expenses of ATB (including costs as between a solicitor and its own client on a full indemnity
basis) shall be applied on the Indebtedness and the surplus, if any, shall be disposed of according to law;

(b) ATB may apply to a court of competent jurisdiction for the sale or foreclosure of any or all of the Collateral;

(c) ATB may enforce this Agreement by any method provided for in this Agreement, under the PPSA or under any
other applicable statute or otherwise as permitted by law, and may dispose of the Collateral by any method permitted
by law, including disposal by lease or deferred payment;

(d) ATB may apply to a court for the appointment of a Receiver (as hereinafter defined), or may appoint by instrument
any person or persons, to be a Receiver of any Collateral, and may remove any person so appointed and appoint
another in his stead. The term "Receiver" as used in this Agreement includes a receiver, a manager and a receiver-
manager;

(e) any Receiver will have the power:

(i) to take possession of any or all of the Collateral and for that purpose to take any proceedings, in the name
of the Debtor or otherwise;

(ii) to carry on or concur in carrying on the business of the Debtor and enter on, occupy and use (without
charge by the Debtor) any of the premises, buildings, plant and undertaking of, or occupied or used by, the
Debtor;

(iii) to sell or lease any Collateral;

(iv) to make any arrangement or compromise which he may think expedient in the interest of ATB;

(v) to pay all liabilities and expenses connected with the Collateral, including the cost of insurance and
payment of taxes or other charges incurred in obtaining, maintaining possession of and preserving the
Collateral, and the same shall be added to the Indebtedness and secured by the Collateral;

(vi) to hold as additional security any increase or profits resulting from the Collateral;

(vii) to exercise all rights that ATB has under this Agreement or otherwise at law;

(viii) with the consent of ATB in writing, to borrow money for the purpose of carrying on the business of the
Debtor or for the maintenance of the Collateral or any part thereof or for other purposes approved by ATB,
and any amount so borrowed together with interest thereon shall form a charge upon the Collateral in
priority to the Security Interest created by this Agreement;

(ix) to enter into and to occupy any premises in which the Debtor has any interest; and

(x) to exemise any of the powers and rights of an Entitlement Holder in respect of any Security Entitlement of
the Debtor;

(f) the Debtor hereby appoints each Receiver appointed by ATB to be its attorney to effect the sale or lease of any
Collateral and any deed, lease, agreement or other document signed by a Receiver under his seal pursuant hereto
will have the same effect as if it were under the seal of the Debtor;

(g) any Receiver will be deemed (for purposes relating to responsibility for the Receiver’s acts or omissions) to be the
agent of the Debtor and not of ATB, and the Debtor will be solely responsible for his acts or defaults and for his
remuneration and expenses, and ATB will not be in any way responsible for any misconduct or negligence on the
part of any Receiver;

(h) neither ATB nor any civil enforcement agent, sheriff, Receiver or person having similar responsibilities will be
required to take any steps to preserve any rights against other parties pursuant to any Collateral, including without
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10.

11.

(i)

limitation, any Investment Property, Chattel Paper or Instrument constituting the Collateral or any part of it.
Furthermore, ATB shall have no obligation to take any steps to preserve prior encumbrances on any Collateral
whether or not in ATB’s possession and shall not be liable or accountable for failure to do so;
neither ATB nor any civil enforcement agent, sheriff, Receiver or person having similar responsibilities is required
to keep Collateral identifiable; and

ATB may use the Collateral in any manner as it in its sole discretion deems advisable.

ATB may exercise any or all of the foregoing rights and remedies (or any other rights and remedies available to ATB)
without demand of performance or other demand, presentment, protest, advertisement or notice of any kind (except as
required by applicable law) to or on the Debtor or any other person, and the Debtor by this Agreement waives each such
demand, presentment, protest, advertisement and notice to the extent permitted by applicable law. None of the rights and
remedies contained herein or otherwise available to ATB will be exclusive of or dependent on or merge in any other right or
remedy, and one or more of such rights and remedies may be exercised independently or in combination from time to time.

COLLECTION OF DEBTS

Before or after Default, ATB may notify all or any Account Debtors of the Security Interest and may also direct such
Account Debtors to make all payments on any Collateral to ATB. The Debtor acknowledges that any payments on or other
proceeds of Collateral received by the Debtor from Account Debtors after Default under this Agreement and whether before
or after notification of this Security Interest to Account Debtors shall be received and held by the Debtor in trust for ATB and
shall be turned over to ATB on request. The Debtor shall furnish ATB with all information which may assist in the collection
of all Accounts and any other monies or debts due to the Debtor.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

If the Collateral at any time includes Investment Property, the Debtor irrevocably authorizes and appoints ATB as its attorney
and agent to transfer the same or any part thereof into its own name or that of its nominee(s) so that ATB or its nominee(s)
may appear on record as the sole owner thereof; provided that, until Default, ATB shall deliver promptly to the Debtor all
notices or other communications received by it or its nominee(s) as such registered owner and, upon demand and receipt of
payment of any necessary expenses thereof, shall issue to the Debtor or its order a proxy to vote and take all action with
respect to such Investment Property. After Default, the Debtor waives all rights to receive any notices or communications
received by ATB or its nominee(s) as such registered owner and agrees that no proxy issued by ATB to the Debtor or to its
order as aforesaid shall thereafter be effective. These powers are coupled with an interest and are irrevocable until this
Agreement is terminated and the Security Interests created by this Agreement are released.

COLLATERAL IN POSSESSION OF ATB

The Debtor agrees with ATB that, with respect to any Collateral held in the possession of ATB pursuant to this Agreement
("Retained Collateral"):

(a) ATB’s responsibility with regard to the Retained Collateral shall be limited to exercising the same degree of care
which it gives to similar property held by ATB at the branch where the Retained Collateral is held. ATB shall not in
any event be obligated to protect the Retained Collateral from depreciating or becoming worthless, or to present,
protest, collect, enforce or realize on any of the Retained Collateral;

(b) ATB shall not be obliged to collect or see to the payment of revenue, income, interest or dividends upon any of the
Retained Collateral, but all such revenue, income, interest or dividends, if any, when received by the Debtor, shall
immediately be paid to ATB. ATB, in its sole discretion, may hold such monies as Collateral or appropriate it to any
portion of the Indebtedness;

(c) the Debtor irrevocably appoints ATB as its attorney and agent, with full powers of substitution, to sell, transfer,
surrender, redeem, endorse or otherwise deal with any of the Retained Collateral as ATB, in its sole discretion, may
see fit. These powers are coupled with an interest and are irrevocable until this Agreement is terminated and the
Security Interests created by this Agreement are released; and

(d) ATB shall have all rights and powers, but shall not be required to exercise any right or benefit which the holder or
owner of the Retained Collateral may at any time have in connection with the Retained Collateral.
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12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

ACCELERATION

In the event of Default, ATB, in its sole discretion, may without demand or notice of any kind, declare all or any of the
Indebtedness which is not by its terms payable on demand, to be immediately due and payable. The provisions of this section
are not intended in any way to affect any rights of ATB with respect to any Indebtedness which may now or hereafter be
payable on demand.

NOTICE

Any notice or demand required or permitted to be made or given by ATB to the Debtor may be validly served by delivering
the same or by mailing the same prepaid registered mail, addressed to the Debtor at the last known address of the Debtor or
of any officer or director thereof, as shown on the records of ATB, and in the case of mailing, such notice or demand shall be
deemed to have been received by the Debtor on the third business day following the date of mailing.

COSTS AND EXPENSES

The Debtor agrees to pay all reasonable costs, charges and expenses incurred by ATB or any Receiver appointed by it
(including without restricting the generality of the foregoing, legal costs as between a solicitor and his own client on a full
indemnity basis and also an allowance for the time, work and expenses of ATB or any agent, solicitor, or servant of ATB for
any purpose herein provided at such rates as ATB may establish in its sole discretion from time to time) in preparing,
registering or enforcing this Agreement, taking custody of, preserving, maintaining, repairing, processing, preparing for
disposing of the Collateral and in enforcing or collecting the Indebtedness, and all such costs, charges and expenses shall be a
first charge on the proceeds of realization, collection or disposition of the Collateral and shall be secured hereby.

REAL PROPERTY (ONLY APPLICABLE IF OPTION (b) IN SCHEDULE A HAS BEEN SELECTED OR
DEEMED TO HAVE BEEN SELECTED)

(a) For all purposes, including for the purposes of any application to register a crystallized floating charge under the
Land Title Act (British Columbia) against any real property, the floating charge created by this Agreement shall be
crystallized and become a fixed charge against all of the property which is then subject to the floating charge upon
the earliest of:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

any one of the events described in Section 7 hereof occurring;
¯

a declaration by ATB pursuant to Section 12 or a demand for payment otherwise being made by ATB;

ATB taking any action to appoint a Receiver or to enforce its Security Interest or to realize upon all or any
part of the Collateral; or

ATB taking any action to register the floating charge granted hereunder or any caveat, security notice or
other instrument in respect thereof against all or any part of the property which was subject to the floating
charge at any real property registry or other similar office.

(b) In accordance with the Property Law Act (British Columbia), the doctrine of consolidation applies to this
Agreement.

REGISTRATION

The Debtor will ensure that this Agreement and all such supplementary and corrective instruments and any additional
mortgage and security documents, and all documents, caveats, cautions, security notices and financing statements in respect
thereof, are promptly filed and refiled, registered and re-registered and deposited and re-deposited, in such manner, in such
offices and places, and at such times and as often as may be required by applicable law or as may be necessary or desirable to
perfect and preserve the Security Interests as a first priority mortgage, charge and security interest and the rights conferred or
intended to be conferred upon ATB by the Security Interests and will cause to be furnished promptly to ATB evidence
satisfactory to ATB of such filing, registering and depositing.
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17. MISCELLANEOUS

(a)

(b)

(c)

Without limiting any other right of ATB, whenever the debts and liabilities of the Debtor to ATB are immediately
due and payable, or ATB has the right to declare the debts and liabilities to be immediately due and payable,
whether or not it has so declared, ATB may, in its sole discretion, set-off against the debts and liabilities any and all
monies then owed to the Debtor by ATB in any capacity, whether due or not due, and ATB shall be deemed to have
exercised such right of set-off immediately at the time of making its decision to do so even though any charge
therefor is made or entered on ATB’s records subsequent thereto.

ATB may grant extensions of time and other indulgences, take and give up security, accept compositions,
compound, compromise, settle, grant releases and discharges and otherwise deal with the Debtor, sureties and others
and with Collateral and other security as ATB may see fit without prejudice to the liability of the Debtor or to ATB’s
right to hold and realize the Security Interest. ATB may demand, collect and sue on the Collateral in either the
Debtor’s or ATB’s name, at ATB’s option, and may endorse the Debtor’s name on any and all cheques, commercial
paper and any other instruments pertaining to or constituting Collateral and for this purpose, the Debtor irrevocably
authorizes and appoints ATB as its attorney and agent, with full power of substitution. These powers are coupled
with an interest and are irrevocable until this Agreement is terminated and the Security Interests created by this
Agreement are released.

Upon the Debtor’s failure to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement, ATB may, but shall not be
required to, perform any such obligations, and the Debtor will pay to ATB, upon demand, an amount equal to the
expense incurred by ATB in so doing with interest thereon from the date such expense is incurred at a rate equal to
the highest rate of interest payable by the Debtor on any portion of the Indebtedness.

(d)

(e)

This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective heirs,
executors, administrators, successors and assigns. The Debtor may not assign this Agreement, or any of its rights or
obligations under this Agreement, without the prior written consent of ATB. In any action brought by an assignee of
this Agreement or the Security Interest created hermlnder or any part thereof, the Debtor shall not assert against the
assignee any claim or defense which the Debtor now has or hereafter may have against ATB.

If more than one person executes this Agreement as the Debtor:

(i) the obligations of such persons hereunder shall be joint and several;

(ii) the Security Interests shall secure the Indebtedness of each Debtor, whether or not any other Debtor or any
other person is also liable therefor; and

Off) the Collateral shall include the interest of any Debtor in the property, assets and undertaking constituting
Collateral owned or otherwise held by such Debtor, whether or not any other Debtor also has an interest
therein.

(f) The Debtor acknowledges and agrees that in the event it amalgamates with any other corporation or corporations it
is the intention of the parties hereto that the term "Debtor" when used herein shall apply to each of the amalgamating
corporations and to the amalgamated corporation, such that the Security Interests granted hereby:

(i) shall extend and attach to "Collateral" (as that terrn is herein defined) owned by each of the amalgamating
corporations and the amalgamated corporation at the time of amalgamation and to any "Collateral"
thereafter owned or acquired by the amalgamated corporation; and

(ii) shall secure the "Indebtedness" (as that tenxt is herein defined) of each of the amalgamating corporations
and the amalgamated corporation to ATB at the time of amalgamation and any "Indebtedness" of the
amalgamated corporation to ATB thereafter arising.

(g) This Agreement is in addition to and not in substitution for any other security or securities now or hereafter held by
ATB and all such other securities shall remain in full force and effect. ATB will not be obliged to exhaust its
recourse against the Debtor or any other person or against any other security it may hold in respect of the
Indebtedness before realizing upon or otherwise dealing with the Collateral in such manner as ATB may consider
desirable.
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18.

19.

(h)

(i)

O)

(k)

(1)

The Debtor further agrees to execute and deliver to .ATB such further assurances and conveyances and supplemental
deeds and instruments as may be necessary to properly carry out the intention of this Agreement, as determined by
ATB, or as may be required by ATB from time to time, in each case acting reasonably.

After Default, ATB may from time to time apply and re-apply, notwithstanding any previous application, in any
such manner as it, in its sole discretion, sees fit, any monies received by it from the Debtor or as a result of any
enforcement or recovery proceedings, in or toward payment of any portion of the Indebtedness. The Debtor will
remain liable for any Indebtedness that is outstanding following realization of all or any part of the Collateral and
the application of the proceeds thereof.

In the event that the Debtor is a body corporate, it is hereby agreed that The Limitation of Civil Rights Act
(Saskatchewan), or any provision thereof, shall have no application to this Agreement or any agreement or
instrument renewing or extending or collateral to this Agreement. In the event that the Debtor is an agricultural
corporation within the meaning of The Saskatchewan Farm Security Act (Saskatchewan), the Debtor agrees with
ATB that all of Part IV (other than Section 46) of that Act shall not apply to the Debtor.

In the event that the Debtor is a body corporate, the Debtor further agrees that The Land Contracts (Actions) Act
(Saskatchewan) shall have no application to an action, as defined in that Act, with respect to this Agreement.

For the purpose of assisting ATB in assessing the creditworthiness of the Debtor or the ownership or description of
any of the Collateral, and for the purpose of collecting all or any portion of the Indebtedness owing by the Debtor to
ATB, the Debtor consents to the disclosure and release to ATB of personal information, including without
limitation, motor vehicle information from Alberta Registries (or any other provincial government department
having jurisdiction in that area). This consent is effective from the effective date of this Agreement and shall remain
in effect until all Indebtedness is fully satisfied.

INTERPRETATION

(a) Ifa portion of this Agreement is wholly or partially invalid, then this Agreement will be interpreted as if the invalid
portion had not been a part of it.

(b) Where the context so requires, the singular number shall be read as if the plural were expressed and the provisions
hereof shall be read with all grammatical changes necessary depending upon the person referred to being male,
female or body corporate.

GOVERNING LAW

This Agreement will be interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Province of Alberta, and the Debtor irrevocably agrees
that any suit or proceeding with respect to any matters arising out of or in connection with this Agreement may be brought in
the courts of such Province or in any court of competent jurisdiction, as ATB may elect, and the Debtor agrees to attorn to the
same.
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20. COPY OF AGREEMENT

The Debtor hereby acknowledges receipt of a copy of this Agreement, and waives any right it may have to receive a
Financing Statement, Financing Change Statement or Verification Statement relating to it.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Debtor has executed this Agreement this ~day of AUGUST, 2012.

Witness:

Witness:

CUSTOM BULK SERVICES INC.

Per :

Per:

Witness: And per:

Full Address of Debtor:

#33, 38311 RANGE RD. 270

RED DEER, ALBERTA

T4E 1 B5

Full List of all prior names by which Debtor has been known (whether by way of
name change, amalgamation or otherwise):
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Description of Collateral:

Select
appropriate box
or boxes, if no
box is selected,
the Debtor shall
be deemed to
have selected
box (b).

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

[] (e)

[] (f)

[] (g)

SCHEDULE A

All of the Debtor’s present and after-acquired Personal Property.

All of the Debtor’s present and after-acquired property, assets and undertaking, including without
limitation all present and aider-acquired Personal Property, and all present and after-acquired real,
immoveable and leasehold property.

All of the Debtor’s present and aRer-acquired Personal Property except     :

All of the Debtor’s      equipment of whatever kind and wherever situated including, without
limitation, all machinery, tools, apparatus, plant, furniture, fixtures and vehicles of whatever
nature.

All Accounts, Instruments, debts and Chattel Paper which are now due, owing or accruing due, or
which may hereafter become due, owing or accruing due, to the Debtor, together with all records
(whether in writing or no0 and other documents of any kind which in any way evidence or relate
to any or all of the Accounts, Instruments, debts or Chattel Paper.

All of the Debtor’s present and after-acquired Inventory, wherever located.

The following described Personal Property of the Debtor:

[] (h) All harvested and unharvested crops whether growing or matured, and whether grain, roots, seeds,
leaves or otherwise howsoever, and any interest of the Debtor therein, wherever located.

[] (i) All of the Debtor’s     , male or female, born or unborn, branded or unbranded, of whatever age
or stage of growth, wherever located.

Listing of Serial Numbers:

The registration mark (for aircraft only) and the serial numbers or vehicle identification numbers of any motor vehicles, trailers,
mobile homes, manufactured homes, boats, outboard motors for boats, or aircraft (other than those held as Inventory for sale or lease
by the Debtor) constituting Collateral are as follows:

Year of Serial Number (and Registration
Make Mode____[ Manufacture Mark for aircraft only)

Locations of Collateral:

The Collateral is located at the following location(s):

Form 7410 (Rev. 09109) ® Registered trademark of Alberta Treasury Branches. Page 12 of 13



SCHEDULE B
PERMITTED ENCUMBRANCES
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LAND TITLE CERTIFICATE

S
LINC TITLE NUMBERSHORT LEGAL

0012 319 117 972 302 7938020947;;2

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
PLAN 8020947

LOT 2

EXCEPTING THEREOUT ALL MINES AND MINERALS

ESTATE: FEE SIMPLE

ATS REFERENCE: 4;28;36;36;SW

MUNICIPALITY: TOWN OF PENHOLD

REFERENCE NUMBER: 972 294 623

CONSIDERATIONDOCUMENT TYPE VALUE
REGISTERED OWNER(S)

972 302 793 TRANSFER OF LAND $14,000 $14,000

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------

REGISTRATION DATE(DMY)

02/10/1997

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------

OWNERS

CUSTOM BULK SERVICES INC.

OF #33, 38311 RANGE RD. 270

RED DEER

ALBERTA T4E 1B5

(DATA UPDATED BY: CHANGE OF ADDRESS 072129318)

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------

DATE (D/M/Y) PARTICULARS

ENCUMBRANCES, LIENS & INTERESTS

REGISTRATION

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------
NUMBER

MORTGAGE29/08/2006062 384 277
MORTGAGEE - ALBERTA TREASURY BRANCHES.

100, 4911-51 ST

RED DEER

ALBERTA T4N6V4

ORIGINAL PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: $313,000

16/08/2012122 268 071 MORTGAGE
MORTGAGEE - ALBERTA TREASURY BRANCHES.

6794-50 AVE

( CONTINUED )



-----------------------------------------------------------------------------

DATE (D/M/Y) PARTICULARS

ENCUMBRANCES, LIENS & INTERESTS

REGISTRATION

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------
NUMBER

2PAGE
# 972 302 793

RED DEER

ALBERTA T4N4E1

ORIGINAL PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: $1,300,000

27/06/2013132 194 298 AMENDING AGREEMENT
AMOUNT: $2,700,000

AFFECTS INSTRUMENT:   122268071

003TOTAL INSTRUMENTS:

*END OF CERTIFICATE*

ORDER NUMBER:

CUSTOMER FILE NUMBER:

39498998

54614-1

THE REGISTRAR OF TITLES CERTIFIES THIS TO BE AN 

ACCURATE REPRODUCTION OF THE CERTIFICATE OF 

TITLE REPRESENTED HEREIN THIS 12 DAY OF JUNE, 

2020 AT 08:41 A.M.

THIS ELECTRONICALLY TRANSMITTED LAND TITLES PRODUCT IS INTENDED 

FOR THE SOLE USE OF THE ORIGINAL PURCHASER, AND NONE OTHER, 

SUBJECT TO WHAT IS SET OUT IN THE PARAGRAPH BELOW.

THE ABOVE PROVISIONS DO NOT PROHIBIT THE ORIGINAL PURCHASER FROM

INCLUDING THIS UNMODIFIED PRODUCT IN ANY REPORT, OPINION, 

APPRAISAL OR OTHER ADVICE PREPARED BY THE ORIGINAL PURCHASER AS 

PART OF THE ORIGINAL PURCHASER APPLYING PROFESSIONAL, CONSULTING 

OR TECHNICAL EXPERTISE FOR THE BENEFIT OF CLIENT(S).



LAND TITLE CERTIFICATE

S
LINC TITLE NUMBERSHORT LEGAL

0017 153 602 972 302 7949120596;;7

LEGAL DESCRIPTION
PLAN 9120596

LOT 7

EXCEPTING THEREOUT ALL MINES AND MINERALS

ESTATE: FEE SIMPLE

ATS REFERENCE: 4;28;36;36;SW

MUNICIPALITY: TOWN OF PENHOLD

REFERENCE NUMBER: 972 294 624

CONSIDERATIONDOCUMENT TYPE VALUE
REGISTERED OWNER(S)

972 302 794 TRANSFER OF LAND $16,000 $16,000

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------

REGISTRATION DATE(DMY)

02/10/1997

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------

OWNERS

CUSTOM BULK SERVICES INC.

OF #33, 38311 RANGE RD. 270

RED DEER

ALBERTA T4E 1B5

(DATA UPDATED BY: CHANGE OF ADDRESS 072129318)

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------

DATE (D/M/Y) PARTICULARS

ENCUMBRANCES, LIENS & INTERESTS

REGISTRATION

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------
NUMBER

MORTGAGE29/08/2006062 384 277
MORTGAGEE - ALBERTA TREASURY BRANCHES.

100, 4911-51 ST

RED DEER

ALBERTA T4N6V4

ORIGINAL PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: $313,000

16/08/2012122 268 071 MORTGAGE
MORTGAGEE - ALBERTA TREASURY BRANCHES.

6794-50 AVE

( CONTINUED )



-----------------------------------------------------------------------------

DATE (D/M/Y) PARTICULARS

ENCUMBRANCES, LIENS & INTERESTS

REGISTRATION

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------
NUMBER

2PAGE
# 972 302 794

RED DEER

ALBERTA T4N4E1

ORIGINAL PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: $1,300,000

27/06/2013132 194 298 AMENDING AGREEMENT
AMOUNT: $2,700,000

AFFECTS INSTRUMENT:   122268071

003TOTAL INSTRUMENTS:

*END OF CERTIFICATE*

ORDER NUMBER:

CUSTOMER FILE NUMBER:

39437958

273913

THE REGISTRAR OF TITLES CERTIFIES THIS TO BE AN 

ACCURATE REPRODUCTION OF THE CERTIFICATE OF 

TITLE REPRESENTED HEREIN THIS  4 DAY OF JUNE, 

2020 AT 01:46 P.M.

THIS ELECTRONICALLY TRANSMITTED LAND TITLES PRODUCT IS INTENDED 

FOR THE SOLE USE OF THE ORIGINAL PURCHASER, AND NONE OTHER, 

SUBJECT TO WHAT IS SET OUT IN THE PARAGRAPH BELOW.

THE ABOVE PROVISIONS DO NOT PROHIBIT THE ORIGINAL PURCHASER FROM

INCLUDING THIS UNMODIFIED PRODUCT IN ANY REPORT, OPINION, 

APPRAISAL OR OTHER ADVICE PREPARED BY THE ORIGINAL PURCHASER AS 

PART OF THE ORIGINAL PURCHASER APPLYING PROFESSIONAL, CONSULTING 

OR TECHNICAL EXPERTISE FOR THE BENEFIT OF CLIENT(S).





Exact Result(s) Only Found

NOTE:

A complete Search may result in a Report of Exact and Inexact Matches.
Be sure to read the reports carefully.

Search ID #: Z12729055 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:56:56

Business Debtor Search For:
NORTHERN SILICA CORPORATION

WEST-END REGISTRATIONS LICENSING & SEARCHES 
LTD. (P158)

10011 170 STREET
EDMONTON, AB T5P 4R5

Transmitting Party

 Party Code: 50076967
      Phone #: 780 483 8211
Reference #: 02945081-EDD3 5 
1025

Page 1 of 2

Personal Property Registry

Search Results Report

Search ID #: Z12729055



Result Complete

Business Debtor Search For:

NORTHERN SILICA CORPORATION

Search ID #: Z12729055 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:56:56

   
Registration Number: 20042821873 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2020-Apr-28 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2022-Apr-28 23:59:59

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 NORTHERN SILICA CORPORATION
204-1212 1 STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 JACK CARTER CHEVROLET BUICK GMC LTD
11555-29 STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2Z 0N4

Status
Current

Phone #: 403 258 6300 Fax #: 403 255 8284

Email: lease@jackcarterchev.com

Collateral: Serial Number Goods
Block Serial Number Year Make and Model Category Status

1 3GTU2PEC3GG232069 2016 GMC SIERRA 1500 MV - Motor Vehicle Current
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Personal Property Registry

Search Results Report

Search ID #: Z12729055



No Result(s) Found

NOTE:

A complete Search may result in a Report of Exact and Inexact Matches.
Be sure to read the reports carefully.

Search ID #: Z12729210 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 10:14:51

Business Debtor Search For:
HEEMSKIRK MINING PTY LTD.

WEST-END REGISTRATIONS LICENSING & SEARCHES 
LTD. (P158)

10011 170 STREET
EDMONTON, AB T5P 4R5

Transmitting Party

 Party Code: 50076967
      Phone #: 780 483 8211
Reference #: 02945202-EDD3 5 
1025

Result Complete

Page 1 of 1

Personal Property Registry

Search Results Report

Search ID #: Z12729210



Both Exact and Inexact Result(s) Found

NOTE:

A complete Search may result in a Report of Exact and Inexact Matches.
Be sure to read the reports carefully.

Search ID #: Z12729045 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:55:27

Business Debtor Search For:
HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED

WEST-END REGISTRATIONS LICENSING & SEARCHES 
LTD. (P158)

10011 170 STREET
EDMONTON, AB T5P 4R5

Transmitting Party

 Party Code: 50076967
      Phone #: 780 483 8211
Reference #: 02945074-EDD3 5 
1025

Page 1 of 18

Personal Property Registry

Search Results Report

Search ID #: Z12729045



Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729045 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:55:27

   
Registration Number: 11082612805 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2011-Aug-26 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2021-Aug-26 23:59:59

Inexact Match on: Debtor No: 2

Amendments to Registration

14040911883 Amendment And Renewal 2014-Apr-09

15070638641 Amendment 2015-Jul-06

15071029726 Amendment 2015-Jul-10

15071435786 Amendment 2015-Jul-14

16051217637 Amendment 2016-May-12

16051224947 Amendment 2016-May-12

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
1212 - 1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Deleted by 
16051224947

Block

2 HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
#204, 1212 - 1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current by 
16051224947

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 CANADIAN IMPERIAL BANK OF COMMERCE
595 BAY STREET, SUITE 500
TORONTO, ON M5G 2C2

Status
Deleted by 
15070638641
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Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 All present and after-acquired personal property of the Debtor Deleted By 
15070638641

2 All accounts, instruments and debts which are now due, owing or accruing due, or which 
may hereafter become due, owing or accruing due, to the Debtor, together with all records 
(whether in writing or not), and other documents of any kind which in any way evidence or 
relate to any or all of the accounts, instruments and debts, including without limitation, 
deposit account no. 00009/8004218 in the amount of CAD $100,000 and deposit account 
no. 00009/0465313 in the amount of US $1,719,585 and all certificates of deposit and 
other investments in which such funds may be invested from time to time.

Proceeds: all goods, documents of title, chattel paper, instruments, money, securities and 
intangibles and any other present and after-acquired personal property.

Deleted By 
15071029726

3 All deposit accounts of the debtor held at Canadian Imperial Bank Deleted By 
15071435786

4 of Commerce, including all cash and other financial assets Deleted By 
15071435786

5 credited to deposit account no.8004218 at transit 00009 in the Deleted By 
15071435786

6 amount of CAD 100,000.00 Proceeds: goods, securities, Deleted By 
15071435786

7 instruments, documents of title, chattel paper, intangibles, all Deleted By 
15071435786

8 as defined in the Personal Property Security Act of Alberta and Deleted By 
15071435786

9 regulations thereunder, derived directly or indirectly from any Deleted By 
15071435786

10 dealings with the original collateral. Deleted By 
15071435786

11 Deposit account no.8004218 of the debtor at transit 00009 in the amount of CAD 
100,000.00 held at Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, including all cash and other 
financial assets credited to such deposit account and all certificates of deposit and other 
investments in which such funds may be invested from time to time. Proceeds: goods, 
securities, instruments, documents of title, chattel paper, intangibles, all as defined in the 
Personal Property Security Act of Alberta and regulations thereunder, derived directly or 
indirectly from any dealings with the original collateral.

Deleted By 
16051217637

12 Deposit account no.8004218 of the debtor at transit 00009 Deleted By 
16051224947

Block

2 CANADIAN IMPERIAL BANK OF COMMERCE
595 BAY STREET, 5TH FLOOR
TORONTO, ON M5G 2C2

Status
Current by 
15070638641
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13 in the amount of CAD 100,000.00 held at Canadian Imperial Deleted By 
16051224947

14 Bank of Commerce, including all cash and other financial Deleted By 
16051224947

15 assets credited to such deposit account and all certificates Deleted By 
16051224947

16 of deposit and other investments in which such funds may be Deleted By 
16051224947

17 invested from time to time. Proceeds: goods, securities, Deleted By 
16051224947

18 instruments, documents of title, chattel paper, intangibles, Deleted By 
16051224947

19 all as defined in the Personal Property Security Act of Deleted By 
16051224947

20 Alberta and regulations thereunder, derived directly or Deleted By 
16051224947

21 indirectly from any dealings with the original collateral. Deleted By 
16051224947

22 All deposit accounts of the debtor held at Canadian Imperial Bank Current By 
16051224947

23 of Commerce, including all cash and other financial assets Current By 
16051224947

24 credited thereto. Proceeds: goods, securities, instruments, Current By 
16051224947

25 documents of title, chattel paper, intangibles, all as defined in Current By 
16051224947

26 the Personal Property Security Act of Alberta and regulations Current By 
16051224947

27 thereunder, derived directly or indirectly from any dealings with Current By 
16051224947

28 the original collateral. Current By 
16051224947

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

The complete address of the Secured Party is:

Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce
Commercial Sales and Service Centre
595 Bay Street, Suite 500
Toronto, ON
M5G 2C2

Status

Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729045 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:55:27

   
Registration Number: 16020932593 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2016-Feb-09 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2023-Feb-09 23:59:59

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 All present and after-acquired personal property of the debtor. Current

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V.
JACHTHAVENWEG 109H, 1081 KM
AMSTERDAM, THE NETHERLANDS, XX

Status
Current

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

The complete address of debtor block 1 is as follows:
c/o HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited
Suite 204, 1212-1st Street SE
Calgary, AB
T2G 2H8

Status

Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729045 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:55:27

   
Registration Number: 16020932768 Registration Type: LAND CHARGE

Registration Date: 2016-Feb-09 Registration Status: Current

Registration Term: Infinity

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V.
JACHTHAVENWEG 109H, 1081 KM
AMSTERDAM, THE NETHERLANDS, XX

Status
Current

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

The complete address of debtor block 1 is as follows:
c/o HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited
Suite 204, 1212-1st Street SE
Calgary, AB
T2G 2H8

Status

Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729045 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:55:27

   
Registration Number: 16020932885 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2016-Feb-09 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2023-Feb-09 23:59:59

Inexact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 All present and after-acquired personal property of the debtor. Current

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V.
JACHTHAVENWEG 109H, 1081 KM
AMSTERDAM, THE NETHERLANDS, XX

Status
Current

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

The complete address of debtor block 1 is as follows:
c/o HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited
Suite 204, 1212-1st Street SE
Calgary, AB
T2G 2H8

Status

Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729045 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:55:27

   
Registration Number: 16020932911 Registration Type: LAND CHARGE

Registration Date: 2016-Feb-09 Registration Status: Current

Registration Term: Infinity

Inexact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V.
JACHTHAVENWEG 109H, 1081 KM
AMSTERDAM, THE NETHERLANDS, XX

Status
Current

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

The complete address of debtor block 1 is as follows:
c/o HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited
Suite 204, 1212-1st Street SE
Calgary, AB
T2G 2H8

Status

Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729045 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:55:27

   
Registration Number: 16020932986 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2016-Feb-09 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2023-Feb-09 23:59:59

Inexact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V.
JACHTHAVENWEG 109H, 1081 KM
AMSTERDAM, THE NETHERLANDS, XX

Status
Current
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Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 (i) all Securities (as defined in the Personal Property Security Act (British Columbia)), 
Security Entitlements (as defined in the Personal Property Security Act (British Columbia)) 
and other equity interests issued by or with respect to HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) 
Limited in which the Debtor now or in the future has any right, title or interest, including all 
assets, property and undertaking related to such Securities, Security Entitlements and 
other equity interests (the "Pledged Property");

(ii) all certificates and instruments evidencing or representing the Pledged Property;

(iii) all interest, dividends and distributions (whether in cash, kind or stock) received or 
receivable upon or with respect to any of the Pledged Property and all moneys or other 
property payable or paid on account of any return or repayment of capital with respect to 
any of the Pledged Property or otherwise distributed with respect thereto or which will in 
any way be charged to, or payable or paid out of, the capital of HCA Mountain Minerals 
(Moberly) Limited on account of any such Pledged Property;

(iv) all other property that may at any time be received or receivable by or otherwise 
distributed to the Debtor with respect to, or in substitution for, or in exchange or 
replacement for, any of the foregoing; and

(v) all proceeds of any of the foregoing.

Proceeds: Goods, chattel paper, investment property, documents of title, 
instruments,money and intangibles.

Current

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

The complete address of debtor block 1 is as follows:
c/o HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited
Suite 204, 1212-1st Street SE
Calgary, AB
T2G 2H8

Status

Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729045 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:55:27

   
Registration Number: 17091428352 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2017-Sep-14 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2021-Sep-14 23:59:59

Inexact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA LTD.
204 1212 1 ST SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 JACK CARTER CHEVROLET CADILLAC BUICK GMC
11555 29 STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2Z 0N4

Status
Current

Phone #: 403 258 6300 Fax #: 403 252 1239

 

Collateral: Serial Number Goods
Block Serial Number Year Make and Model Category Status

1 3GTU2NEC1HG503507 2017 GMC Sierra MV - Motor Vehicle Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729045 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:55:27

   
Registration Number: 18020635821 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2018-Feb-06 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2028-Feb-06 23:59:59

Inexact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 ALL OF THE DEBTOR'S PRESENT AND AFTER-ACQUIRED PERSONAL PROPERTY 
AND PROCEEDS.

Current

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
1900, 520 - 3RD AVENUE SW
CALGARY, AB T2P 0R3

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 ATB FINANCIAL
3699 - 63 AVENUE NE
CALGARY, AB T3J 0G7

Status
Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729045 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:55:27

   
Registration Number: 19112807199 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2019-Nov-28 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2026-Nov-28 23:59:59

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 ALL PRESENT AND AFTER-ACQUIRED PERSONAL PROPERTY OF THE DEBTOR. Current

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 QMETCO LIMITED
LEVEL 12, 300 QUEEN STREET
BRISBANE, QLD, 4000 AUSTRALIA, XX AUS

Status
Current

Email: john.fisher-stamp@qmetco.com.au

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

THE SECURITY INTEREST IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF A PRIORITY DEED 
DATED ON OR ABOUT NOVEMBER 30, 2019 BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY, AS 
SENIOR LENDER, THE DEBTOR, AND TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V., AS 
SUBORDINATED LENDER.

Status

Current

Block

2

Additional Information

THE COMPLETE ADDRESS OF DEBTOR BLOCK 1 IS: C/O HCA MOUNTAIN 
MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED, SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE, CALGARY, AB 
T2G 2H8

Status

Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729045 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:55:27

   
Registration Number: 19112807207 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2019-Nov-28 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2026-Nov-28 23:59:59

Inexact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 ALL PRESENT AND AFTER-ACQUIRED PERSONAL PROPERTY OF THE DEBTOR. Current

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 QMETCO LIMITED
LEVEL 12, 300 QUEEN STREET
BRISBANE, QLD, 4000 AUSTRALIA, XX AUS

Status
Current

Email: john.fisher-stamp@qmetco.com.au

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

THE SECURITY INTEREST IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF A PRIORITY DEED 
DATED ON OR ABOUT NOVEMBER 30, 2019 BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY, AS 
SENIOR LENDER, THE DEBTOR, AND TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V., AS 
SUBORDINATED LENDER.

Status

Current

Block

2

Additional Information

THE COMPLETE ADDRESS OF DEBTOR BLOCK 1 IS: C/O HCA MOUNTAIN 
MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED, SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE, CALGARY, AB 
T2G 2H8

Status

Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729045 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:55:27

   
Registration Number: 19112807214 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2019-Nov-28 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2026-Nov-28 23:59:59

Inexact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 QMETCO LIMITED
LEVEL 12, 300 QUEEN STREET
BRISBANE, QLD, 4000 AUSTRALIA, XX AUS

Status
Current

Email: john.fisher-stamp@qmetco.com.au
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Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 (I) ALL SECURITIES (AS DEFINED IN THE PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY ACT 
(BRITISH COLUMBIA)), SECURITY ENTITLEMENTS (AS DEFINED IN THE PERSONAL 
PROPERTY SECURITY ACT (BRITISH COLUMBIA)) AND OTHER EQUITY INTERESTS 
ISSUED BY OR WITH RESPECT TO HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED 
IN WHICH THE DEBTOR NOW OR IN THE FUTURE HAS ANY RIGHT, TITLE OR 
INTEREST, INCLUDING ALL ASSETS, PROPERTY AND UNDERTAKING RELATED TO 
SUCH SECURITIES, SECURITY ENTITLEMENTS AND OTHER EQUITY INTERESTS 
(THE "PLEDGED PROPERTY");

(II) ALL CERTIFICATES AND INSTRUMENTS EVIDENCING OR REPRESENTING THE 
PLEDGED PROPERTY;

(III) ALL INTEREST, DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS (WHETHER IN CASH, KIND OR 
STOCK) RECEIVED OR RECEIVABLE UPON OR WITH RESPECT TO ANY OF THE 
PLEDGED PROPERTY AND ALL MONEYS OR OTHER PROPERTY PAYABLE OR PAID 
ON ACCOUNT OF ANY RETURN OR REPAYMENT OF CAPITAL WITH RESPECT TO 
ANY OF THE PLEDGED PROPERTY OR OTHERWISE DISTRIBUTED WITH RESPECT 
THERETO OR WHICH WILL IN ANY WAY BE CHARGED TO, OR PAYABLE OR PAID 
OUT OF, THE CAPITAL OF HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED ON 
ACCOUNT OF ANY SUCH PLEDGED PROPERTY;

(IV) ALL OTHER PROPERTY THAT MAY AT ANY TIME BE RECEIVED OR 
RECEIVABLE BY OR OTHERWISE DISTRIBUTED TO THE DEBTOR WITH RESPECT 
TO, OR IN SUBSTITUTION FOR, OR IN EXCHANGE OR REPLACEMENT FOR, ANY 
OF THE FOREGOING; AND

(V) ALL PROCEEDS OF ANY OF THE FOREGOING.

Current

2 PROCEEDS: GOODS, CHATTEL PAPER, INVESTMENT PROPERTY, DOCUMENTS OF 
TITLE, INSTRUMENTS.MONEY AND INTANGIBLES.

Current

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

THE SECURITY INTEREST IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF A PRIORITY DEED 
DATED ON OR ABOUT NOVEMBER 30, 2019 BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY, AS 
SENIOR LENDER, THE DEBTOR, AND TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V., AS 
SUBORDINATED LENDER.

Status

Current

Block

2

Additional Information

THE COMPLETE ADDRESS OF DEBTOR BLOCK 1 IS: C/O HCA MOUNTAIN 
MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED, SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE, CALGARY, AB 
T2G 2H8

Status

Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729045 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:55:27

   
Registration Number: 19112812603 Registration Type: LAND CHARGE

Registration Date: 2019-Nov-28 Registration Status: Current

Registration Term: Infinity

Inexact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 QMETCO LIMITED
LEVEL 12, 300 QUEEN STREET
BRISBANE, QLD, 4000 AUSTRALIA, XX AUS

Status
Current

Email: JOHN.FISHER-STAMP@QMETCO.COM.AU

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

THE SECURITY INTEREST IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF A PRIORITY DEED 
DATED ON OR ABOUT NOVEMBER 30, 2019 BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY, AS 
SENIOR LENDER, THE DEBTOR, AND TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V., AS 
SUBORDINATED LENDER.

Status

Current

Block

2

Additional Information

THE COMPLETE ADDRESS OF DEBTOR BLOCK 1 IS: C/O HCA MOUNTAIN 
MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED, SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE, CALGARY, AB 
T2G 2H8

Status

Current
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Result Complete

Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729045 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:55:27

   
Registration Number: 19112812721 Registration Type: LAND CHARGE

Registration Date: 2019-Nov-28 Registration Status: Current

Registration Term: Infinity

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 QMETCO LIMITED
LEVEL 12, 300 QUEEN STREET
BRISBANE, QLD, 4000 AUSTRALIA, XX AUS

Status
Current

Email: JOHN.FISHER-STAMP@QMETCO.COM.AU

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

THE SECURITY INTEREST IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF A PRIORITY DEED 
DATED ON OR ABOUT NOVEMBER 30, 2019 BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY, AS 
SENIOR LENDER, THE DEBTOR, AND TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V., AS 
SUBORDINATED LENDER.

Status

Current

Block

2

Additional Information

THE COMPLETE ADDRESS OF DEBTOR BLOCK 1 IS: C/O HCA MOUNTAIN 
MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED, SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE, CALGARY, AB 
T2G 2H8

Status

Current
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Both Exact and Inexact Result(s) Found

NOTE:

A complete Search may result in a Report of Exact and Inexact Matches.
Be sure to read the reports carefully.

Search ID #: Z12729056 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:57:02

Business Debtor Search For:
HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED

WEST-END REGISTRATIONS LICENSING & SEARCHES 
LTD. (P158)

10011 170 STREET
EDMONTON, AB T5P 4R5

Transmitting Party

 Party Code: 50076967
      Phone #: 780 483 8211
Reference #: 02945082-EDD3 5 
1025
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729056 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:57:02

   
Registration Number: 11082612805 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2011-Aug-26 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2021-Aug-26 23:59:59

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 2

Amendments to Registration

14040911883 Amendment And Renewal 2014-Apr-09

15070638641 Amendment 2015-Jul-06

15071029726 Amendment 2015-Jul-10

15071435786 Amendment 2015-Jul-14

16051217637 Amendment 2016-May-12

16051224947 Amendment 2016-May-12

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
1212 - 1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Deleted by 
16051224947

Block

2 HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
#204, 1212 - 1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current by 
16051224947

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 CANADIAN IMPERIAL BANK OF COMMERCE
595 BAY STREET, SUITE 500
TORONTO, ON M5G 2C2

Status
Deleted by 
15070638641
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Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 All present and after-acquired personal property of the Debtor Deleted By 
15070638641

2 All accounts, instruments and debts which are now due, owing or accruing due, or which 
may hereafter become due, owing or accruing due, to the Debtor, together with all records 
(whether in writing or not), and other documents of any kind which in any way evidence or 
relate to any or all of the accounts, instruments and debts, including without limitation, 
deposit account no. 00009/8004218 in the amount of CAD $100,000 and deposit account 
no. 00009/0465313 in the amount of US $1,719,585 and all certificates of deposit and 
other investments in which such funds may be invested from time to time.

Proceeds: all goods, documents of title, chattel paper, instruments, money, securities and 
intangibles and any other present and after-acquired personal property.

Deleted By 
15071029726

3 All deposit accounts of the debtor held at Canadian Imperial Bank Deleted By 
15071435786

4 of Commerce, including all cash and other financial assets Deleted By 
15071435786

5 credited to deposit account no.8004218 at transit 00009 in the Deleted By 
15071435786

6 amount of CAD 100,000.00 Proceeds: goods, securities, Deleted By 
15071435786

7 instruments, documents of title, chattel paper, intangibles, all Deleted By 
15071435786

8 as defined in the Personal Property Security Act of Alberta and Deleted By 
15071435786

9 regulations thereunder, derived directly or indirectly from any Deleted By 
15071435786

10 dealings with the original collateral. Deleted By 
15071435786

11 Deposit account no.8004218 of the debtor at transit 00009 in the amount of CAD 
100,000.00 held at Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, including all cash and other 
financial assets credited to such deposit account and all certificates of deposit and other 
investments in which such funds may be invested from time to time. Proceeds: goods, 
securities, instruments, documents of title, chattel paper, intangibles, all as defined in the 
Personal Property Security Act of Alberta and regulations thereunder, derived directly or 
indirectly from any dealings with the original collateral.

Deleted By 
16051217637

12 Deposit account no.8004218 of the debtor at transit 00009 Deleted By 
16051224947

Block

2 CANADIAN IMPERIAL BANK OF COMMERCE
595 BAY STREET, 5TH FLOOR
TORONTO, ON M5G 2C2

Status
Current by 
15070638641
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13 in the amount of CAD 100,000.00 held at Canadian Imperial Deleted By 
16051224947

14 Bank of Commerce, including all cash and other financial Deleted By 
16051224947

15 assets credited to such deposit account and all certificates Deleted By 
16051224947

16 of deposit and other investments in which such funds may be Deleted By 
16051224947

17 invested from time to time. Proceeds: goods, securities, Deleted By 
16051224947

18 instruments, documents of title, chattel paper, intangibles, Deleted By 
16051224947

19 all as defined in the Personal Property Security Act of Deleted By 
16051224947

20 Alberta and regulations thereunder, derived directly or Deleted By 
16051224947

21 indirectly from any dealings with the original collateral. Deleted By 
16051224947

22 All deposit accounts of the debtor held at Canadian Imperial Bank Current By 
16051224947

23 of Commerce, including all cash and other financial assets Current By 
16051224947

24 credited thereto. Proceeds: goods, securities, instruments, Current By 
16051224947

25 documents of title, chattel paper, intangibles, all as defined in Current By 
16051224947

26 the Personal Property Security Act of Alberta and regulations Current By 
16051224947

27 thereunder, derived directly or indirectly from any dealings with Current By 
16051224947

28 the original collateral. Current By 
16051224947

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

The complete address of the Secured Party is:

Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce
Commercial Sales and Service Centre
595 Bay Street, Suite 500
Toronto, ON
M5G 2C2

Status

Current

Page 4 of 18

Personal Property Registry

Search Results Report

Search ID #: Z12729056



Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729056 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:57:02

   
Registration Number: 16020932593 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2016-Feb-09 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2023-Feb-09 23:59:59

Inexact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 All present and after-acquired personal property of the debtor. Current

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V.
JACHTHAVENWEG 109H, 1081 KM
AMSTERDAM, THE NETHERLANDS, XX

Status
Current

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

The complete address of debtor block 1 is as follows:
c/o HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited
Suite 204, 1212-1st Street SE
Calgary, AB
T2G 2H8

Status

Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729056 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:57:02

   
Registration Number: 16020932768 Registration Type: LAND CHARGE

Registration Date: 2016-Feb-09 Registration Status: Current

Registration Term: Infinity

Inexact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V.
JACHTHAVENWEG 109H, 1081 KM
AMSTERDAM, THE NETHERLANDS, XX

Status
Current

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

The complete address of debtor block 1 is as follows:
c/o HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited
Suite 204, 1212-1st Street SE
Calgary, AB
T2G 2H8

Status

Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729056 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:57:02

   
Registration Number: 16020932885 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2016-Feb-09 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2023-Feb-09 23:59:59

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 All present and after-acquired personal property of the debtor. Current

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V.
JACHTHAVENWEG 109H, 1081 KM
AMSTERDAM, THE NETHERLANDS, XX

Status
Current

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

The complete address of debtor block 1 is as follows:
c/o HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited
Suite 204, 1212-1st Street SE
Calgary, AB
T2G 2H8

Status

Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729056 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:57:02

   
Registration Number: 16020932911 Registration Type: LAND CHARGE

Registration Date: 2016-Feb-09 Registration Status: Current

Registration Term: Infinity

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V.
JACHTHAVENWEG 109H, 1081 KM
AMSTERDAM, THE NETHERLANDS, XX

Status
Current

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

The complete address of debtor block 1 is as follows:
c/o HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited
Suite 204, 1212-1st Street SE
Calgary, AB
T2G 2H8

Status

Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729056 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:57:02

   
Registration Number: 16020932986 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2016-Feb-09 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2023-Feb-09 23:59:59

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V.
JACHTHAVENWEG 109H, 1081 KM
AMSTERDAM, THE NETHERLANDS, XX

Status
Current
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Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 (i) all Securities (as defined in the Personal Property Security Act (British Columbia)), 
Security Entitlements (as defined in the Personal Property Security Act (British Columbia)) 
and other equity interests issued by or with respect to HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) 
Limited in which the Debtor now or in the future has any right, title or interest, including all 
assets, property and undertaking related to such Securities, Security Entitlements and 
other equity interests (the "Pledged Property");

(ii) all certificates and instruments evidencing or representing the Pledged Property;

(iii) all interest, dividends and distributions (whether in cash, kind or stock) received or 
receivable upon or with respect to any of the Pledged Property and all moneys or other 
property payable or paid on account of any return or repayment of capital with respect to 
any of the Pledged Property or otherwise distributed with respect thereto or which will in 
any way be charged to, or payable or paid out of, the capital of HCA Mountain Minerals 
(Moberly) Limited on account of any such Pledged Property;

(iv) all other property that may at any time be received or receivable by or otherwise 
distributed to the Debtor with respect to, or in substitution for, or in exchange or 
replacement for, any of the foregoing; and

(v) all proceeds of any of the foregoing.

Proceeds: Goods, chattel paper, investment property, documents of title, 
instruments,money and intangibles.

Current

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

The complete address of debtor block 1 is as follows:
c/o HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited
Suite 204, 1212-1st Street SE
Calgary, AB
T2G 2H8

Status

Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729056 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:57:02

   
Registration Number: 17091428352 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2017-Sep-14 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2021-Sep-14 23:59:59

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA LTD.
204 1212 1 ST SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 JACK CARTER CHEVROLET CADILLAC BUICK GMC
11555 29 STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2Z 0N4

Status
Current

Phone #: 403 258 6300 Fax #: 403 252 1239

 

Collateral: Serial Number Goods
Block Serial Number Year Make and Model Category Status

1 3GTU2NEC1HG503507 2017 GMC Sierra MV - Motor Vehicle Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729056 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:57:02

   
Registration Number: 18020635821 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2018-Feb-06 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2028-Feb-06 23:59:59

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 ALL OF THE DEBTOR'S PRESENT AND AFTER-ACQUIRED PERSONAL PROPERTY 
AND PROCEEDS.

Current

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
1900, 520 - 3RD AVENUE SW
CALGARY, AB T2P 0R3

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 ATB FINANCIAL
3699 - 63 AVENUE NE
CALGARY, AB T3J 0G7

Status
Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729056 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:57:02

   
Registration Number: 19112807199 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2019-Nov-28 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2026-Nov-28 23:59:59

Inexact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 ALL PRESENT AND AFTER-ACQUIRED PERSONAL PROPERTY OF THE DEBTOR. Current

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 QMETCO LIMITED
LEVEL 12, 300 QUEEN STREET
BRISBANE, QLD, 4000 AUSTRALIA, XX AUS

Status
Current

Email: john.fisher-stamp@qmetco.com.au

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

THE SECURITY INTEREST IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF A PRIORITY DEED 
DATED ON OR ABOUT NOVEMBER 30, 2019 BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY, AS 
SENIOR LENDER, THE DEBTOR, AND TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V., AS 
SUBORDINATED LENDER.

Status

Current

Block

2

Additional Information

THE COMPLETE ADDRESS OF DEBTOR BLOCK 1 IS: C/O HCA MOUNTAIN 
MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED, SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE, CALGARY, AB 
T2G 2H8

Status

Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729056 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:57:02

   
Registration Number: 19112807207 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2019-Nov-28 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2026-Nov-28 23:59:59

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 ALL PRESENT AND AFTER-ACQUIRED PERSONAL PROPERTY OF THE DEBTOR. Current

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 QMETCO LIMITED
LEVEL 12, 300 QUEEN STREET
BRISBANE, QLD, 4000 AUSTRALIA, XX AUS

Status
Current

Email: john.fisher-stamp@qmetco.com.au

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

THE SECURITY INTEREST IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF A PRIORITY DEED 
DATED ON OR ABOUT NOVEMBER 30, 2019 BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY, AS 
SENIOR LENDER, THE DEBTOR, AND TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V., AS 
SUBORDINATED LENDER.

Status

Current

Block

2

Additional Information

THE COMPLETE ADDRESS OF DEBTOR BLOCK 1 IS: C/O HCA MOUNTAIN 
MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED, SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE, CALGARY, AB 
T2G 2H8

Status

Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729056 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:57:02

   
Registration Number: 19112807214 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2019-Nov-28 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2026-Nov-28 23:59:59

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 QMETCO LIMITED
LEVEL 12, 300 QUEEN STREET
BRISBANE, QLD, 4000 AUSTRALIA, XX AUS

Status
Current

Email: john.fisher-stamp@qmetco.com.au
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Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 (I) ALL SECURITIES (AS DEFINED IN THE PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY ACT 
(BRITISH COLUMBIA)), SECURITY ENTITLEMENTS (AS DEFINED IN THE PERSONAL 
PROPERTY SECURITY ACT (BRITISH COLUMBIA)) AND OTHER EQUITY INTERESTS 
ISSUED BY OR WITH RESPECT TO HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED 
IN WHICH THE DEBTOR NOW OR IN THE FUTURE HAS ANY RIGHT, TITLE OR 
INTEREST, INCLUDING ALL ASSETS, PROPERTY AND UNDERTAKING RELATED TO 
SUCH SECURITIES, SECURITY ENTITLEMENTS AND OTHER EQUITY INTERESTS 
(THE "PLEDGED PROPERTY");

(II) ALL CERTIFICATES AND INSTRUMENTS EVIDENCING OR REPRESENTING THE 
PLEDGED PROPERTY;

(III) ALL INTEREST, DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS (WHETHER IN CASH, KIND OR 
STOCK) RECEIVED OR RECEIVABLE UPON OR WITH RESPECT TO ANY OF THE 
PLEDGED PROPERTY AND ALL MONEYS OR OTHER PROPERTY PAYABLE OR PAID 
ON ACCOUNT OF ANY RETURN OR REPAYMENT OF CAPITAL WITH RESPECT TO 
ANY OF THE PLEDGED PROPERTY OR OTHERWISE DISTRIBUTED WITH RESPECT 
THERETO OR WHICH WILL IN ANY WAY BE CHARGED TO, OR PAYABLE OR PAID 
OUT OF, THE CAPITAL OF HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED ON 
ACCOUNT OF ANY SUCH PLEDGED PROPERTY;

(IV) ALL OTHER PROPERTY THAT MAY AT ANY TIME BE RECEIVED OR 
RECEIVABLE BY OR OTHERWISE DISTRIBUTED TO THE DEBTOR WITH RESPECT 
TO, OR IN SUBSTITUTION FOR, OR IN EXCHANGE OR REPLACEMENT FOR, ANY 
OF THE FOREGOING; AND

(V) ALL PROCEEDS OF ANY OF THE FOREGOING.

Current

2 PROCEEDS: GOODS, CHATTEL PAPER, INVESTMENT PROPERTY, DOCUMENTS OF 
TITLE, INSTRUMENTS.MONEY AND INTANGIBLES.

Current

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

THE SECURITY INTEREST IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF A PRIORITY DEED 
DATED ON OR ABOUT NOVEMBER 30, 2019 BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY, AS 
SENIOR LENDER, THE DEBTOR, AND TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V., AS 
SUBORDINATED LENDER.

Status

Current

Block

2

Additional Information

THE COMPLETE ADDRESS OF DEBTOR BLOCK 1 IS: C/O HCA MOUNTAIN 
MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED, SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE, CALGARY, AB 
T2G 2H8

Status

Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729056 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:57:02

   
Registration Number: 19112812603 Registration Type: LAND CHARGE

Registration Date: 2019-Nov-28 Registration Status: Current

Registration Term: Infinity

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 QMETCO LIMITED
LEVEL 12, 300 QUEEN STREET
BRISBANE, QLD, 4000 AUSTRALIA, XX AUS

Status
Current

Email: JOHN.FISHER-STAMP@QMETCO.COM.AU

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

THE SECURITY INTEREST IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF A PRIORITY DEED 
DATED ON OR ABOUT NOVEMBER 30, 2019 BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY, AS 
SENIOR LENDER, THE DEBTOR, AND TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V., AS 
SUBORDINATED LENDER.

Status

Current

Block

2

Additional Information

THE COMPLETE ADDRESS OF DEBTOR BLOCK 1 IS: C/O HCA MOUNTAIN 
MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED, SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE, CALGARY, AB 
T2G 2H8

Status

Current
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Result Complete

Business Debtor Search For:

HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729056 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:57:02

   
Registration Number: 19112812721 Registration Type: LAND CHARGE

Registration Date: 2019-Nov-28 Registration Status: Current

Registration Term: Infinity

Inexact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 QMETCO LIMITED
LEVEL 12, 300 QUEEN STREET
BRISBANE, QLD, 4000 AUSTRALIA, XX AUS

Status
Current

Email: JOHN.FISHER-STAMP@QMETCO.COM.AU

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

THE SECURITY INTEREST IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF A PRIORITY DEED 
DATED ON OR ABOUT NOVEMBER 30, 2019 BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY, AS 
SENIOR LENDER, THE DEBTOR, AND TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V., AS 
SUBORDINATED LENDER.

Status

Current

Block

2

Additional Information

THE COMPLETE ADDRESS OF DEBTOR BLOCK 1 IS: C/O HCA MOUNTAIN 
MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED, SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE, CALGARY, AB 
T2G 2H8

Status

Current
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Exact Result(s) Only Found

NOTE:

A complete Search may result in a Report of Exact and Inexact Matches.
Be sure to read the reports carefully.

Search ID #: Z12729047 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:55:33

Business Debtor Search For:
HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED

WEST-END REGISTRATIONS LICENSING & SEARCHES 
LTD. (P158)

10011 170 STREET
EDMONTON, AB T5P 4R5

Transmitting Party

 Party Code: 50076967
      Phone #: 780 483 8211
Reference #: 02945075-EDD3 5 
1025
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Search ID #: Z12729047



Business Debtor Search For:

HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729047 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:55:33

   
Registration Number: 16020933009 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2016-Feb-09 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2023-Feb-09 23:59:59

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 All present and after-acquired personal property of the debtor. Current

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V.
JACHTHAVENWEG 109H, 1081 KM
AMSTERDAM, THE NETHERLANDS, XX

Status
Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729047 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:55:33

   
Registration Number: 16020933058 Registration Type: LAND CHARGE

Registration Date: 2016-Feb-09 Registration Status: Current

Registration Term: Infinity

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V.
JACHTHAVENWEG 109H, 1081 KM
AMSTERDAM, THE NETHERLANDS, XX

Status
Current
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Search ID #: Z12729047



Business Debtor Search For:

HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729047 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:55:33

   
Registration Number: 19042602245 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2019-Apr-26 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2021-Apr-26 23:59:59

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 ALL WIRELESS COMMUNICATION EQUIPMENT FROM TIME TO TIME LEASED BY 
THE SECURED PARTY TO THE DEBTOR AS DESCRIBED ON LEASES, CONDITIONAL 
SALES AGREEMENTS AND ANY OTHER FINANCING AGREEMENTS ENTERED INTO 
BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY AND THE DEBTOR FROM TIME TO TIME AND ANY 
PROCEEDS THEREOF, TOGETHER WITH ALL REPLACEMENT PARTS, 
ACCESSORIES AND ATTACHMENTS.

Current

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED
8888-665 8 ST SW
CALGARY, AB T2P 3K7

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 RCAP LEASING INC.
5575 NORTH SERVICE RD, STE 300
BURLINGTON, ON L7L 6M1

Status
Current
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Business Debtor Search For:

HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729047 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:55:33

   
Registration Number: 19112807173 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2019-Nov-28 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2026-Nov-28 23:59:59

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 ALL PRESENT AND AFTER-ACQUIRED PERSONAL PROPERTY OF THE DEBTOR. Current

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 QMETCO LIMITED
LEVEL 12, 300 QUEEN STREET
BRISBANE, QLD, 4000 AUSTRALIA, XX AUS

Status
Current

Email: john.fisher-stamp@qmetco.com.au

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

THE SECURITY INTEREST IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF A PRIORITY DEED 
DATED ON OR ABOUT NOVEMBER 30, 2019 BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY, AS 
SENIOR LENDER, THE DEBTOR, AND TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V., AS 
SUBORDINATED LENDER.

Status

Current
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Result Complete

Business Debtor Search For:

HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED

Search ID #: Z12729047 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-08 Time of Search: 09:55:33

   
Registration Number: 19112812622 Registration Type: LAND CHARGE

Registration Date: 2019-Nov-28 Registration Status: Current

Registration Term: Infinity

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED
SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 QMETCO LIMITED
LEVEL 12, 300 QUEEN STREET
BRISBANE, QLD, 4000 AUSTRALIA, XX AUS

Status
Current

Email: JOHN.FISHER-STAMP@QMETCO.COM.AU

Particulars
Block

1

Additional Information

THE SECURITY INTEREST IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF A PRIORITY DEED 
DATED ON OR ABOUT NOVEMBER 30, 2019 BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY, AS 
SENIOR LENDER, THE DEBTOR, AND TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V., AS 
SUBORDINATED LENDER.

Status

Current

Page 6 of 6

Personal Property Registry

Search Results Report

Search ID #: Z12729047



Exact Result(s) Only Found

NOTE:

A complete Search may result in a Report of Exact and Inexact Matches.
Be sure to read the reports carefully.

Search ID #: Z12733602 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-09 Time of Search: 10:09:06

Business Debtor Search For:
CUSTOM BULK SERVICES INC.

WEST-END REGISTRATIONS LICENSING & SEARCHES 
LTD. (P158)

10011 170 STREET
EDMONTON, AB T5P 4R5

Transmitting Party

 Party Code: 50076967
      Phone #: 780 483 8211
Reference #: 02946914-EDD3 5 
1026

Page 1 of 7

Personal Property Registry

Search Results Report

Search ID #: Z12733602



Business Debtor Search For:

CUSTOM BULK SERVICES INC.

Search ID #: Z12733602 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-09 Time of Search: 10:09:06

   
Registration Number: 12080315794 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2012-Aug-03 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2022-Aug-03 23:59:59

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Amendments to Registration

17011927186 Renewal 2017-Jan-19

Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 ALL OF THE DEBTOR'S PRESENT AND AFTER-ACQUIRED PERSONAL PROPERTY. Current

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 CUSTOM BULK SERVICES INC.
#33, 38311 RANGE RD 270
RED DEER, AB T4E 1B5

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 ALBERTA TREASURY BRANCHES
6794 - 50 AVENUE
RED DEER, AB T4N 4E1

Status
Current

Page 2 of 7
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Business Debtor Search For:

CUSTOM BULK SERVICES INC.

Search ID #: Z12733602 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-09 Time of Search: 10:09:06

   
Registration Number: 18072708966 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2018-Jul-27 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2029-Jul-27 23:59:59

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Amendments to Registration

19012906677 Amendment 2019-Jan-29

19073104832 Renewal 2019-Jul-31

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 CUSTOM BULK SERVICES INC.
1212 1ST STREET SE SUITE 204
CALGARY, AB T2G2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 TRINITYRAIL CANADA INC.
SUITE 2400-745 THURLOW STREET
VANCOUVER, BC V6E0C5

Status
Current

Page 3 of 7
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Search ID #: Z12733602



Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 1. ALL RAILROAD ROLLING STOCK AND RAILWAY CARS NOW OR HEREAFTER 
SUPPLIED BY THE SECURED PARTY TO THE DEBTOR PURSUANT TO CERTAIN 
RAILCAR LEASES TOGETHER WITH ANY SCHEDULES, RIDERS, MEMORANDA AND 
OTHER SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS THERETO NOW OR HEREAFTER ENTERED 
INTO BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY AND THE DEBTOR, AS THE SAME MAY BE 
AMENDED, EXTENDED, RENEWED OR REPLACED AND IN EFFECT FROM TIME TO 
TIME, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, SUCH RAILROAD ROLLING STOCK AND 
RAILWAY CARS WHICH BEAR ANY OF THE FOLLOWING UMLER MARKS OR OTHER 
REPORTING MARKS, 3,281 CUBIC FOOT CAPACITY, COVERED HOPPER CARS 
MARKED AND NUMBERED TILX TBD , TOGETHER WITH MANUFACTURING 
WARRANTIES RELATING TO THE ABOVE DESCRIBED COLLATERAL AND ALL 
PARTS, ATTACHMENTS, ACCESSIONS, APPURTENANCES, ACCESSORIES, 
SUBSTITUTIONS AND REPLACEMENTS THERETO AND THEREFROM 
(COLLECTIVELY, "RAILCARS");

2. ALL AMOUNTS NOW OR HEREAFTER PAID TO OR DEPOSITED WITH OR 
REQUIRED TO BE PAID TO OR DEPOSITED WITH THE SECURED PARTY BY THE 
DEBTOR IN RESPECT OF THE RAILCARS,

3. ALL INSURANCE POLICIES IN RESPECT OF THE RAILCARS IN WHICH THE 
DEBTOR NOW OR HEREAFTER HAS RIGHTS, AND ALL RIGHTS OF THE DEBTOR IN 
AND TO ALL MONEY OR OTHER VALUE WHICH IS NOW PAYAYBLE OR WHICH MAY 
BECOME HEREAFTER PAYABLE UNDER SUCH INSURANCE POLICIES AS 
INDEMNITY OR COMPENSATION FOR LOSS OF OR DAMAGE TO THE RAILCARS,

4. ANY LEASES, CHARTERS OR OTHER AGREEMENTS NOW OR HEREAFTER 
ENTERED INTO BETWEEN THE DEBTOR AND ANY THIRD PARTY IN RESPECT OF 
THE RAILCARS AND ALL RIGHTS, INTEREST, BENEFITS, RENTS, PROFITS AND 
MONEY RELATING THERETO, AND

ALL PROCEEDS THAT ARE GOODS, INTANGIBLES, INVESTMENT PROPERTY, 
DOCUMENTS OF TITLE, CHATTEL PAPER, INSTRUMENTS OR MONEY (AND TERMS 
USED HEREIN THAT ARE DEFINED IN THE PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY ACT 
OF ALBERTA OR ITS REGULATIONS HAVE THOSE DEFINED MEANINGS).

Deleted By 
19012906677
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Search ID #: Z12733602



2 1. ALL RAILROAD ROLLING STOCK AND RAILWAY CARS NOW OR HEREAFTER 
SUPPLIED BY THE SECURED PARTY TO THE DEBTOR PURSUANT TO CERTAIN 
RAILCAR LEASES TOGETHER WITH ANY SCHEDULES, RIDERS, MEMORANDA AND 
OTHER SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS THERETO NOW OR HEREAFTER ENTERED 
INTO BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY AND THE DEBTOR, AS THE SAME MAY BE 
AMENDED, EXTENDED, RENEWED OR REPLACED AND IN EFFECT FROM TIME TO 
TIME, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, SUCH RAILROAD ROLLING STOCK AND 
RAILWAY CARS WHICH BEAR ANY OF THE FOLLOWING UMLER MARKS OR OTHER 
REPORTING MARKS, 3,281 CUBIC FOOT CAPACITY, COVERED HOPPER CARS 
MARKED AND NUMBERED TILX TBD , TOGETHER WITH MANUFACTURING 
WARRANTIES RELATING TO THE ABOVE DESCRIBED COLLATERAL AND ALL 
PARTS, ATTACHMENTS, ACCESSIONS, APPURTENANCES, ACCESSORIES, 
SUBSTITUTIONS AND REPLACEMENTS THERETO AND THEREFROM 
(COLLECTIVELY, "RAILCARS"); TILX 32215, 32221, 32262, 32305, 32313, 32316, 
32325, 
32327, 32331, 32336, 32343, 33356, 33384, 33391, 33429, 33814, 33833, 33844, 
328575, 
328589, 328593, 328594, 328608, 328609, 328613, 328619, 328621, 328626, 328630, 
328642, 328651, 328652, 330438, 330439, 330440, 330441, 330446, 330452, 330454, 
330455, 330457, 330459, 330461, 330462, 330468, 330470, 330474, 330478, 330479, 
330482, 330484, 330487, 330489, 330492, 330494, 330496, 330499, 330504, 330507, 
330510, 330517, 330520, 330537, 330538, 330541, 330543, 330544, 330545, 330546, 
330551, 330552, 330553, 330556, 330558, 330559, 330560, 330561, 330566, 330569, 
330570, 330572, 330573, 330575, 330577, 330581, 330582, 330584, 330585, 331311, 
331312, 331313, 331316, 331317, 331318, 331319, 331320, 331321, 331322, 331323, 
331326, 331327, 331328, 331329, 331331, 331332, 331333, 331334, 331335, 333049, 
333051, 333055, 333058, 333059, 333061 AND 333143

2. ALL AMOUNTS NOW OR HEREAFTER PAID TO OR DEPOSITED WITH OR 
REQUIRED TO BE PAID TO OR DEPOSITED WITH THE SECURED PARTY BY THE 
DEBTOR IN RESPECT OF THE RAILCARS,

3. ALL INSURANCE POLICIES IN RESPECT OF THE RAILCARS IN WHICH THE 
DEBTOR NOW OR HEREAFTER HAS RIGHTS, AND ALL RIGHTS OF THE DEBTOR IN 
AND TO ALL MONEY OR OTHER VALUE WHICH IS NOW PAYAYBLE OR WHICH MAY 
BECOME HEREAFTER PAYABLE UNDER SUCH INSURANCE POLICIES AS 
INDEMNITY OR COMPENSATION FOR LOSS OF OR DAMAGE TO THE RAILCARS,

4. ANY LEASES, CHARTERS OR OTHER AGREEMENTS NOW OR HEREAFTER 
ENTERED INTO BETWEEN THE DEBTOR AND ANY THIRD PARTY IN RESPECT OF 
THE RAILCARS AND ALL RIGHTS, INTEREST, BENEFITS, RENTS, PROFITS AND 
MONEY RELATING THERETO, AND

ALL PROCEEDS THAT ARE GOODS, INTANGIBLES, INVESTMENT PROPERTY, 
DOCUMENTS OF TITLE, CHATTEL PAPER, INSTRUMENTS OR MONEY (AND TERMS 
USED HEREIN THAT ARE DEFINED IN THE PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY ACT 
OF ALBERTA OR ITS REGULATIONS HAVE THOSE DEFINED MEANINGS).

Current By 
19012906677
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Business Debtor Search For:

CUSTOM BULK SERVICES INC.

Search ID #: Z12733602 Date of Search: 2020-Jun-09 Time of Search: 10:09:06

   
Registration Number: 20020531099 Registration Type: SECURITY AGREEMENT

Registration Date: 2020-Feb-05 Registration Status: Current

Expiry Date: 2040-Feb-05 23:59:59

This Registration covers a Trust Indenture

Exact Match on: Debtor No: 1

Debtor(s) 
Block

1 CUSTOM BULK SERVICES INC.
1212 1ST ST. S.E., SUITE 204
CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

Status
Current

Secured Party / Parties
Block

1 NP SPE X LP
3RD FLOOR, 280 PARK AVENUE
NEW YORK, NY 10017

Status
Current

Email: Robert.Sobieski@napierparkglobal.com

Block

2 WILMINGTON TRUST COMPANY, AS INDENTURE TRUSTEE
1100 NORTH MARKET STREET
WILMINGTON, DE 19890

Status
Current

Email: JParedes@WilmingtonTrust.com

Page 6 of 7

Personal Property Registry

Search Results Report

Search ID #: Z12733602



Result Complete

Collateral: General
Block Description Status

1 ALL RAILCARS, LOCOMOTIVES AND OTHER RAILROAD ROLLING STOCK NOW OR 
HEREAFTER SUPPLIED BY THE SECURED PARTY TO THE DEBTOR PURSUANT TO 
THAT MASTER RAILCAR LEASE DATED JUNE 14, 2018, TOGETHER WITH ANY 
SCHEDULES, RIDERS, MEMORANDA AND OTHER SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS 
THERETO NOW OR HEREAFTER ENTERED INTO BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY 
AND THE DEBTOR, AS THE SAME MAY BE AMENDED, EXTENDED, RENEWED OR 
REPLACED AND IN EFFECT FROM TIME TO TIME, INCLUDING WITHOUT 
LIMITATION, SUCH RAILCAR WHICH BEAR ANY OF THE FOLLOWING MARK OR 
OTHER REPORTING MARKS, TOGETHER WITH MANUFACTURING WARRANTIES 
RELATING TO THE ABOVE DESCRIBE COLLATERAL AND ALL PARTS, 
ATTACHMENTS, ACCESSIONS, APPURTENANCES, ACCESSORIES, 
SUBSTITUTIONS AND REPLACEMENTS THERETO AND THEREFROM 
(COLLECTIVELY, THE "RAILCARS");

Current

2 RAILCARS INCLUDE, WITHOUT LIMITATION, SUCH RAILCARS MARKED AND 
NUMBERED TILX 330438-330441, 330446, 330452, 330454, 330455, 330457, 330459, 
330461, 330462, 330468, 330470, 330474, 330478, 330479, 330482,330484, 330487, 
330489, 330492, 330494, 330496, 330499, 330504, 330507, 330510, 330517, 330520, 
333049, 333051, 333055, 333058, 333059, 333061, 333143, INCLUSIVE;

Current

3 ALL INSURANCE POLICIES IN RESPECT OF THE RAIL EQUIPMENT IN WHICH THE 
DEBTOR NOW OR HEREAFTER HAS RIGHTS, AND ALL RIGHTS OF THE DEBTOR IN 
AND TO ALL MONEY OR OTHER VALUE WHICH IS NOW PAYABLE OR WHICH MAY 
BECOME HEREAFTER PAYABLE UNDER SUCH INSURANCE POLICIES AS 
INDEMNITY OR COMPENSATION FOR LOSS OF OR DAMAGE TO THE RAILCARS;

Current

4 ANY SUBLEASES OR OTHER AGREEMENTS NOW OR HEREAFTER ENTERED INTO 
BETWEEN THE DEBTOR AND ANY THIRD PARTY IN RESPECT OF THE RAILCARS 
AND ALL RIGHTS, INTEREST, BENEFITS, RENTS, PROFITS AND MONEY RELATING 
THERETO;

Current

5 ALL PROCEEDS THAT ARE GOODS, INTANGIBLES, INVESTMENT PROPERTY, 
DOCUMENTS OF TITLE, CHATTEL PAPER, INSTRUMENTS OR MONEY (AND TERMS 
USED HEREIN THAT ARE DEFINED IN THE PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY ACT 
OF ALBERTA OR ITS REGULATIONS HAVE THOSE DEFINED MEANINGS).

Current
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                                                                      Page:   1

                           BC OnLine: PPRS SEARCH RESULT             2020/06/08
Lterm: XPSP0050       For: PH43818  DYE AND DURHAM CORPORATION         09:42:40

                                                   Index: BUSINESS DEBTOR
Search Criteria: NORTHERN SILICA CORPORATION

       No registered liens or encumbrances have been found on file
       that match to the search criteria listed above.

*******************************************************************************

  Some, but not all, tax liens and other Crown claims are registered at the
  Personal Property Registry (PPR) and if registered, will be displayed on
  this search result.  HOWEVER, it is possible that a particular chattel is
  subject to a Crown claim that is not registered at the PPR.  Please consult
  the Miscellaneous Registrations Act, 1992 for more details.  If you are
  concerned that a particular chattel may be subject to a Crown claim not
  registered at the PPR, please consult the agency administering the type
  of Crown claim.

>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>> END OF SEARCH <<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<



                                                                      Page:   1

                           BC OnLine: PPRS SEARCH RESULT             2020/06/08
Lterm: XPSP0050       For: PH43818  DYE AND DURHAM CORPORATION         09:46:11

                                                   Index: BUSINESS DEBTOR
Search Criteria: HEEMSKIRK MINING PTY LTD.

       No registered liens or encumbrances have been found on file
       that match to the search criteria listed above.

*******************************************************************************

  Some, but not all, tax liens and other Crown claims are registered at the
  Personal Property Registry (PPR) and if registered, will be displayed on
  this search result.  HOWEVER, it is possible that a particular chattel is
  subject to a Crown claim that is not registered at the PPR.  Please consult
  the Miscellaneous Registrations Act, 1992 for more details.  If you are
  concerned that a particular chattel may be subject to a Crown claim not
  registered at the PPR, please consult the agency administering the type
  of Crown claim.

>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>> END OF SEARCH <<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<



                           BC OnLine: PPRS SEARCH RESULT             2020/06/08
Lterm: XPSP0050       For: PH43818  DYE AND DURHAM CORPORATION         09:10:25

                                                   Index: BUSINESS DEBTOR
List of matches:

Exact: HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED
Exact: HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED

                                                                      Page:   1

                           BC OnLine: PPRS SEARCH RESULT             2020/06/08
Lterm: XPSP0050       For: PH43818  DYE AND DURHAM CORPORATION         09:10:25

                                                   Index: BUSINESS DEBTOR
Search Criteria: HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED

**************** P P S A   S E C U R I T Y   A G R E E M E N T ****************

            Reg. Date: FEB 09, 2016          Reg. Length: 7 YEARS
            Reg. Time: 15:49:03              Expiry Date: FEB 09, 2023
          Base Reg. #: 104165J                 Control #: D3592670
Block#

 S0001  Secured Party: TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V.
                       JACHTHAVENWEG 109H, 1081 KM
                       AMSTERDAM NETH

=D0001    Base Debtor: HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED
            (Business) STE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
                       CALGARY AB  T2G 2H8

        General Collateral:
         ALL OF THE DEBTOR'S PRESENT AND AFTER-ACQUIRED PERSONAL PROPERTY,
         AND AN UNCRYSTALLIZED FLOATING CHARGE ON LAND.
         THE FULL ADDRESS FOR THE DEBTOR IS:
         HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED
         C/O HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED
         SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
         CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

          Registering
                Party: STIKEMAN ELLIOTT LLP
                       1700-666 BURRARD STREET
                       VANCOUVER BC  V6C 2X8

**************** P P S A   S E C U R I T Y   A G R E E M E N T ****************

            Reg. Date: NOV 28, 2019          Reg. Length: 7 YEARS
            Reg. Time: 07:27:23              Expiry Date: NOV 28, 2026
          Base Reg. #: 919767L                 Control #: D6465579
Block#

 S0001  Secured Party: QMETCO LIMITED
                       LEVEL 12, 300 QUEEN STREET
                       BRISBANE, QLD XX  AUS

=D0001    Base Debtor: HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED
            (Business) SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
                       CALGARY AB  T2G 2H8

        General Collateral:
         ALL OF THE DEBTOR'S PRESENT AND AFTER-ACQUIRED PERSONAL PROPERTY, AND
         AN UNCRYSTALLIZED FLOATING CHARGE ON LAND.
         .
         THE SECURITY INTEREST IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF A PRIORITY DEED DATED
         ON OR ABOUT NOVEMBER 30, 2019 BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY, AS SENIOR

                                                           Continued on Page  2

Search Criteria: HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED                     Page:  2

         LENDER, THE DEBTOR, AND TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V., AS SUBORDINATED
         LENDER.
         .
         THE COMPLETE ADDRESS OF DEBTOR IS: HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED
         C/O HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED, SUITE 204, 1212-1ST
         STREET SE, CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

          Registering
                Party: OSLER, HOSKIN & HARCOURT LLP (D.
                       SARIC/L. GIDARI/1205881)
                       1 FIRST CANADIAN PL, STE 6200
                       TORONTO ON  M5X 1B8



*******************************************************************************

  Some, but not all, tax liens and other Crown claims are registered at the
  Personal Property Registry (PPR) and if registered, will be displayed on
  this search result.  HOWEVER, it is possible that a particular chattel is
  subject to a Crown claim that is not registered at the PPR.  Please consult
  the Miscellaneous Registrations Act, 1992 for more details.  If you are
  concerned that a particular chattel may be subject to a Crown claim not
  registered at the PPR, please consult the agency administering the type
  of Crown claim.

>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>> END OF SEARCH <<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<



                           BC OnLine: PPRS SEARCH RESULT             2020/06/08
Lterm: XPSP0050       For: PH43818  DYE AND DURHAM CORPORATION         09:44:18

                                                   Index: BUSINESS DEBTOR
List of matches:

Exact: HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
Exact: HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
Exact: HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
Exact: HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
Exact: HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED

Similar: HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED
Similar: HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED

                                                                      Page:   1

                           BC OnLine: PPRS SEARCH RESULT             2020/06/08
Lterm: XPSP0050       For: PH43818  DYE AND DURHAM CORPORATION         09:44:18

                                                   Index: BUSINESS DEBTOR
Search Criteria: HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED

**************** P P S A   S E C U R I T Y   A G R E E M E N T ****************

            Reg. Date: FEB 09, 2016          Reg. Length: 7 YEARS
            Reg. Time: 15:49:03              Expiry Date: FEB 09, 2023
          Base Reg. #: 104165J                 Control #: D3592670

       This registration was selected and included for your protection
       because of close proximity to your search criteria.
Block#

 S0001  Secured Party: TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V.
                       JACHTHAVENWEG 109H, 1081 KM
                       AMSTERDAM NETH

=D0001    Base Debtor: HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED
            (Business) STE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
                       CALGARY AB  T2G 2H8

        General Collateral:
         ALL OF THE DEBTOR'S PRESENT AND AFTER-ACQUIRED PERSONAL PROPERTY,
         AND AN UNCRYSTALLIZED FLOATING CHARGE ON LAND.
         THE FULL ADDRESS FOR THE DEBTOR IS:
         HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED
         C/O HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED
         SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
         CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

          Registering
                Party: STIKEMAN ELLIOTT LLP
                       1700-666 BURRARD STREET
                       VANCOUVER BC  V6C 2X8

**************** P P S A   S E C U R I T Y   A G R E E M E N T ****************

            Reg. Date: FEB 09, 2016          Reg. Length: 7 YEARS
            Reg. Time: 15:51:08              Expiry Date: FEB 09, 2023
          Base Reg. #: 104172J                 Control #: D3592684
Block#

 S0001  Secured Party: TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V.
                       JACHTHAVENWEG 109H, 1081 KM
                       AMSTERDAM NETH

=D0001    Base Debtor: HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
            (Business) STE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
                       CALGARY AB  T2G 2H8

        General Collateral:
         ALL OF THE DEBTOR'S PRESENT AND AFTER-ACQUIRED PERSONAL PROPERTY,
         AND AN UNCRYSTALLIZED FLOATING CHARGE ON LAND.
         THE FULL ADDRESS FOR THE DEBTOR IS:
         HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
         C/O HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED

                                                           Continued on Page  2

Search Criteria: HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED                              Page:  2

         SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
         CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

          Registering
                Party: STIKEMAN ELLIOTT LLP
                       1700-666 BURRARD STREET



                       VANCOUVER BC  V6C 2X8

**************** P P S A   S E C U R I T Y   A G R E E M E N T ****************

            Reg. Date: FEB 09, 2016          Reg. Length: 7 YEARS
            Reg. Time: 15:56:42              Expiry Date: FEB 09, 2023
          Base Reg. #: 104183J                 Control #: D3593315
Block#

 S0001  Secured Party: TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V.
                       JACHTHAVENWEG 109H, 1081 KM
                       AMSTERDAM NETH

=D0001    Base Debtor: HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
            (Business) STE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
                       CALGARY AB  T2G 2H8

        General Collateral:
         (I)  ALL SECURITIES (AS DEFINED IN THE PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY
         ACT (BRITISH COLUMBIA)), SECURITY ENTITLEMENTS (AS DEFINED IN THE
         PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY ACT (BRITISH COLUMBIA)) AND OTHER
         EQUITY INTERESTS ISSUED BY OR WITH RESPECT TO HCA MOUNTAIN
         MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED IN WHICH THE DEBTOR NOW OR IN THE
         FUTURE HAS ANY RIGHT, TITLE OR INTEREST, INCLUDING ALL ASSETS,
         PROPERTY AND UNDERTAKING RELATED TO SUCH SECURITIES, SECURITY
         ENTITLEMENTS AND OTHER EQUITY INTERESTS (THE "PLEDGED PROPERTY");
         (II)  ALL CERTIFICATES AND INSTRUMENTS EVIDENCING OR REPRESENTING
         THE PLEDGED PROPERTY;
         (III) ALL INTEREST, DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS (WHETHER IN CASH,
         KIND OR STOCK) RECEIVED OR RECEIVABLE UPON OR WITH RESPECT TO ANY
         OF THE PLEDGED PROPERTY AND ALL MONEYS OR OTHER PROPERTY PAYABLE
         OR PAID ON ACCOUNT OF ANY RETURN OR REPAYMENT OF CAPITAL WITH
         RESPECT TO ANY OF THE PLEDGED PROPERTY OR OTHERWISE DISTRIBUTED
         WITH RESPECT THERETO OR WHICH WILL IN ANY WAY BE CHARGED TO, OR
         PAYABLE OR PAID OUT OF, THE CAPITAL OF HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS
         (MOBERLY) LIMITED ON ACCOUNT OF ANY SUCH PLEDGED PROPERTY;
         (IV)  ALL OTHER PROPERTY THAT MAY AT ANY TIME BE RECEIVED OR
         RECEIVABLE BY OR OTHERWISE DISTRIBUTED TO THE DEBTOR WITH RESPECT
         TO, OR IN SUBSTITUTION FOR, OR IN EXCHANGE OR REPLACEMENT FOR,
         ANY OF THE FOREGOING; AND
         (V)  ALL PROCEEDS OF ANY OF THE FOREGOING.
         PROCEEDS: GOODS, CHATTEL PAPER, INVESTMENT PROPERTY, DOCUMENTS OF
         TITLE, INSTRUMENTS, MONEY AND INTANGIBLES.
         THE FULL ADDRESS FOR THE DEBTOR IS:
         HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
         C/O HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED
         SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
         CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

          Registering
                Party: STIKEMAN ELLIOTT LLP
                       1700-666 BURRARD STREET
                       VANCOUVER BC  V6C 2X8

                                                           Continued on Page  3

Search Criteria: HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED                              Page:  3

**************** P P S A   S E C U R I T Y   A G R E E M E N T ****************

            Reg. Date: JUL 23, 2018          Reg. Length: 3 YEARS
            Reg. Time: 12:04:55              Expiry Date: JUL 23, 2021
          Base Reg. #: 912094K                 Control #: D5438925
Block#

 S0001  Secured Party: JACK CARTER CHEVROLET CADILLAC
                       11555 29 STREET SE
                       CALGARY AB  T2Z0N4

=D0001    Base Debtor: HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
            (Business) 204, 1212 1 STREET SE
                       CALGARY AB  T2G2H8

        Vehicle Collateral:
        Type               Serial #    Year         Make/Model         MH Reg.#

 V0001   MV          3GCUKSECXHG272749 2017  CHEVROLET SILVERADO 1500

**************** P P S A   S E C U R I T Y   A G R E E M E N T ****************

            Reg. Date: NOV 28, 2019          Reg. Length: 7 YEARS
            Reg. Time: 06:41:40              Expiry Date: NOV 28, 2026
          Base Reg. #: 919664L                 Control #: D6465472
Block#

 S0001  Secured Party: QMETCO LIMITED
                       LEVEL 12, 300 QUEEN STREET



                       BRISBANE, QLD XX  AUS

=D0001    Base Debtor: HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
            (Business) SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
                       CALGARY AB  T2G 2H8

        General Collateral:
         ALL OF THE DEBTOR'S PRESENT AND AFTER-ACQUIRED PERSONAL PROPERTY, AND
         AN UNCRYSTALLIZED FLOATING CHARGE ON LAND.
         .
         THE SECURITY INTEREST IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF A PRIORITY DEED DATED
         ON OR ABOUT NOVEMBER 30, 2019 BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY, AS SENIOR
         LENDER, THE DEBTOR, AND TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V., AS SUBORDINATED
         LENDER.
         .
         THE COMPLETE ADDRESS OF DEBTOR IS: HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED C/O HCA
         MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED, SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE,
         CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

          Registering
                Party: OSLER, HOSKIN & HARCOURT LLP (D.
                       SARIC/L. GIDARI/1205881)
                       1 FIRST CANADIAN PL, STE 6200
                       TORONTO ON  M5X 1B8

                                                           Continued on Page  4

Search Criteria: HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED                              Page:  4

**************** P P S A   S E C U R I T Y   A G R E E M E N T ****************

            Reg. Date: NOV 28, 2019          Reg. Length: 7 YEARS
            Reg. Time: 07:25:32              Expiry Date: NOV 28, 2026
          Base Reg. #: 919764L                 Control #: D6465574
Block#

 S0001  Secured Party: QMETCO LIMITED
                       LEVEL 12, 300 QUEEN STREET
                       BRISBANE, QLD XX  AUS

=D0001    Base Debtor: HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED
            (Business) SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
                       CALGARY AB  T2G 2H8

        General Collateral:
         (I) ALL SECURITIES (AS DEFINED IN THE PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY ACT
         (BRITISH COLUMBIA)), SECURITY ENTITLEMENTS (AS DEFINED IN THE PERSONAL
         PROPERTY SECURITY ACT (BRITISH COLUMBIA)) AND OTHER EQUITY INTERESTS
         ISSUED BY OR WITH RESPECT TO HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED
         IN WHICH THE DEBTOR NOW OR IN THE FUTURE HAS ANY RIGHT, TITLE OR
         INTEREST, INCLUDING ALL ASSETS, PROPERTY AND UNDERTAKING RELATED TO
         SUCH SECURITIES, SECURITY ENTITLEMENTS AND OTHER EQUITY INTERESTS (THE
         "PLEDGED PROPERTY");
         (II) ALL CERTIFICATES AND INSTRUMENTS EVIDENCING OR REPRESENTING THE
         PLEDGED PROPERTY;
         (III) ALL INTEREST, DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS (WHETHER IN CASH, KIND
         OR STOCK) RECEIVED OR RECEIVABLE UPON OR WITH RESPECT TO ANY OF THE
         PLEDGED PROPERTY AND ALL MONEYS OR OTHER PROPERTY PAYABLE OR PAID ON
         ACCOUNT OF ANY RETURN OR REPAYMENT OF CAPITAL WITH RESPECT TO ANY OF
         THE PLEDGED PROPERTY OR OTHERWISE DISTRIBUTED WITH RESPECT THERETO OR
         WHICH WILL IN ANY WAY BE CHARGED TO, OR PAYABLE OR PAID OUT OF, THE
         CAPITAL OF HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED ON ACCOUNT OF ANY
         SUCH PLEDGED PROPERTY;
         (IV) ALL OTHER PROPERTY THAT MAY AT ANY TIME BE RECEIVED OR RECEIVABLE
         BY OR OTHERWISE DISTRIBUTED TO THE DEBTOR WITH RESPECT TO, OR IN
         SUBSTITUTION FOR, OR IN EXCHANGE OR REPLACEMENT FOR, ANY OF THE
         FOREGOING; AND
         (V) ALL PROCEEDS OF ANY OF THE FOREGOING.
         .
         PROCEEDS: GOODS, CHATTEL PAPER, INVESTMENT PROPERTY, DOCUMENTS OF
         TITLE, INSTRUMENTS, MONEY AND INTANGIBLES.
         .
         THE SECURITY INTEREST IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF A PRIORITY DEED DATED
         ON OR ABOUT NOVEMBER 30, 2019 BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY, AS SENIOR
         LENDER, THE DEBTOR, AND TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V., AS SUBORDINATED
         LENDER.
         .
         THE COMPLETE ADDRESS OF DEBTOR IS: HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED C/O HCA
         MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED, SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE,
         CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

          Registering



                Party: OSLER, HOSKIN & HARCOURT LLP (D.
                       SARIC/L. GIDARI/1205881)
                       1 FIRST CANADIAN PL, STE 6200
                       TORONTO ON  M5X 1B8

                                                           Continued on Page  5
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**************** P P S A   S E C U R I T Y   A G R E E M E N T ****************

            Reg. Date: NOV 28, 2019          Reg. Length: 7 YEARS
            Reg. Time: 07:27:23              Expiry Date: NOV 28, 2026
          Base Reg. #: 919767L                 Control #: D6465579

       This registration was selected and included for your protection
       because of close proximity to your search criteria.
Block#

 S0001  Secured Party: QMETCO LIMITED
                       LEVEL 12, 300 QUEEN STREET
                       BRISBANE, QLD XX  AUS

=D0001    Base Debtor: HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED
            (Business) SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
                       CALGARY AB  T2G 2H8

        General Collateral:
         ALL OF THE DEBTOR'S PRESENT AND AFTER-ACQUIRED PERSONAL PROPERTY, AND
         AN UNCRYSTALLIZED FLOATING CHARGE ON LAND.
         .
         THE SECURITY INTEREST IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF A PRIORITY DEED DATED
         ON OR ABOUT NOVEMBER 30, 2019 BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY, AS SENIOR
         LENDER, THE DEBTOR, AND TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V., AS SUBORDINATED
         LENDER.
         .
         THE COMPLETE ADDRESS OF DEBTOR IS: HEEMSKIRK CANADA HOLDINGS LIMITED
         C/O HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED, SUITE 204, 1212-1ST
         STREET SE, CALGARY, AB T2G 2H8

          Registering
                Party: OSLER, HOSKIN & HARCOURT LLP (D.
                       SARIC/L. GIDARI/1205881)
                       1 FIRST CANADIAN PL, STE 6200
                       TORONTO ON  M5X 1B8

*******************************************************************************

  Some, but not all, tax liens and other Crown claims are registered at the
  Personal Property Registry (PPR) and if registered, will be displayed on
  this search result.  HOWEVER, it is possible that a particular chattel is
  subject to a Crown claim that is not registered at the PPR.  Please consult
  the Miscellaneous Registrations Act, 1992 for more details.  If you are
  concerned that a particular chattel may be subject to a Crown claim not
  registered at the PPR, please consult the agency administering the type
  of Crown claim.

>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>> END OF SEARCH <<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<



                           BC OnLine: PPRS SEARCH RESULT             2020/06/08
Lterm: XPSP0050       For: PH43818  DYE AND DURHAM CORPORATION         09:11:58

                                                   Index: BUSINESS DEBTOR
List of matches:

Exact: HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED
Exact: HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED
Exact: HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED
Exact: HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED

                                                                      Page:   1

                           BC OnLine: PPRS SEARCH RESULT             2020/06/08
Lterm: XPSP0050       For: PH43818  DYE AND DURHAM CORPORATION         09:11:58

                                                   Index: BUSINESS DEBTOR
Search Criteria: HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED

**************** P P S A   S E C U R I T Y   A G R E E M E N T ****************

            Reg. Date: FEB 09, 2016          Reg. Length: 7 YEARS
            Reg. Time: 15:52:44              Expiry Date: FEB 09, 2023
          Base Reg. #: 104174J                 Control #: D3592697
Block#

 S0001  Secured Party: TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V.
                       JACHTHAVENWEG 109H, 1081 KM
                       AMSTERDAM NETH

=D0001    Base Debtor: HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY)
            (Business) LIMITED
                       STE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
                       CALGARY AB  T2G 2H8

        General Collateral:
         ALL OF THE DEBTOR'S PRESENT AND AFTER-ACQUIRED PERSONAL PROPERTY,
         AND AN UNCRYSTALLIZED FLOATING CHARGE ON LAND.

          Registering
                Party: STIKEMAN ELLIOTT LLP
                       1700-666 BURRARD STREET
                       VANCOUVER BC  V6C 2X8

**************** P P S A   S E C U R I T Y   A G R E E M E N T ****************

            Reg. Date: APR 26, 2019          Reg. Length: 2 YEARS
            Reg. Time: 06:05:39              Expiry Date: APR 26, 2021
          Base Reg. #: 458680L                 Control #: D5995995
Block#

 S0001  Secured Party: RCAP LEASING INC.
                       5575 NORTH SERVICE RD, STE 300
                       BURLINGTON ON  L7L 6M1

=D0001    Base Debtor: HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY)
            (Business) LIMITED
                       8888-665 8 ST SW
                       CALGARY AB  T2P 3K7

 D0002    Bus. Debtor: HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY)
                       LIMITED
                       1725 BLAEBERRY RIVER ROAD EAST
                       GOLDEN BC  V0A 1H1

        General Collateral:
         ALL WIRELESS COMMUNICATION EQUIPMENT FROM TIME TO TIME LEASED BY THE
         SECURED PARTY TO THE DEBTOR AS DESCRIBED ON LEASES, CONDITIONAL SALES
         AGREEMENTS AND ANY OTHER FINANCING AGREEMENTS ENTERED INTO BETWEEN
         THESECURED PARTY AND THE DEBTOR FROM TIME TO TIME AND ANY PROCEEDS
         THEREOF, TOGETHER WITH ALL REPLACEMENT PARTS, ACCESSORIES AND
         ATTACHMENTS.

                                                           Continued on Page  2

Search Criteria: HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY) LIMITED               Page:  2

          Registering
                Party: (REGISTRY=RECOVERY) TM INC.
                       1551 THE QUEENSWAY
                       TORONTO ON  M8Z 1T8

**************** P P S A   S E C U R I T Y   A G R E E M E N T ****************

            Reg. Date: NOV 28, 2019          Reg. Length: 7 YEARS
            Reg. Time: 06:37:08              Expiry Date: NOV 28, 2026



          Base Reg. #: 919606L                 Control #: D6465410
Block#

 S0001  Secured Party: QMETCO LIMITED
                       LEVEL 12, 300 QUEEN STREET
                       BRISBANE, QLD XX  AUS

=D0001    Base Debtor: HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS (MOBERLY)
            (Business) LIMITED
                       SUITE 204, 1212-1ST STREET SE
                       CALGARY AB  T2G 2H8

        General Collateral:
         ALL OF THE DEBTOR'S PRESENT AND AFTER-ACQUIRED PERSONAL PROPERTY, AND
         AN UNCRYSTALLIZED FLOATING CHARGE ON LAND.
         .
         THE SECURITY INTEREST IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF A PRIORITY DEED DATED
         ON OR ABOUT NOVEMBER 30, 2019 BETWEEN THE SECURED PARTY, AS SENIOR
         LENDER, THE DEBTOR, AND TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V., AS SUBORDINATED
         LENDER.

          Registering
                Party: OSLER, HOSKIN & HARCOURT LLP (D.
                       SARIC/L. GIDARI/1205881)
                       1 FIRST CANADIAN PL, STE 6200
                       TORONTO ON  M5X 1B8

*******************************************************************************

  Some, but not all, tax liens and other Crown claims are registered at the
  Personal Property Registry (PPR) and if registered, will be displayed on
  this search result.  HOWEVER, it is possible that a particular chattel is
  subject to a Crown claim that is not registered at the PPR.  Please consult
  the Miscellaneous Registrations Act, 1992 for more details.  If you are
  concerned that a particular chattel may be subject to a Crown claim not
  registered at the PPR, please consult the agency administering the type
  of Crown claim.

>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>> END OF SEARCH <<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<



                                                                      Page:   1

                           BC OnLine: PPRS SEARCH RESULT             2020/06/09
Lterm: XPSP0050       For: PH43818  DYE AND DURHAM CORPORATION         09:10:37

                                                   Index: BUSINESS DEBTOR
Search Criteria: CUSTOM BULK SERVICES INC.

       No registered liens or encumbrances have been found on file
       that match to the search criteria listed above.

*******************************************************************************

  Some, but not all, tax liens and other Crown claims are registered at the
  Personal Property Registry (PPR) and if registered, will be displayed on
  this search result.  HOWEVER, it is possible that a particular chattel is
  subject to a Crown claim that is not registered at the PPR.  Please consult
  the Miscellaneous Registrations Act, 1992 for more details.  If you are
  concerned that a particular chattel may be subject to a Crown claim not
  registered at the PPR, please consult the agency administering the type
  of Crown claim.

>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>> END OF SEARCH <<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<<
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Click here to go back to the titles search page.
 

Please select from the list of owners matching the criteria to continue the search.

Owner Number  Owner Name  View
Titles

 View Client
Details
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LIMITED  Titles  Client Details
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Mineral Titles Online Viewer
 

Search criteria:

Criteria 
Owner

201153

 
Click here to go back to the previous page
Click here to go back to the titles search page.

Search results:     Download to Excel (all results)

Total 8 titles are found.

Title
Number

Claim
Name Owner Title

Type

Title
Sub
Type

Map
Number Issue Date Good To

Date Status Area
(ha

213089   CONTACT 201153  100% Mineral Claim 082N036 1976/NOV/01 2022/JUL/01 GOOD 150.0

213090   SANDY 201153  100% Mineral Claim 082N036 1976/NOV/01 2022/JUL/01 GOOD 375.0

213099   PAX 201153  100% Mineral Claim 082N036 1978/APR/05 2022/JUL/01 GOOD 200.0

213195   ACCESS 1 201153  100% Mineral Claim 082N036 1980/OCT/21 2022/JUL/01 GOOD 450.0

338588   RALF #1 201153  100% Mineral Claim 082N036 1995/AUG/10 2022/JUL/01 GOOD 500.0

344488  201153  100% Mineral Lease 082N036 1996/OCT/08 2020/OCT/08 PROTECTED 70.77

576995   SOLAR 201153  100% Mineral Claim 082N 2008/FEB/23 2022/JUL/01 GOOD 40.35

1070999
 
NORTHERN
SILICA

201153  100% Mineral Claim 082N 2019/SEP/12 2022/JUL/01 GOOD 988.9

Total 8 titles are foun
 
Click here to go back to the previous page
Click here to go back to the titles search page.
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Northern Silica Corporation 

Consolidated Financial Statements 

As at and for the years ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 



“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership. 
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Northern Silica Corporation
Consolidated statements of financial position

(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Going concern (Note1) 
Commitments (Note18) 
Subsequent Events (Note 21) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors: 

“Signed” “Signed” 
Martin Boland  Scott Broughton 
Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee Director, President & Chief Executive Officer   

2019 2018

Note September 30 September 30

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5 1,438$             11,397$            

Accounts receivable & prepaid expenses 6, 16 1,919 832

Inventory 7 4,924 6,684

Total Current Assets 8,281 18,913

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 8 52,225 105,040

Intangible assets 9 1,763 1,825

Total non-current assets 53,988 106,865

Total Assets 62,269$           125,778$          

Equity and liabilities

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 10 5,020$             9,095$             

Provisions 10 40 136

Current portion of long-term debt 11 64,178 46,003

Total Current Liabilities 69,238 55,234

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 13 - 276

Long-term debt 11 - 190

Provisions 12 261 265

Total non-current Liabilities 261 731

Total Liabilities 69,499$           55,965$            

Equity

Issued Capital 14 88,110 77,585

Deficit (95,704) (8,136)

Non-controlling interest 364 364

Total Equity (7,230)$            69,813$            

Total Equity and Liabilities 62,269$           125,778$          
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Northern Silica Corporation
Consolidated statements of loss and other comprehensive loss 

(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

2019 2018 2019 2018

Note September 30 September 30 September 30 September 30

Silica sales revenue 20 1,068$         12$           2,546$          20$              

Transloading services revenue 20 86 158 485 221

1,154 170 3,031 241

Cost of sales

  Direct operating 10,241 724 14,753 1,303

  Storage and logistics 934 10 1,725 19

11,175 734 16,478 1,322

Gross loss (10,021) (564) (13,447) (1,081)

General and administrative costs 965 880 3,751 2,818

Depreciation and amortization 8,9 982 269 2,985 705

Other income (9) (2) (16) (5)

1,939 1,147 6,720 3,518

Operating loss (11,960) (1,711) (20,167) (4,599)

Finance costs 2,179 49 5,534 1,968

Loss on foreign exchange 549 (583) 466 1,195

Asset impairment 8 39,127 - 41,397 -

Mine development impairment 8 20,280 - 20,280 -

Loss on sale of assets - - - 3

Transaction costs and other non-recurring items - 69 - 258

Realized loss on portfolio investments - (1) - 305

62,135 (466) 67,677 3,729

Loss before income tax (74,095) (1,245) (87,844) (8,328)

Income tax (recovery) expense 13 (276) 26 (276) 31

Loss and comprenensive loss (73,818) (1,271) (87,568) (8,359)

Other comprehensive income (loss) - - - -

Total comprehensive loss (73,818)$      (1,271)$     (87,568)$       (8,359)$         

For the three months ended For the tw elve months ended
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Northern Silica Corporation
Consolidated statements of changes in equity

(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Issued capital

Retained 

earnings 

Non-

controlling 

interest

Total

Equity

Balance at September 30, 2017 42,367$      223$           364$         42,954$      

Additions during the period 35,218 - - 35,218

Loss for the twelve months ended September 30, 2018 - (8,359) - (8,359)

Balance at September 30, 2018 77,585$      (8,136)$       364$         69,813$      

Additions during the period 10,525 - - 10,525

Loss for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019 - (87,568) - (87,568)

Balance at September 30, 2019 88,110$      (95,704)$      364$         (7,230)$       
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Northern Silica Corporation 

Consolidated statements of cash flows

 (Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

2019 2018 2019 2018

Note September 30 September 30 September 30 September 30

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities

Loss before income taxes (73,818)$      (1,240)$       (87,844)$      (8,328)$     

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:

Depreciation and amortization 982 269 2,985 705

Gain on sale of assets - 36 - 3

Asset impairment 39,127 - 41,397 -

Mine development impairment 20,280 - 20,280 -

Unrealised loss on sale of portfolio investments - (1) - 305

Unrealised loss on foreign exchange 548 (582) 466 1,196

Sparte parts usage 1,056 - 1,056 -

Reclamation liability adjustment (9) - (9) -

Add: finance costs 2,436 50 5,534 1,968

Changes in non-cash working capital 15 583 (3,583) (237) (933)

Net cash flows provided by (used) in operating activities (8,815) (5,056) (16,372) (5,084)

Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities

Assets acquired on corporate acquisition - - - (2,575)

Disposal of portfolio investments - - - 1,085

Disposal of property, plant and equipment - 13 - 49

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,151) (5,042) (10,942) (21,055)

Changes in non-cash working capital 15 266 1,049 (3,263) 2,935

Net cash flows from investing activities (885) (3,980) (14,205) (19,561)

Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities

Private placement - 34,709 10,525 34,719

Proceeds from working capital facilities 10,530 - 10,530 11,000

Proceeds from loan note subscription - - - 4,400

Payments of working capital facilities - (18,016) - (18,016)

Payments of term loans (90) (29) (179) (80)

Proceeds from finance leases - - - 49

Payments of finance leases (78) (76) (258) (305)

Net cash flows from financing activities 10,363 16,588 20,618 31,767

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents 662 7,552 (9,959) 7,122

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning 1,054 3,847 11,397 4,276

Effects of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents - (1) - (1)

Cash and cash equivalents - ending 5 1,716$         11,398$      1,438$         11,397$    

For the three months ended For the tw elve months ended



Northern Silica Corporation 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the period ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018 
(All amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted) 
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Corporate Information 

Northern Silica Corporation (the “Company”) is a privately held Canadian resource company incorporated in 

Alberta, Canada. The address of the registered office is 1212 - 1st Street SE, Suite 204, Calgary, Alberta.  The 

Company was incorporated on December 1, 2016.  These consolidated financial statements as at September 

30, 2019 and September 30, 2018, and for the three months ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 

2018 (the "Financial Statements") are comprised of Northern Silica Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries 

(together referred to as the "Company").  The Company manages two operating segments (Note 20). The 

Moberly Silica Mine division’s (“Moberly Mine”) principal activity is the operations of the Moberly mine and 

processing plant located near Golden, British Columbia.  The Transload segment provides transloading and 

storage services and is strategically located in Penhold, Alberta. 

The following entities have been consolidated within Northern Silica Corporation’s consolidated financial 

statements for the periods ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018: 

Subsidiaries  Country 
Functional 
Currency Segment 

% interest at 
September 30, 

2019 (September 
30, 2018) 

Northern Silica Corporation Canada CDN Corporate 

Heemskirk Mining Pty Ltd Canada CDN Corporate    100% (100%) 

Heemskirk Canada Limited Canada CDN Corporate     100% (100%) 

Heemskirk Canada Holdings Limited Canada CDN Moberly Mine     100% (100%) 

HCA Mountain Minerals (Moberly) Limited Canada CDN Moberly Mine     100% (100%) 

Custom Bulk Services Inc. Canada CDN Transload     100% (100%) 

1. Going Concern  

The financial statements of the Company are prepared using International Financial Reporting Standards 

(“IFRS”) as they apply to a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and discharge of 

liabilities in the normal course of business as they become due.    

The Company incurred a net loss for the twelve months ending September 30, 2019 of $87.6 million and had a 

working capital deficiency of $61.0 million as at September 30, 2019. The Company relies upon funding from its 

largest shareholder (Taurus Resources No.2 B.V. or “Taurus”) and other shareholders. As at September 30, 

2019, the Company did not meet certain covenants on its Taurus Senior Secured Loan Facility (see Note 11) 

and accordingly, it was classified as a current liability. The Company is dependent on its shareholders not calling 

loan to continue as a going concern. 

The Company recorded a $59.4 million impairment on September 30, 2019 as a result of project delays and 

cost overruns on its Moberly Facility as well as weakened market conditions for frac sand, its major source of 

revenue.  The Company also recorded an impairment of $3.4 million on its inventory for the year ended 

September 30, 2019, and $2.3 million of assets were also impaired during the quarter ended March 31, 2019. 

Refer to notes 7 and 8 for more details.      

These circumstances cause significant doubt as to the ability of the Company to meet its obligations as they 

come due and, accordingly, the appropriateness of the use of accounting principles applicable to a going 

concern.  
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1. Going Concern (continued) 

These financial statements do not reflect the adjustments to the carrying values of the assets and liabilities, the 

reported amounts of revenues and expenses and the classification of the statement of financial position items if 

the going concern assumption was inappropriate.  These adjustments could be material 

The ability of the Company to carry out its planned business objectives is dependent on its ability to raise 

adequate financing from lenders, shareholders and other investors and/or achieving operating profitability and 

generating positive cash flows. 

Management has taken proactive steps to reduce cash outflows in the face of the current low market pricing for 

frac sand.  This includes a temporary shutdown of the Company’s Moberly processing facility from December 

4, 2019 to January 8, 2020 and sourcing new industrial customers for its products.  The Company will continue 

to evaluate the excepted stabilizing of frac sand market conditions during the first quarter of calendar 2020 to 

inform its operating strategy for the next 12 months.   

There is no assurance that the steps Management have taken will be successful in increasing cash flows.  

Continued soft pricing for frac sand could have a material effect on the Company to continue as a going concern.     

The Company executed an amended Deed to its Taurus Senior Loan Facility.  The Deed deferred the project 

completion test to January 21, 2019 and amended principal repayments in fiscal 2019 to one $0.15 million 

payment on June 20, 2018 and $0.15 million on September 30, 2019; and updates certain definitions relating to 

the calculation of operating income for the purpose of the base case financial model supporting its covenant 

calculations.  Subsequent to the amendment of the Deed, the Group received a waiver deferring the June and 

September principal payments to June 30, 2020 and the deferral of the project completion test to June 30, 2020 

as well as relief against its financial covenant violations.  

In order to ensure sufficient working capital to fund the production of silica inventories and capital project in 

2019, the Company announced in December 2018 a private placement of up to 46,666,667 common shares for 

proceeds of $3.5 million.  In relation to this placement, 17,892,000 shares for proceeds of $1.4 million were 

issued (see Note 14).  In February of 2019, a subsequent private placement was announced for up to 

160,000,000 common shares for proceeds of $12.0 million. The Company collected $9.1 million in proceeds and 

issued 121,484,855 shares in May 2019.   

On December 6, 2019, Management amended the QMetco loan facility to increase it to a maximum available 

amount of $18.0 million (see note 21). Management will rely on issuing private placements to support operations 

in fiscal 2020, however there is no assurance that these future private placements will be successful.   

2.     Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies 

Statement of compliance and basis of presentation 

These Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the 

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  

The financial report is presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency, and all values 

are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars unless otherwise stated.  These consolidated financial statements 

include the accounts of Northern Silica Corporation, and its wholly owned subsidiaries (See Note 1).  All inter-

company transactions have been eliminated.   
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2. Basis of presentation (continued) 

Non-controlling interest represents stock options issued by Heemskirk Mining Pty Ltd (“HSK”) to Taurus Funds 

Management Pty Ltd, a shareholder of Northern Silica Corporation.  The stock options were recorded at fair 2.1     

value at the time of the business acquisition in 2017 and are shown separately in the consolidated statement of 

financial position within equity.  The Company’s income or losses are not allocated to non-controlling interest 

given that potential voting rights from stock options require exercise or conversion. 

The presentation and classification of certain items in the financial statements have been revised for enhanced 

explanation to the users. 

The policies applied in these consolidated financial statements are based on IFRS issued and outstanding as 

at January 28, 2020, the date of the final approval of the financial statements by the Board of Directors. 

Basis of measurement 

The Financial Statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for portfolio investments and 

business combination accounting. The financial statements of the Company’s subsidiaries are prepared for the 

same reporting periods as the parent in accordance with the Company’s accounting policies.  

2.2    Significant accounting policies 

 (a)    Foreign currency translation 

Functional and presentation currency 

The Company’s Financial Statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the parent entity’s 

functional currency and the Company’s presentation currency. All other entities in the Company share the 

functional currency of Canadian dollars. 

Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate ruling at 

the date of the underlying transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 

retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All exchange 

differences are recognized in the statement of profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms 

of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial 

transactions. Non- monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

(b)    Inventories

Inventories represent finished goods, unprocessed but mined sand, work in process and sand available for 

shipment, as well as spare parts and supplies. The Company values inventory at the lower of cost or net 

realizable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average cost method. 

Cost includes the cost of mining the sand as well as the direct labor costs, utility costs, transportation costs, 

and other processing costs, as well as depreciation directly attributable to production equipment and 

depreciation of capitalized stripping activities. 
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2.2    Significant accounting policies (continued)

Materials and supplies are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  Any provision for obsolescence 

is determined by reference to specific stock items identified.  A regular and ongoing review is undertaken to 

establish the extent of surplus items and a provision is made for any potential loss on their disposal. 

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price less applicable selling expenses.  When the weighted average 

cost of inventories exceeds the net realizable value, inventory is written down to the net realizable value. All 

write downs are charged to cost of goods sold. The amount of the write down may be reversed (up to original

amount of the write down) when there is a change in the economic circumstances. 

(c)    Property, Plant & Equipment

All costs directly associated with the purchase and development of property, plant and equipment are 

capitalized and reflected at cost less accumulated depreciation and net impairment losses. Costs of replacing 

parts of property, plant and equipment are capitalized only when they increase the future economic benefits 

embodied in the specific assets to which they relate. All other expenditures are recognized into income as

incurred. The carrying amount of any replaced or sold component is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day 

servicing of property and equipment are recognized in the Financial Statements as incurred. 

Exchanges or swaps of property, plant and equipment are measured at fair value unless the transaction lacks 

commercial substance or neither the fair value of the asset received nor the asset given up can be reliably 

estimated. When fair value is not used, the cost of the acquired asset is measured at the carrying amount of 

the asset given up. Any gains or losses from the divestiture of property and equipment are recognized in the 

Financial Statements. 

Mine development

Mine development represents the expenditure incurred in preparing mines for production, and includes stripping 

and waste removal costs net of revenue recognized before commissioning date. Such expenditure comprises 

net direct costs and an appropriate allocation of directly related overhead costs. 

All expenditures incurred prior to commencement of production from the development property is carried 

forward to the extent to which it is probable associated future economic benefits will flow to the Company. 

When further development expenditure is incurred in respect of the mine property after commencement of 

production, such expenditure is carried forward as part of the cost of mine property only when future economic 

benefits are probable, otherwise the expenditure is classified as part of the cost of production and expensed as 

incurred. Such capitalized development expenditure is added to the total carrying value of mine development 

being amortized. 

The net carrying values of mine development expenditure carried forward are reviewed yearly by directors to 

determine whether there is any indication of impairment. The carrying value of mine development will be 

amortized in full on a unit of production basis over the life of the mine. 

Finance leases

Leased assets and assets under hire purchase contracts are pledged as security for the related finance lease 

and hire purchase liabilities. 

Freehold land
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Freehold land is recognized and valued at its initial cost.

2.2    Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Property, plant and equipment, buildings and other

Each class of property, plant and equipment, buildings and other is measured at cost less, where applicable, 

any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

The carrying values are reviewed for impairment indicators annually with recoverable amounts being estimated 

when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.  The recoverable 

amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows that will be received from the assets employed

and subsequent disposal.  The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in 

determining recoverable amounts. 

An asset’s carrying amount is immediately written down to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount 

is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount.  These gains 

and losses are included in the Financial Statements. 

Depreciation 

Items of plant and equipment and other, including buildings but excluding freehold land, are depreciated over 

their estimated useful lives. 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is provided using the straight-line method approximating their 

estimated useful lives in years as follows:   

Mine development                                                       30 to 40 years       
               Buildings                                                                      20 to 30 years 
               Plant and equipment                                                      5 to 20 years                                
               Computer and motor vehicles                                        1 to 10 years 

Land is not being depreciated. 

Depreciation of an asset or an asset under construction begins when it is available for use. Depreciation of an 

asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for sale and the date that the asset is 

derecognized. Depreciation does not cease when the asset becomes idle or is retired from active use unless 

the asset is fully depreciated. 

Drilling and related costs are capitalized for deposits where proven and probable reserves exist and the 

activities are directed at obtaining additional information on the deposit or converting non-reserve minerals to 

proven and probable reserves and the benefit is to be realized over a period that exceeds one year. 

Exploration, evaluation and feasibility expenditures

Exploration and evaluation expenditures related to areas of interest is capitalized and carried forward to the 

extent that: 

rights to the tenure of the area of interest are current; and  
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2.2    Significant accounting policies (continued) 

costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area of 
interest or alternatively by sale; or 

where activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable 
assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, active and significant 
operations in, or in relation to, the area are continuing. 

Such expenditures consists of an accumulation of acquisition costs and direct net exploration and evaluation 

costs incurred by or on behalf of the Company, together with an appropriate portion of directly related overhead 

expenditure.  

Feasibility expenditures represent costs related to the preparation and completion of a feasibility study to enable 

a development decision to be made in relation to an area of interest. 

At the commencement of production, all past exploration, evaluation and feasibility expenditures in respect of 

an area of interest is transferred to mine development where it is amortized over the life of the area of interest 

to which they relate. 

When an area of interest is abandoned or the directors decide it is not commercial, any accumulated costs in 

respect of that area are written off in the year the decision is made. Each area of interest is reviewed at the end 

of each reporting period and accumulated costs written off to the extent they are not expected to be recoverable 

in the future. 

(d)    Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired from a business combination are initially recorded at fair value (Note 9).  Fair value 

is estimated by management taking into account the best use associated with the intangible asset.   

Intangible assets with a finite life are amortized over the estimated useful life. 

Amortization 

Amortization of intangible assets are recorded on a straight line basis over the estimate useful life of the 

intangible assets which is estimated to be a 30 year life with (29 years currently remaining). 

(e)    Impairment of non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of all assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 

indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 

amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For 

the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 

identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets 

(cash-generating units - CGUs). 

The determination of a CGU is based on management’s judgment regarding geographical proximity, shared 

equipment and mobility of equipment.  
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2.2    Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Management periodically evaluates whether current events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of 

the property, plant and equipment assets may not be recoverable.  Recoverability of investments in property, 

plant and equipment, and mineral rights are evaluated annually.  Estimated future undiscounted net cash flows 

are calculated using estimates of proven and probable sand reserves, estimated future sales prices and 

operating costs and anticipated capital expenditures.  Reductions in the carrying value of our investment are 

only recorded if the undiscounted cash flows are less than our book basis in the applicable assets. 

Management’s estimates of prices, recoverable proven and probable reserves and operating and capital costs 

are subject to certain risks and uncertainties which may affect the recoverability of our investments in property, 

plant and equipment.  Although management has made its best estimate of these factors based on certain 

conditions, it is reasonably possible that changes could occur in the near term, which could adversely affect 

management’s estimate of net cash flows expected to be generated from its operating property. 

(f)    Revenue recognition 

Revenue, consists of silica sales, transload service revenue and other services.   

Obligations arising from silica sales are fulfilled when control of goods has passed to the purchaser, which is 

either when goods are picked up at the mine gate or Transload facility by the purchaser, or when goods have 

been physically delivered to a location specified by the purchaser.  At that point, the purchaser has full control 

over the goods and there is no unfulfilled obligation which could affect the purchaser’s acceptance of the 

products.   

Transload services include monthly rentals of storage space for the Company’s customers’ products.     

(g)    Finance revenue and costs 

Finance revenue, consisting of interest income, is recognized as it accrues in the Financial Statements, using 

the effective interest method. Finance costs comprises interest expense on borrowings and impairment losses 

recognized on financial assets. 

Amounts paid to financial institutions for the purpose of borrowing funds are capitalized upon recognition and 

are offset against the outstanding obligation to the financial institution. These costs are amortized over the 

remaining term of the facility placed. 

Borrowing costs, unrelated to PP&E and mine development, are recognized in the Financial Statements in the 
period in which they are incurred using the effective interest method. 

 (h)    Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that necessarily take 

a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until 

such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

All other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

 (i)    Income taxes 

Current tax 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 

recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities based on the current period's taxable income. The tax rates 
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2.2    2.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance 

sheet date. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases 

of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused 

tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 

which the deductible  temporary  differences  and  the  carry-forward  of  unused  tax  credits  and  unused  tax  

losses  can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the 

extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 

income tax asset to be utilized. 

Unrecognized deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognized to 

the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year 

when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 

or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Income taxes relating to items recognized directly in equity are recognized in equity and not in profit or loss. 

 (j)    Financial Instruments 

Recognition 

Financial assets and liabilities are generally initially recognized at fair value when the Company becomes a 

party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. However, where the fair value differs on initial recognition 

from the transaction price and the fair value is not measured using entirely observable inputs the instrument is 

recognized at the transaction price. In the case of instruments not measured at fair value through profit and 

loss, incremental, directly attributable transaction costs are accounted for as an adjustment to the carrying 

amount and in all other cases such transaction costs are expensed as incurred.   

The Company evaluates financial and non-financial contracts not measured at fair value through profit and loss 

to determine whether they contain embedded derivatives.  An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid 

(consolidated) instrument that also includes a non-derivative host contract with the effect that some of the cash 

flows of the consolidated instrument vary in a way similar to a stand-alone derivative.  For such instruments, an 

embedded derivative is separated where the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative 

are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract and a separate instrument 

with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative. 

Financial assets and liabilities are not offset unless they are with a counterparty for which the Company has a 

legally enforceable right to settle the financial instruments on a net basis and the Company intends to settle on 

a net basis.   

The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
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2.2    2.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The Company 

discloses more details about Financial Instruments in Notes 4 and 16.         

Derecognition 

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or it 

transfers the financial instrument in a manner that qualifies for derecognition through transfer of substantially 

all risks and rewards or transfer of control. 

Financial liabilities are derecognized upon extinguishment. A modification of a financial liability with an existing 

lender is evaluated to determine whether the amendment results in substantially different terms in which case 

it is accounted for as an extinguishment.

Classification 

The financial instruments of the Company are classified in the following categories: fair value through profit or 

loss (which includes financial assets and financial liabilities), loans and receivables, available-for-sale and other 

financial liabilities. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the 

short-term are classified as “fair value through profit or loss” and are recognized initially at fair value with 

changes in fair value recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and Other Comprehensive

Income (Loss).   

Financial assets classified as “available-for-sale” are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value 

recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).  Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that 

are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories.  The Company has no 

available-for-sale financial assets.    

Other financial liabilities include accounts payable and accruals and interest-bearing liabilities. Financial 

instruments in this category are initially recorded at fair value, net of any transaction costs incurred, and 

subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

Equity Instruments 

The Company’s common units are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 

common units are recognized as a reduction from equity.     

   Impairment  

At each balance sheet date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial assets, 

other than those designated as “fair value through the statement of income” are impaired. When impairment 

has occurred, the cumulative loss is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and Other 

Comprehensive Income (Loss). For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment 

loss recognized is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 

cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. When an available-for-sale 

financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in other 

comprehensive income are reclassified to the Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and Other 

Comprehensive Income (Loss) in the period. Impairment losses may be reversed in subsequent periods. 
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2.2  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(k)    Provisions 

The Company is required to decommission and rehabilitate mines at the end of their producing lives to a 

condition acceptable to the relevant authorities. 

The expected cost of any approved decommissioning or rehabilitation program, discounted to its net present 

value, is provided when the environmental disturbance occurs. The cost is capitalized when it gives rise to

future benefits, whether the rehabilitation activity is expected to occur over the life of the operation or at the 

time of closure. The capitalized cost is amortized over the life of the operation and the increase in the net 

present value of the provision for the expected cost is included in financing expenses. Expected 

decommissioning and rehabilitation costs are based on the discounted value, using a risk-free rate, of the 

estimated future cost of detailed plans prepared for each site. Where there is a change in the expected 

decommissioning and restoration costs, the value of the provision and any related asset are adjusted and the 

effect is recognized in the Financial Statements on a prospective basis over the remaining life of the operation.

(l)    Leases 

Leases that transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks of ownership to the Company are accounted for 

at the commencement of the lease term as finance leases and are recorded as property, plant and equipment 

at the fair value of the leased asset, or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, together 

with an offsetting liability. Finance charges are allocated to each period so as to achieve a constant rate of 

interest on the remaining balance of the liability and are charged directly against income. Capitalized leased 

assets are amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term. All other leases 

are accounted for as operating leases and the lease costs are expensed as incurred. 

 (n)    Loans and borrowings 

All loans and borrowings are initially recognized at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received less 

directly attributable transaction costs. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities that are yield related are 

included as part of the carrying amount of the loans and borrowings. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement 

of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date. 

Borrowing costs are recognized as an expense when incurred, except when they are included in the costs of 

qualifying assets. 

(o)    Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it may 

earn revenue and incur expenses.  Operating results for each operating segment are reviewed regularly by the 

Company’s Chief Executive Officer in order to make decisions regarding the allocation of resources to the 

segment.  Segment results include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated 

on a reasonable basis. 



Northern Silica Corporation 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the period ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018 
(All amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted) 

Northern Silica Corporation | Consolidated Financial Statements | 18

3.     Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

In applying the Company's accounting policies management continually evaluates judgements, estimates and 

assumptions based on experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that may have an 

impact on the Company. All judgements, estimates and assumptions made are believed to be reasonable 

based   on the most current set of circumstances available to management. Actual results may differ from the 

judgements, estimates and assumptions. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in 

which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.  The following discussion sets forth 

management’s most critical estimates and assumptions in determining the value of assets, liabilities and equity.

3.     Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

The following discussion sets forth management’s most critical estimates and assumptions in determining the 

value of assets, liabilities and equity 

(a) Business combination 

The Company uses judgement in applying the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations and 

estimates to value identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.  Independent third parties may be 

engaged to determine fair value of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.  Estimates are used to 

determine cash flow projections, including the period of future benefit and future growth and discount rates, 

among other factors.  The values placed on the acquired assets and liabilities affect the amount of goodwill 

recorded on acquisition. 

(b) Asset retirement obligations (“ARO”) 

ARO represents present value estimates of the Company’s cost to remediate sites.  The Company applies 

judgement in assessing the existence, extent and expected method of remediation and decommissioning 

required at the end of each reporting period.  Provisions are based on estimated costs, which take into 

consideration the anticipated method and extent of remediation, regulatory, environmental and safety 

considerations.  Actual costs are uncertain and estimates can vary as a result of changes to relevant laws and 

regulations, operating experience and closure plans.  The estimated timing of future decommissioning and 

remediation may change due to factors such as closure plans and regulatory consideration.  Changes to 

estimates relating to future expected costs, discount rates and timing may have a material impact on the 

amounts presented. 

(c) Determination of mineral resources and ore reserves 

The determination of reserves impacts the accounting for asset carrying values, depreciation and amortization 

rates, deferred stripping costs and provisions for restoration.  There are numerous uncertainties inherent in 

estimating mineral resources and ore reserves and assumptions that are valid at the time of estimation may 

change significantly when new information becomes available.  Changes in the forecasted prices of 

commodities, exchange rates, production costs or recovery rates may change the economic status of reserves 

and may, ultimately, result in the reserves being restated. 

(d) Recovery of deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences and losses when management 

considers that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available to utilize those temporary differences.  
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3.     Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

Tax regulations and legislation are subject to change and there are differing interpretations requiring 

Management judgment. Income tax filings are subject to audits and re-assessments and changes in facts, 

circumstances and interpretations of the standards may result in a material increase or decrease in the 

Company’s provision for income taxes. 

(e)  Impairment 

In accordance with the Company’s accounting policies and processes, the Company assesses at each reporting 

date whether there is an indication of the impairment for the assets.  Cash generating units (“CGUs”) are 

reviewed at each reporting period to determine whether there is an indication of impairment. Where an indicator 

of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is made. There were impairment indicators 

at September 30, 2019 and testing was performed for each Cash Generating Unit (CGU).    

(f) Inventories 

The Company evaluates its inventory to ensure it is carried at the lower of average cost and net realizable 

value. Allowances are made against obsolete or damaged inventories and charged to the cost of sales. The 

reversal of any write-down of inventory arising from an increase in net realizable value would be recognized as 

a reduction in cost of sales in the period in which the reversal occurred.  A write-down was recorded for the 

period ended September 30, 2019.  Refer to Note 7 for more details.  

(g) Depreciation and amortization 

Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are based on estimated 

useful lives and residual values.  These estimates are based on past experience and industry norms, and may 

change as more experience is obtained or as market conditions change. 

4.     Accounting pronouncements 

4.1    Adoption of new accounting pronouncements

(a) IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments 

On October 1, 2018 the Company adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments which replaced IAS 39 - Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.  The new standard introduces requirements for the classification 

and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, impairment, hedge accounting and the fair value 

of an entity's own debt.  The Company’s trade receivables are subject to the expected credit loss model under 

IFRS 9.  The Company uses the simplified approach of providing for expected credit losses, which requires the 

use of the lifetime expected loss provision for trade receivables.  The adoption of IFRS 9 did not have a material 

impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.       
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4.1    Adoption of new accounting pronouncements (continued)

(b) IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

On October 1, 2018 the Company adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers which replaced 

IAS 11 - Construction Contracts, IAS 18 - Revenue, and IFRIC 13 – Customer Loyalty Programs, as well as 

various other interpretations regarding revenue. IFRS 15 outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to 

use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers, except for contracts within the scope of 

the standards on leases, insurance contracts and financial instruments.  

The Company’s revenue, which is principally made up of sand sales is not subject to contractual arrangements.  

The Company recognizes revenue as per terms of the orders when they are fulfilled.  

   The Company used the modified forward approach to adopt this new pronouncement which did not have a 

material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

4.2     Future accounting pronouncements   

(a) IFRS 16 - Leases 

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, which replaces IAS 17 - Leases ("IAS 17") and related 

interpretations. IFRS 16 provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring the recognition of assets and 

liabilities for all leases, unless the lease term is twelve months or less, or the underlying asset has a low value. 

IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting in IAS 17 with the distinction between operating 

leases and finance leases being retained. 

IFRS 16 will be applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The Company is currently 

assessing the potential impact of this standard. 

5.     Cash and cash equivalents 

(1) Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. 
(2) The Company has in place letters of credit totaling $0.15 million with the Government of Canada in relation to the issue of 

the mining and agriculture permits of the Moberly mine.  The letters of credit are guaranteed by cash in the Company’s 
bank accounts.  

(3) Cash held as a holdback to the Contractor used in the construction of the Moberly plant. 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand.  The Company has a USD$0.17 million letter 

of credit in relation to  the lessor of its railcars.  The letter of credit is cross guaranteed by an agency of the 

Canadian Government. 

September 30 September 30

2019 2018

Cash at bank and in hand (1) 979$                     8,595$                   

Restricted cash (2) 150 150

Holdback cash (3) 309 2,652

1,438$                   11,397$                 
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6.     Trade Receivables and Prepaid Expenses

At September 30, 2019, all trade or other receivables were current. Refer to Note 16(c) for the Company's material 

credit risk exposure. 

7.     Inventories 

During the quarter ended September 30, 2019 an analysis was completed on the net realizable value of the 
raw materials and finished goods inventories.  As a result, of this analysis which included a review of current 
market conditions for frac sand, both inventories were written down by a combined value of $3.4 million 
which is included in Direct Operating costs.    

September 30 September 30

2019 2018

Trade receivables 1,325$                   140$                     

Goods and services tax 438 434

Prepaid expenses 144 251

Security deposits 12 7

1,919$                   832$                     

September 30 September 30

2019 2018

Raw materials at plant - at net realizable value 3,422$                   4,831$                   

Raw materials at mine - at net realizable value 827 1,603

Finished goods - at net realizable value 675 164

Spare parts and supplies - at cost - 86

4,924$                   6,684$                   
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8.     Property, plant and equipment 

(1) Mine development includes expenditures relating to the construction of the Moberly Project plant and ancillary infrastructure. 
(2) Assets under construction include expenditures related to the construction of the Moberly Project, which includes capitalized borrowing 

costs. 
(3) Plant and equipment along with computer and motor vehicles with a carrying amount of $0.7 million (September 30, 2018 - $0.8 million) 

are pledged as securities for long term debt as disclosed in Note 11. 
(4) Transfers relate to costs associated with the construction of the plant.  Test volume sales of $541 thousand from 2018 were included in 

the costs of constructing the plant. 

HSK, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company acquired in 2017, commenced the construction of the Moberly 
Project plant and ancillary infrastructure in late February 2016. Effective January 1, 2019, the Company finalized 
construction  of its Moberly silica processing facility. The Moberly Project is financed by a related party under a 
secured debt facility arrangement.

Mine 

Development (1)

Land & 

Building

Plant & 

Equipment (3)

Computer & 

Motor 

Vehicles (3)

Construction in 

Progress (1) (2)
Total

Cost

At September 30, 2017 28,556$             1,416$              760$                84$               46,069$           76,885$         

Acquisition - 437 2,476 1 - 2,914

Additions - - 48 53 25,857 25,958

Disposals - - - (95) - (95)

Transfers (4) (2,686) - - 12 2,674 -

At September 30, 2018 25,870 1,853 3,284 55 74,600 105,662

Additions 3,383 3,306 3,373 12 2,878 12,952

Reallocation of opening balances 211 310 1,888 350 3 2,762

Capital spares usage - - - - (1,056) (1,056)

Reclamation adjustment (9) - - - - (9)

Transfers (4) 5,866 48,076 17,373 9 (71,426) (102)

 At September 30, 2019 35,321$             53,545$            25,918$            426$             4,999$             120,209$       

Accumulated depreciation

At September 30, 2017 (6)$                    (20)$                 (54)$                 42$               -$                (38)$              

Depreciation & Depletion (19) (74) (505) (71) - (669)

Disposals - - - 85 - 85

At September 30, 2018 (25) (94) (559) 56 - (622)

   Reallocation of opening balances (213) (310) (1,888) (351) (2,762)

   Impairment (20,280) (28,396) (10,940) (37) (2,024) (61,677)

Depreciation & Depletion (195) (1,237) (1,427) (64) - (2,923)

At September 30, 2019 (20,713)$            (30,037)$           (14,814)$           (396)$            (2,024)$            (67,984)$        

Net book value at September 30, 

2019 14,608$             23,508$            11,104$            30$               2,975$             52,225$         

Net book value at September 30, 2018 25,845$             1,759$              2,725$              111$             74,600$           105,040$       
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8.     Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

The amount of borrowing costs capitalized for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019 was $ 1.3 million 
(twelve months ended September 30, 2018 - $4.9 million).  The rate used to determine the amount of borrowing 
costs eligible for capitalization was 12.5 percent which is the effective interest rate of specific borrowing.

Included in Property, plant and equipment is $1.4 million of critical spare parts.  

During the period ended September 30, 2019, the Company carried out an assessment of the recoverable value 
of its Cash Generating Units (CGU’s), Transload and Moberly Mine due to weakened activity levels across the 
drilling industry in Western Canada.  A discounted cash flow analysis over its silica reserves life was completed 
using a discount rate of 10.0%.  The discounted cash flows were based on management’s cash flow forecasts, 
historical and projected production levels with the assumption that the plant produces at nameplate capacity and 
industry trends and forecasts.  The model did not include any expansion opportunities.  As a result of this 
assessment, an impairment of $59.4 million was recognized for the Moberly Mine CGU or any residual value 
associated with the Moberly silica resource as at September 30, 2019.  

The Company performed a sensitivity analysis on the discount rate and a 1% increase in discount rate results in 
a further impairment of $6.3 million. A 1% decrease in silica pricing results in a further impairment of $2.9 million.    

During the quarter ended March 31, 2019 an impairment of assets was recognized relating to certain equipment 
that was procured based on original plant design and bypassed based on plant modifications and remediations.  
These assets, while in good working condition, are use specific without a readily determinable resale value and 
have no residual value as spare parts for the current plant operations.  Based on these factors, the full value of 
this equipment ($2.3 million) was impaired during the quarter ended March 31, 2019. 

9.     Intangible asset 

The Company acquired access rights to the strategically located rail siding on the acquisition of Custom Bulk 

Services.  

The Company performed an impairment test as at September 30, 2019 in accordance with IAS 36, and no 
impairments were noted. 

September 30 September 30

2019 2018

Cost, opening 1,861$                   -$                      

Acquisition - 1,861

Amortization (98) (36)

1,763$                   1,825$                   
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10.     Trade and other payables

 11.     Long term debt 

(i) Senior Loan Facility  

The Company has an USD25.0 million secured debt facility with Taurus Funds Management Pty Ltd 

(“Taurus”), a shareholder to the Company, to fund the construction of the Moberly Project. The facility is 

available in two tranches.  

The debt facility bears interest at 12.5% per annum, a commitment fee of 2% per annum on undrawn amounts 

at each phase, and 2% Fee on Train Gross Revenue Royalty, ex Plant Price. The facility is secured over a 

first charge over the Company’s assets. The facility maturity date is August 31, 2020. As at September 30, 

2019, the Company had drawn USD25.0 million (CAD33.4 million) of the USD25.0 million facility. 

Covenants 

The Company needs to ensure at each quarter ending the Project Life Cover Ratio (“PLCR”) is not less than 

1.3:1, the Projected Debt Service Cover Ratio (DSCR) is not less than 1.1:1, the Historical DSCR is not less 

than 1.1:1, and there is minimum liquidity of at least US5.0 million.   

PLCR ratio, the ratio of N: A, is calculated based on “N” equaling the net present value of the projected future 
operating cash flows over a 5 year period from each quarter ending period, discounted at 10% per annum, 
and “A” equaling the aggregate amount of loans outstanding. Projected DSCR ratio, the radio of C:D, is 
calculated based on “C” equaling the operating cash flows from the preceding 6 months ending and projected 

September 30 September 30

2019 2018

Trade payables 1,162$                   343$                     

Sundry creditors and accrued expenses 566 2,197

Payables relating to the Moberly Project 3,292 6,555

5,020 9,095

Provisions - annual leave 40 136

5,060$                   9,231$                   

September 30 September 30

2019 2018

Current

Senior loan facility (secured) (i) 46,730$                 39,802$                 

Working capital facility (unsecured) (ii) 10,569 -

Loan note subscription (unsecured) (iii) 5,391 4,555

Term loans (secured) (iiii) 1,295 1,414

Obligations under finance leases (secured) 193 232

Total current portion of long-term debt 64,178 46,003

Non-current

Obligations under finance leases (secured) - 190

Total non-current portion of long-term debt - 190

Total interest bearing liabilities 64,178$                 46,193$                 
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11. Long term debt (continued)

future operating cash flows for the next 6 month period from each quarter ending period, and “D” equaling the 

aggregate amount of financing costs and repayment installments projected to be due and payable. 

Historic DSCR ratio, the ratio of C:D, is calculated based on “C” equaling the operating cash flows from the 

preceding 12 months ending from each quarter ending period, and “D” equaling the aggregate amount of 

financing costs and repayment installments projected to be due and payable. 

The Company has breached the covenants related to PLCR and Historic DSCR ratios as at September 30, 

2019. The Company obtained waivers on December 6, 2019 for the breach of the covenants (see Note 1) 

however, the debt was classified as short-term. Please refer to note 1 for the management’s plans for the 

remediation.

(ii) Unsecured Working Capital Facility 

On June 28, 2019, the Company entered into a $6.5 million Working Capital Facility agreement with QMetco 

Limited to fund the working capital needs of the Company as it moves into full production.  The Facility bears 

interest at 17.5% per annum which is capitalized to repayment.  On September 24, 2019 the Facility 

Agreement was amended to increase the amount available to $10.0 million.  There are no covenants 

associated with this facility.    

On December 6, 2019 the Facility Agreement was extended to January 31, 2020.  Refer to note 21 for more 

information.      

(iii) Loan Note Subscription (“LNSA”) 

The Company entered into a LNSA on April 27, 2018 for CAD4.4 million with First Samuel Limited on behalf 

of its Managed Discretionary Account Clients (“First Samuel”) to fund the ongoing remediation and operational 

readiness program.  The LNSA has a term of three years and carries an interest rate of 8% per annum, which 

is capitalized to repayment.  The Company has an option, subject to Shareholder notice under Section 5.1 of 

the Company’s Unanimous Shareholder Agreement, to issue equity at market price as repayment of all 

principal and capitalized interest.  In order to exercise this option, the value of capitalized interest will be 

amended to yield cumulative returns of 12% on the CAD4.4 million principal. 

There are no covenants associated with the LNSA and it has a final redemption date of August 30, 2021.

(iiii) Term loans 

Two secured term loans with Alberta Treasury Branch (“ATB”) amounting to CAD1.5 million were assumed 

on the date of acquisition of Custom Bulk Services (“CBS”) on February 1, 2018.  Both loans incur interest at 

prime plus 0.5%, repayable in monthly installments of $0.014 million combined, with both loans secured by 

land held by CBS and corporate guarantees.  Both loans are treated as short term loans because they are 

renewed on an annual basis.    

Covenants 

ATB Loan 1 requires CBS to maintain Total Debt to Equity in excess of 3.00:1, and a Debt Service Coverage 

ratio (DSCR) less than 1.20:1, and ATB Loan 2 requires CBS to maintain Total Debt to Equity in excess of 

5.00:1, and a Debt Service Coverage ratio (DSCR) less than 1.25:1. 

The Company, based on its intercompany reporting has breached the covenant related to DSCR ratio as at 

September 30, 2019. Please refer to Note 1 for the management’s plans for the remediation.  
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12.     Site restoration provision

As at September 30, 2019, the estimated undiscounted restoration provision was $0.4 million (2018 $0.6 
million) which has been discounted using a risk-free rate of 1.6% (2018 – 2.4%) and an inflation rate of   
1.5% (2018 – 2.4%).  The liability is expected to be settled over 33 years (2018 - 34 years).   

The decrease in the restoration provision is driven by the decreases in the risk-free and inflation rates 
used in the calculation.   

Custom Bulk Services does not require a restoration provision since its operations are industrial in nature, 
and as such, an asset retirement obligation is not required.    

13.     Income Tax 

(a) Income tax expense comprises of the following:

September 30 September 30

2019 2018

Opening balance 265$                     261$                     

Movement in restoration provision (9) -

Accretion expense 5 4

Closing balance 261$                     265$                     

September 30 September 30

2019 2018

Current income tax expense -$                -$               

Deferred income tax

  Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences - (22)

  Relating to an increase in unrecognized tax benefits (276) (9)

Income tax expense reported in the statement of comprehensive income (276)$              (31)$               
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13.     Income Tax (continued) 

(j) Reconciliation between (loss) and income before tax and tax expense: 

(c) Deferred tax relates to the following: 

(d)  Tax losses: 

The Company has tax losses that arose in Canada of $87.2 million (2018 – losses of $24.4 million) that are 

available to offset against future taxable profits.  The company recognizes the benefit of tax losses only to the 

extent of anticipated future taxable income or gains in relevant jurisdictions.  Deferred tax assets have not been 

recognized in respect of these tax losses.    

September 30 September 30

2019 2018

Loss before income tax (87,845)$         (8,328)$           

Effective Canadian statutory income tax rate 26.75% 27.00%

Expected income tax expense (23,499)$         (2,248)$           

.

Decrease (increase) in income tax benefit due to:

 Impact of different tax rates (208) (13)

 True-up 166 -

 Non-deductible expenses 7 238

 Unrecognized tax benefits 23,258 2,054

23,223$          2,279$            

Income tax (recovery) expense (276)$              31$                

September 30 September 30

2019 2018

Land -$                (41)$               

Property, plant and equipment 7,841 (235)

Finance leases (10) -

Intangible asset (472) -

Non-capital losses 24,582 -

Others 120 -

Deferred tax asset not recognized (32,061) -

-$                (276)$             
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14.     Issued capital 

Ordinary shares issued and fully paid 

 Number of 
shares in 

thousands $’000

At September 30, 2017 562,680 42,367

Issued in business acquisition                      6,667 500
Issued through Private Placement       462,898 34,718

At September 30, 2018 1,032,245                  77,585 

Issued through Private Placement 140,076 10,525

At September 30, 2019 1,172,321                  88,110

Northern Silica Corporation’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares without 
par value, and an unlimited number of preferred shares issuable in series.  At September 30, 2019, 1,172,321 
thousand common shares were outstanding, and no preferred shares were outstanding. 

On December 6, 2018, the Company commenced a private placement of common shares up to a maximum 
46,666,667 common shares of the Company at $0.075 per share for gross proceeds up to $3.5 million.  During 
the period, the Company closed 18,592,000 of the maximum common shares available at $0.075 per share for 
gross proceeds of $1.4 million. 

In February of 2019, a subsequent private placement was announced for up to 160,000,000 common shares for 
proceeds of $12.0 million. During the period, the company collected $9.1 million in proceeds and has issued 
121,484,855 shares. 

The equity funding was completed to ensure the continued completion, commissioning and start-up of the 
Moberly Mine silica frac sand processing facility situated in Golden, British Columbia, Canada. 

As at September 30, 2019, a subsidiary of the Company, HSK, has 7,881,075 options, issued to Taurus, a 
shareholder of the Company, as part of the debt facility (Note 11).  These options are exercisable at AUD0.0878, 
fully vested and expiring on July 15, 2020.  At September 30, 2019 all issued options were still outstanding.  
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15.     Supplemental cash flow information 

Changes in non-cash working capital comprises of: 

16.     Financial risk management objectives and policies 

Fair value of financial instruments 

The fair values of cash, accounts receivable, accrued receivables, accounts payable, accrued liabilities, 
the Senior Loan facility, Working Capital Facility, Loan Note Subscription and Term Loans approximate 
their carrying values due to the short-term maturity of those instruments. 

The Company analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method.  The different levels 
have been defined as: 

Level 1: Values based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, 
accessible at the measurement date. 

Level 2: Values based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or model inputs that are 
observable either directly or indirectly for substantially the full-term of the asset or liability. 

Level 3: Values based on prices or valuation techniques that require inputs for the asset or liability 
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).   

2019 2018 2019 2018

September 30 September 30 September 30 September 30

Accounts receivable (643)$           (502)$             (1,087)$           (353)$             

Inventories 6,027 (311) 1,759 (632)

Trade and other payables (4,530) (1,718) (4,076) 3,012

Provisions (5) (4) (96) (25)

Total 849$            (2,535)$          (3,500) 2,002

Related to:

Operating activities 583 (3,583) (237) (933)

Investing activities 266 1,049 (3,263) 2,935

Total 849$            (2,534)$          (3,500)$           2,002$            

For the three months ended For the twelve months ended
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16.     Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

Risk Exposures and Responses 

(a) Interest rate risk 

The Company’s policy is to manage its finance costs using a mix of fixed and variable rate debt. 

The Company exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the cash at bank and 

in hand with a floating interest rate. Interest bearing liabilities issued at fixed rates does not expose the Company 

to fair value interest rate risk because it is recorded at amortized costs. At September 30, 2019, all interest 

bearing liabilities except term loans were at fixed rates. 

At September 30, 2019 the impact if rates had increased/ (decreased) by 100 basis points would have been 

approximately $13 thousand (September 30, 2018: $14 thousand). 

Carrying

September 30, 2019 amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets at amortized cost:

  Cash and cash equivalents 1,438$       1,438$      -$           -$           

  Accounts receivable 1,325 1,325 - -

Financial liabilities at amortized cost:

  Senior loan facility 46,730$      -$         -$           46,730$      

  Working capital facility 10,569 - - 10,569

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 5,020 5,020

  Loan note subscription 5,391 - - 5,391

  Term loans 1,295 - 1,295 -

  Finance leases - short-term 193 - 193 -

Carrying

September 30, 2018 amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets at amortized cost:

  Cash and cash equivalents 11,397$      11,397$    -$           -$           

  Accounts receivable 140 140 - -

Financial liabilities at amortized cost:

  Senior loan facility 39,802$      -$         -$           39,802$      

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 9,095 9,095

  Loan note subscription 4,555 - - 4,555

  Term loans 1,414 - 1,414 -

  Finance leases - short-term 232 - 232 -

  Finance leases - long-term 190 - 190 -

Fair Value

Fair Value
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16.     Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

(b) Foreign currency risk 

The Company undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange rate 

fluctuations arise. 

The Company’s balance sheet can be affected by movements in the CAD/USD exchange rates. 

At September 30, 2019, the costs denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the Company 

were not material (September 30, 2018 – not material). 

Measuring the exposure to foreign exchange risk is achieved by regularly monitoring and performing sensitivity 

analysis on the Company’s financial position.  The Company continues to explore options to hedge the FX 

exposure related to its USD denominated senior secured loan. 

At September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018, the carrying amounts of the Company's USD financial 
instruments are as follows (in CAD): 

At September 30, 2019, if the conversion rate between the Canadian and United States Dollars had 

increased/(decreased) by 100 basis points, with all other variables held constant, net income and equity would 

have been affected by ($0.479 million)/$0.479 million (September 30, 2018 – ($0.314million)/$0.314million). 

Management believes the balance sheet date risk exposures are representative of the risk exposure inherent 

in the Financial Statements. 

(c) Credit risk 

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Company, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade 

and other receivables. The Company's exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of the counter 

party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.     

It is the Company's policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to verification 

procedures including an assessment of their independent credit rating, financial position, past experience and 

industry reputation. Receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Company's 

exposure to bad debts is not significant. 

September 30 September 30

2019 2018

Cash and cash equivalents 1$                         25$                       

1 25

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables (724) (81)

Interest bearing liabilities (47,162) (40,705)

(47,886) (40,786)

Net exposure (47,885)$                (40,761)$                
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16.     Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

   The Company’s revenue is mainly derived from one customer.   The customer is deemed creditworthy and has 

had no collection issues thus far. Other than revenue concentration, the main risk to the Company is payment 

failure of the third-parties that the customer contracts to.   The silica is purchased by the customer on an as-

needed basis.  This somewhat mitigates the risk that the customer cannot use the silica in its drilling operations 

and thus cannot generate funds to pay their outstanding balances.  As of September 30th, 2019 and September 

30th, 2018 the Company’s trade receivables were comprised of the following: 

No credit loss provision was booked for the period ending September 30, 2019 as all outstanding amounts 
were received shortly after year end.    

(d) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk arises from the financial liabilities of the Company and the Company's subsequent ability to meet 
its obligations to repay its financial liabilities as and when they fall due. 

The liquidity position of the Company is managed to ensure sufficient liquid funds are available to meet the 

Company's financial commitments in a timely and cost-effective manner. The Company's objective is to 

maintain a balance between continuity and flexibility through the use of bank overdrafts, bank loans, finance 

leases and equity investments. At September 30, 2019, the Company had a working capital deficit of $61.0 

million (September 30, 2018 – deficit of $36.3 million). Refer to Note 1 on the going concern and the 

management’s plans on remediation of the liquidity risk, and its dependency on shareholders for continued 

financing. 

The Company manages its liquidity risk by monitoring the total cash inflows and outflows by producing weekly 

and monthly cash flow forecasts forward for a minimum of twelve months. 

The following maturity analysis reflects all contractually fixed pay-offs, repayments and interest resulting from 

recognized financial liabilities as at balance date. The timing of cash flows for liabilities is based on the 

contractual terms of the underlying contract. Where the counterparty has a choice of when the amount is paid, 

the liability is allocated to the earliest period in which the Company is required to pay. When the Company is 

committed to make amounts available in instalments, each instalment is allocated in the earliest period in which 

the Company is required to pay. 

September 30 September 30

2019 2018

Current 597$                     113$                     

1-30 days 9 -

31-60 days 1 -

61-90 days - -

Over 90 days - -

Total trade receivables 607$                     113$                     

Accrued receivables 718 27

Total receivables 1,325$                   140$                     
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16.     Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

The risk implied from the values shown in the table below, reflects a balanced view of cash inflows and outflows 

of non-derivative financial instruments. Trade payables and other financial liabilities mainly originate from the 

financing of assets used in the Company's ongoing operations such as mine development, property plant and 

equipment and investments in working capital (e.g. inventories and receivables).  The Company has obtained 

a waiver from Taurus with respect to non-compliance with certain covenants of its Senior Loan Facility. 

   The following table reflects all contractually fixed repayments and interest resulting from recognized financial 

liabilities at reporting date: 

(d) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk or uncertainty arising from market price movements and their impact on the future 

performance of the business. Market price movements that could adversely affect the value of the Company’s 

financial assets, liabilities and expected future cash flows include US dollar currency, commodity price, and 

interest rate and credit risks. Sensitivity analysis is presented above in this note.  

17.     Capital management 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a 

going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain 

an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.  

The Company manages its capital based on current economic conditions, the risk characteristics of the 

underlying assets, and planned capital requirements within guidelines approved by its Board of Directors.  Total 

capitalization is maintained or adjusted by drawing on existing debt facilities, issuing new debt or equity 

securities when opportunities are identified. 

The Company monitors its capital structure and financing requirements using financial metrics included in its 

debt covenants, consisting of the ratios listed in the Note 11. As at September 30, 2019 the Company breached 

requirements of certain loan covenants (refer to Note 11).  

Within 1 year 2-5 Years

More than 5 

years Total

Trade and other payables 5,020$                -$                    -$                    5,020$      

Provisions 40 - - 40

Site restoration provision - - 437 437

Loans and borrowings 64,178 - - 64,178

69,238$              -$                    437$                   69,675$    
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18.     Commitment and contingencies 

(a)    Operating Leases

   Leases of plant and equipment under which the Company or its controlled entities assume substantially all the 

risks and benefits incidental to ownership are classified as finance leases. Other leases are classified as 

operating leases. 

The operating leases comprise property leases and various equipment leases. These leases are non- 

cancellable with three to ten year terms, with rent payable in advance. Payments made under operating leases 

are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The property lease agreement is a five year fixed annual rental agreement.  An option exists to renew the lease 

at the end of the five-year term for an additional term of five years. 

Rail car leases comprise $8.3 million (2018 - $8.8 million) of the total minimum lease payments. The Company 

has a capital commitment to purchase an estimated $0.9 million in propane purchases up to March 31, 2022, 

based on committed contract volume and forecasted future propane prices. 

(b)    Finance Leases 

The Company has finance leases and hire purchase contracts for various items of plant and machinery. The 

Company’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets. Future 

minimum lease payments under finance leases and hire purchase contracts, together with the present value of 

the net minimum lease payments are, as follows: 

2019 2018

Operating leases payable

Within one year 976$                     2,051$                   

After one year but not more than five years 3,542 3,633

After more than five years 3,832 4,421

Total minimum lease payments 8,350$                   10,105$                 

Minimum 

payments

Present value 

of minimum 

payments

Minimum 

payments

Present value 

of minimum 

payments

Minimum finance leases payable:

Within one year 135$            135$              245$              246$              

After one year but not more than five years - - 123 88

Total minimum lease payments 135 135 368 334

Less amounts representing finance charges - - (34) -

Total 135$            135$              334$              334$              

September 30, 2019 September 30, 2018



Northern Silica Corporation 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the period ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018 
(All amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted) 

Northern Silica Corporation | Consolidated Financial Statements | 35

18.     Commitment and contingencies (continued)

(c)     Litigation 

The Company is involved in various legal claims and legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of 
business. Although the outcome of such matters cannot be predicted with certainty, management does not 

consider the Company's exposure to litigation to be material to these consolidated financial statements. 

19.     Related party disclosures

   (a) Remuneration of key management personnel 

   (b)     Related party balances and transactions 

Included in the consolidated statements of financial position are the following balances associated with related 
parties.  Taurus and First Samuel are shareholders of the Company and QMetco is wholly owned by Taurus. 

The following transactions occurred with related parties: 

2019 2018

Short-term employee benefits 878$        892$        

Post-employment benefits 29 50

907$        942$        

Related Party Description 2019 2018

Taurus Trade and other payables 302$         173$         

First Samuel Trade and other payables 49 22

351$         195$         

Taurus (Note 11) Long-term debt 46,730$     39,802$    

QMetco (Note 11) Long-term debt 10,569 -

First Samuel (Note 11) Long-term debt 5,391 4,555

62,690$     44,357$    

2019 2018

Finance Costs 6,414$      1,824$      

General, administrative and operating costs 261 308

6,675$      2,132$      
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20.     Operating segments   

The Company is organized into separate segments based on the products and services provided.  Management 
monitors the operating results of each division separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource 

allocation and performance evaluations. 

Starting on February 1, 2018, after the business acquisition of CBS, the Company has two reportable operating 
segments, as described in Company Information.  The Company also reports activities not directly attributed to 
an operating segment under the corporate division.   

The Moberly Mine consists of the mine and processing plant in Golden BC.  The operation mines and processes 
the silica which mainly gets shipped to the Transload facility for sale and distribution to end users.  The Transload 
segment consist of transloading and storage facilities in Penhold, AB.    

The Corporate division expenses consist of office and administration costs relating to corporate employees and 

officers, and interest and finance costs. 
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20.     Operating segments (continued) 

For the twelve months ended September 30, 2019

Transload Moberly Mine Corporate Total

Silica sales revenue -$            2,546$            -$             2,546$        

Transloading services revenue 485 - - 485

485 2,546 - 3,031

Cost of sales

  Direct operating 542 14,211 - 14,753

  Storage and logistics 379 1,346 - 1,725

921 15,557 - 16,478

Gross loss (436) (13,011) - (13,447)

General and administrative costs 147 1,340 2,264 3,751

Depreciation and amortization 347 2,559 79 2,985

Other income (7) (6) (3) (16)

487 3,893 2,340 6,720

Operating loss (923) (16,904) (2,340) (20,167)

Finance costs 60 5,126 348 5,534

Asset impairment - 41,397 - 41,397

Mine impairment - 20,280 - 20,280

Loss on foreign exchange 1 436 29 466

61 67,239 377 67,677

Loss before income tax (984) (84,143) (2,717) (87,844)

Income tax recovery - - (276) (276)

Loss and comprenensive loss (984) (84,143) (2,440) (87,568)

Other comprehensive income (loss) - - - -

Total comprehensive loss (984)$          (84,143)$         (2,440)$        (87,568)$     
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20.     Operating segments (continued) 

For the twelve months ended September 30, 2018

Transload Moberly Mine Corporate Total

Silica sales revenue -$            20$                -$             20$             

Transloading services revenue 221 - - 221

221 20 - 241

Cost of sales

  Direct operating 125 1,178 - 1,303

  Storage and logistics 13 6 - 19

138 1,184 - 1,322

Gross loss 83 (1,164) - (1,081)

General and administrative costs 60 541 2,217 2,818

Depreciation and amortization 217 422 66 705

Other income (2) (3) - (5)

275 960 2,283 3,518

Operating loss (192) (2,124) (2,283) (4,599)

Finance costs 39 1,839 90 1,968

Loss on foreign exchange - 1,176 19 1,195

Loss on sale of assets - - 3 3

Transaction costs and other non-recurring items - - 258 258

Realized loss on portfolio investments - - 305 305

39 3,015 675 3,729

Loss before income tax (231) (5,139) (2,958) (8,328)

Income tax expense 12 - 19 31

Loss and comprenensive loss (243) (5,139) (2,977) (8,359)

Other comprehensive income (loss) - - - -

Total comprehensive loss (243)$          (5,139)$           (2,977)$        (8,359)$       
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20.     Operating segments (continued) 

The Company operated in two geographic areas during the year, Canada and Australia.  All revenue presented 

was earned and reported in the Canadian operations and Australia had no non-current assets as of September 

30, 2019

21.     Subsequent Events 

Insurance Claim 

On June 18, 2018 a train derailed near the Moberly plant site which damaged the switch between Canadian 
Pacific’s main line and the rail spur at the plant site.  As a result, finished product had to be transported to the 
Transload facility via truck which is more costly than rail.  The Company submitted an insurance claim for this 
cost differential and some other related costs incurred due to the derailment totaling $1.0 million.  On November 
25, 2019 $0.7 million was approved for payment to the Company which was recorded in fiscal 2019.  A further 
$0.3 million is expected to be approved and received in Q2 of fiscal 2020.   

As at September 30, 2019

Transload Moberly Mine Corporate Total

Current assets 2,054$        5,029$            1,198$         8,281$        

Property, plant and equipment 2,758 49,420 47 52,225

Intangible assets 1,763 - - 1,763

Total assets 6,575 54,449 1,245 62,269

Current liabilities 1,519 66,879 840 69,238

Total liabilities 1,519 67,140 840 69,499

Transload Moberly Mine Corporate Total

Current assets 262$           9,763$            8,888$         18,913$      

Property, plant and equipment 1,783 103,151 106 105,040

Intangible assets 1,825 - - 1,825

Total assets 4,920 111,854 9,004 125,778

Current liabilities 1,500 52,086 1,648 55,234

Total liabilities 1,735 52,484 1,745 55,965
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21.     Subsequent Events (continued)

QMetco Secured Facility 

On December 6, 2019, an amended loan agreement was executed between the Company and QMetco.  The 
following summarizes the amended agreement: 

 Repayment date extended to January 31, 2020.  Management is in continuous discussions with the 
lender to consider extending the repayment date or refinance the loan.   

 Interest rate to stay the same at 17.5% 

 Loan is now secured with a fixed charge against assets 

 Revised borrowing limit of $18.0 million 
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Northern Silica Corporation 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position – Unaudited 
(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 

 
 
 
Going concern (Note 1) 
Commitments (Note 14) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2020 2019

Note March 31 September 30

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4 1,030$             1,438$             
Accounts receivable & prepaid expenses 5,13 544                  1,919               
Inventory 6 4,144               4,924               
Total Current Assets 5,719               8,281               

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 7 53,982             52,225             
Right of use assets 8 4,595               -                   
Intangible assets 1,732               1,763               

Total non-current assets 60,309             53,988             

Total Assets 66,028$           62,269$            

Equity and liabilities
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 9 3,139$             5,020$             
Provisions 9 44                   40                    
Current portion of leases payable 11 456                  -                   
Debt facilities 10 81,227             64,178             
Total Current Liabilities 84,865             69,238             

Non-current liabilities
Leases payable 11 4,685               -                   

Provisions 270                  261                  
Total non-current Liabilities 4,956               261                  

Total Liabilities 89,822$           69,499$            

Equity
Issued Capital 12 88,110             88,110             
Deficit (112,268)          (95,704)            
Non-controlling interest 364                  364                  
Total Equity (23,794)$          (7,230)$            

Total Equity and Liabilities 66,028$           62,269$            



Northern Silica Corporation | Consolidated Interim Financial Statements | 3 
 
 

Northern Silica Corporation 
Consolidated Statements of Loss and Other Comprehensive Loss - Unaudited 
(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2020 2019 2020 2019
Note March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31

Silica sales revenue 14 281$              1,319$            934$             1,319$          
Transloading services revenue 14 88                 153                123              271              

369                1,472             1,057            1,590            
Cost of sales
  Direct operating 1,823             2,086             4,229            2,237            
  Storage and logistics 40                 402                72                402              

1,863             2,488             4,301            2,639            

Gross loss (1,494)            (1,016)            (3,244)           (1,049)           

General and administrative costs 1,032             812                2,021            1,812            
Depreciation and amortization 7,8 1,130             922                2,285            1,099            
Other income (4)                  (2)                   (18)               (4)                 

- 2,158             1,732             4,288            2,907            

Operating loss (3,651)            (2,748)            (7,531)           (3,956)           

Finance costs 2,878             1,593             5,151            1,710            
Asset impairment -                2,270             -               2,270            
Loss (gain) on foreign exchange 4,902             (885)               3,882            873              

- 7,780             2,978             9,033            4,853            

Loss before income tax (11,431)          (5,726)            (16,564)         (8,809)           
Income tax expense -                -                 -               -               
Loss and comprenensive loss (11,431)          (5,726)            (16,564)         (8,809)           

Other comprehensive income  -                -                 -               -               
Total comprehensive loss (11,431)$        (5,726)$           (16,564)$       (8,809)$         

For the six months endedFor the three months ended
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Northern Silica Corporation 
Consolidated Interim Statements of changes in Equity - Unaudited 
(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Issued capital
Retained 
earnings 

Non-
controlling 

interest
Total

Equity

Balance at September 30, 2018 77,585$      (8,136)$       364$         69,813$      
Additions during the period 10,525        -              -            10,525        
Loss for the twelve months ended September 30, 2019 -             (87,568)       -            (87,568)       
Balance at September 30, 2019 88,110$      (95,704)$      364$         (7,230)$       

Additions during the period -             -              -            -             
Loss for the six months ended March 31, 2020 -             (16,564)       -            (16,564)       
Balance at March 31, 2020 88,110$      (112,268)$    364$         (23,794)$     
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Northern Silica Corporation 
Consolidated Interim Statements of Cash Flows - Unaudited 
(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2020 2019 2020 2019

Note March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities
Loss before income taxes (11,431)$      (5,726)$        (16,564)$      (8,809)$        
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:

Depreciation and amortization 1,130          921              2,285          1,099           
Asset impairment -                 2,270           -                 2,270           
Unrealised loss (gain) on foreign exchange 4,902          (885)             3,882          873             
Spare parts usage 59               -                  129             -                  

Add: finance costs 2,878          1,593           5,151          1,710           
Changes in non-cash working capital 13 1,265          (1,614)          1,636          (3,648)          
Net cash flows used in operating activities (1,197)         (3,440)          (3,482)         (6,505)          

Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (993)            (1,602)          (3,839)         (8,117)          
Changes in non-cash working capital 13 (982)            (510)             (1,398)         1,181           
Net cash flows used in investing activities (1,975)         (2,112)          (5,237)         (6,937)          

Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities
Private placement -                 2,720           -                 4,062           
Proceeds from working capital facility 1,000          -                  9,000          
Payments of term loans (47)              (30)              (89)              (59)              
Payments of finance leases (291)            (66)              (599)            (141)            
Net cash flows provided by financing activities 662             2,625           8,311          3,863           
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (2,511)         (2,928)          (408)            (9,579)          
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning 3,541          4,747           1,438          11,397         
Cash and cash equivalents - ending 4 1,030$         1,819$         1,030$         1,819$         

For the three months ended For the six months ended
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1.   GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 
 
Northern Silica Corporation (the “Company”) is a privately held Canadian resource company 
incorporated in Alberta, Canada on December 1, 2016.  The address of the registered office is 
Suite 204, 1212- 1st Street SE, Calgary, Alberta.  These consolidated financial statements are 
comprised of Northern Silica Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.  The Company’s two 
operating segments are the Moberly Silica Mine (“Moberly”) in Golden, British Columbia which 
mines and processes silica sand and the Transload segment which provides transloading and 
storage services and is located in Penhold, Alberta.       
 
2.  GOING CONCERN 
 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared using International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as they apply to a going concern, which contemplates the 
realization of assets and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of business as they become 
due. 
 
The Company incurred a net loss of $16.9 million for the six months ended March 31, 2020 and 
had a working capital deficiency of $79.5 million at March 31, 2020.  The Company relies on 
funding from its largest shareholder (Taurus Resources No.2 B.V. or “Taurus”) and other 
shareholders.  As at March 31, 2020 the Company did not meet certain covenants on its Taurus 
Senior Secured Loan Facility (refer to Note 10) and accordingly, it was classified as a current 
liability.  The Company is dependant on its shareholders not calling the loan to continue as a 
going concern.   
 
These circumstances cause significant doubt as to the ability of the Company to meet its 
obligations as they come due and, accordingly, the appropriateness of the use of accounting 
principles applicable to a going concern.  These financial statements do not reflect the 
adjustments to the carrying values of the assets and liabilities, the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses and the classification of the statement of financial position items if the going 
concern assumption was inappropriate.  These adjustments could be material. 
 
The Moberly Silica Sand operation was designed and built to supply frac sand to the domestic 
(Alberta) market and while the mine has historically supplied industrial silica buyers the operation 
is not currently geared to that alternative market.  Similarly, the Penhold transloading facility is 
currently arranged to handle frac sand, however historically it has also loaded fertilizer products.  
Management has taken proactive steps to reduce cash outflows in the face of current low market 
pricing for frac sand and the singular market focus our assets currently have.  This includes a 
shutdown of the Company’s Moberly processing plant as of February 18, 2020 and conducting 
research and development of new industrial silica products while simultaneously seeking 
customers for those products.  The impact of the COVID19 pandemic on local and global supply 
chains has delayed the evaluation and possible entry into industrial markets and continues to 
investigate the quality of materials the operation could make.  The Company will continue to 
evaluate market conditions, but currently has not established a timeframe for alternative market 
participation. 
 
The Company received a waiver in respect to the Deed to its Taurus Senior Loan Facility.  The 
waiver deferred the project completion test to June 30, 2020 and $0.3 million of principal 
repayments to June 30, 2020.    On January 30, 2020, Management amended the QMetco Loan 
Facility to increase the amount available to $19.0 million and extend the repayment date to 
February 28, 2020.  On March 31, 2020 the QMetco Loan Facility repayment date was amended 
to April 30, 2020.   
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There is no assurance that the steps Management have taken will be successful in increasing 
cash flows.  Continued soft pricing for frac sand and industrial silica marketing issues related to 
COVID-19 pandemic could have a material effect on the Company to continue as a going concern.    
      
3.  BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
These consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS 34, 
Interim Financial Reporting as at and for the three months ended December 31, 2019 and do not 
include all of the information required for full annual statements.  Accordingly, these financial 
statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited annual financial 
statements.  
 
These consolidated interim financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of 
Directors on April 17, 2020.  
 
Use of estimates and judgements 
 
The preparation of the consolidated interim financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the reported amount of any assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical evidence and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.   
 
Significant accounting policies 
    
The accounting policies applied in these consolidated interim financial statements are the same 
as those applied in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 
September 30, 2019 except for the below: 
 
Leases 
 
On October 1, 2019 the Company adopted IFRS 16, Leases which replaced IAS 17, Leases and 
related interpretations.  The Company used the Modified Retrospective approach where it 
recognized the Right of Use assets and lease liabilities at the present value of the remaining lease 
payments, which were discounted at rates between 5.0% and 13.8%.  The Company used the 
following practical expedients permitted by the standard: 

• the accounting for lease payments as expenses for leases for which the 
underlying asset is of low value; and 

• the accounting for leases with a remaining term of twelve or less months as at 
October 1, 2019 as short-term leases. 

    
Right-of-use (RoU) assets are measured at costs which includes the following: 

• the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; and 
• initial direct costs. 

 
Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low value are recognized on a straight-
line basis in the Consolidated Statements of Loss and Other Comprehensive Loss in the period 
which they occurred.   
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4.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

 
 

(1) Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. 
(2) The company has in place letters of credit totalling $0.15 million with the Government of 

Canada in relation to the issue of mining and agriculture permits of the Moberly Mine.  The 
letters of credit are guaranteed by cash in the Company’s bank accounts.  

(3) Cash held as a holdback to the Contractor used in the construction of the Moberly plant. 
 
The Company has an USD0.17 million letter of credit in favour of the lessor of its railcars.  The 
letter of credit is cross guaranteed by an agency of the Canadian Government.   
 
 
5.  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND PREPAID EXPENSES 
 

 
 
As at March 31, 2020, $nil of the Company’s receivables were overdue.  Refer to Note 14 (c) for 
the Company’s material risk exposures.    
 
 
6.  INVENTORY 
 

 
 
Inventory is carried at the lower of cost or net realizable value.  During the quarter ended March 
31, 2020 a net realizable value analysis was completed which resulted in a $0.2 million write-
down of finished goods.   
 
 

Cash & Cash Equivalents
March 31 September 30

2020 2019

Cash at bank and in hand (1) 820$                            979$                            
Restricted cash (2) 150                              150                              
Holdback cash (3) 59                                309                              

1,030$                        1,438$                        

March 31 September 30
2020 2019

Trade receivables 103$                            1,325$                        
Goods and services tax 140                              438                              
Prepaid expenses 284                              144                              
Security deposits 17                                12                                

544$                            1,919$                        

March 31 September 30
2020 2019

Raw materials at plant - at net realizable value 3,313$                        3,422$                        
Raw materials at mine - at net realizable value 831                              827                              
Finished goods - at net realizable value -                               675                                                                                            

4,144$                        4,924$                        
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7.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

 
 

(1) Mine Development includes expenditures relating to the construction of the Moberly 
Project plant and ancillary infrastructure.  

(2) Assets under construction include expenditures related to the construction of the Moberly 
Project, which includes capitalized borrowing costs. 

(3) Motor vehicles with a carrying amount of $0.002 million (September 30, 2019 - $0.020 
million) are pledged as securities for long-term leases (see note 11). 

(4) Transfers relate to the costs associated with the construction of the plant.   
 
 
Effective January 1, 2019, the Company finalized the construction of its Moberly processing 
facility.  The Moberly Project is financed by a related party under a secured debt facility 
agreement.   
 
The amount of borrowing costs capitalized for the six months ended March 31, 2020 is $nil (March 
31, 2019 - $1.8 million).  Included in Property, Plant and Equipment is $1.5 million of critical spare 
parts (September 30, 2019 - $1.4 million). 
 
There are no new indicators of impairment as of March 31, 2020, however the Company is closely 
monitoring the impact of COVID-19 pandemic and continued low oil prices for indications of 
impairment on its Property, Plant and Equipment.   
 
 
 
 

Mine 
Development (1) Land & Building Plant & 

Equipment (3)

Computer & 
Motor Vehicles 

(3)

Construction in 
Progress (1) (2) Total

Cost
At September 30, 2018 25,870$                 1,853$                  3,284$                  55$                    74,600$               105,662$         
Additions 3,383                      3,306                     3,373                     12                      2,878                   12,952              
Reallocation of opening balances 211                         310                        1,888                     350                    3                           2,762                
Capital spares usage -                          -                         -                         -                     (1,056)                  (1,056)               
Reclamation adjustment (9)                             -                         -                         -                     -                        (9)                       

Transfers (4) 5,866                      48,076                  17,373                  9                        (71,426)                (102)                  

At September 30, 2019 35,321                    53,545                  25,918                  426                    4,999                   120,209            

Additions -                          -                         -                         -                     3,839                   3,839                
Capital spares usage -                          -                         -                         -                     (129)                     (129)                  

                                                                                                                                               Transfers (4) -                          -                         -                         -                     -                        -                     

At March 31, 2020 35,321$                 53,545$                25,918$                426$                 8,709$                 123,919$         

Accumulated depreciation

At September 30, 2018 (25)$                        (94)$                       (559)$                    56$                    -$                     (622)$                

    Reallocation of opening balances (213)                        (310)                       (1,888)                   (351)                  (2,762)               

    Impairment (20,280)                  (28,396)                 (10,940)                 (37)                     (2,024)                  (61,677)             
Depreciation & Depletion (195)                        (1,237)                   (1,427)                   (64)                     -                        (2,923)               

At September 30, 2018 (20,713)                  (30,037)                 (14,814)                 (396)                  (2,024)                  (67,984)             
Depreciation & Depletion (179)                        (834)                       (921)                       (19)                     -                        (1,953)               

At March 31, 2020 (20,892)$                (30,871)$               (15,735)$               (415)$                (2,024)$                (69,937)$          

Net book value at March 31, 2020 14,429$                 22,674$                10,183$                11$                    6,685$                 53,982$            
Net book value at September 30, 2019 14,608$                 23,508$                11,104$                30$                    2,975$                 52,225$            
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8.  RIGHT OF USE ASSETS 
 

 
 
 
9.  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

 
 
 
10.  DEBT FACILITIES 
 

 
 
 
 

Cost Rail Cars Building
Plant & 

Equipment Total
Balance at October 1, 2019 4,743$       100$          43$                4,886$       
  Additions -             -             -                 -             
At March 31, 2020 4,743$       100$          43$                4,886$       

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at October 1, 2019 -$           -$           -$              -$           
  Depreciation (254)           (26)             (11)                 (291)           
At March 31, 2020 (254)$         (26)$           (11)$              (291)$         

Net book value at October 1, 2019 4,743$       100$          43$                4,886$       
Net book value at March 31, 2020 4,489$       74$             32$                4,595$       

March 31 September 30
2020 2019

Trade payables 316$                            1,162$                        
Sundry creditors and accrued expenses 359                              566                              
Payables relating to the Moberly Project 2,464                          3,292                          

3,139                          5,020                          
Provisions - annual leave 44                                40                                

3,183$                        5,060$                        

March 31 September 30
2020 2019

Current
Senior loan facility (secured) (i) 53,588$                      46,730$                      
Working capital facility (secured) (ii) 20,694                        10,569                        
Loan note subscription (unsecured) (iii) 5,709                          5,391                          
Term loans (secured) (iiii) 1,234                          1,295                          
Obligations under finance leases (secured) -                               193                              
Total current portion of debt facilities 81,227                        64,178                        

Total non-current portion of debt facilities -                               -                               
Total debt facilities 81,227$                      64,178$                      
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(i)  Senior Loan Facility 
 
The Company has an USD25.0 million secured debt facility with Taurus Funds Management Pty 
Ltd (“Taurus”), a shareholder to the Company, to fund the construction of the Moberly Project.  
The facility is available in two tranches. 
 
The debt facility bears interest at 12.5% per annum, a commitment fee of 2% per annum on 
undrawn amounts at each phase, and 2% Fee on Train Gross Revenue Royalty, ex Plant Price.  
The facility is secured over a first charge over the Company’s assets.  The facility maturity date 
is August 31, 2020.  As at March 31, 2020, the Company had drawn USD25.0 million (CAD35.4 
million) of the USD25.0 million facility.  
 
Covenants   
The Company needs to ensure at each quarter ending, the Project Life Cover Ratio (“PLCR”) is 
not less than 1.3:1, the Project Debt Service Cover Ratio (“PDSCR”) is not less than 1.1:1, the 
Historical DSCR is not less than 1.1:1, and there is minimum liquidity of at least USD5.0 million. 
 
PLCR ratio, the ratio of N:A, is calculated based on “N” equalling the net present value of the 
projected future operating cash flows over a 5 year period from each quarter ending period, 
discounted at 10% per annum, and “A” equaling the aggregate amount of loans outstanding.   
 
Projected DSCR ratio, the ratio of C:D, is calculated based on “C” equaling the operating cash 
flows from the preceding 6 months ending and projected future operating cash flows for the next 
6 month period from each quarter ending period, and “D” equaling the aggregate amount of 
financing costs and repayment installments projected to be due and payable.  
 
Historic DSCR ratio, the ratio of C:D, is calculated based on “C” equaling the operating cash flows 
from the preceding 12 months ending from each quarter ending period and “D” equaling the 
aggregate amount of financing costs and repayment installments projected to be due and 
payable.  
 
The Company has breached the covenants related to the PLCR and Historic DSCR ratios as at 
March 31, 2020 and has obtained waivers for the breach of covenants (see note 2), however, the 
debt was classified as short-term.  Refer to Note 2 for management’s plans for the remediation of 
these covenants.     
 
(ii)  Secured Working Capital Facility 
 
On June 28, 2019 the Company entered into a Working Capital Facility agreement with QMetco 
Limited to fund the working capital needs of the Company as it moves into full production.  The 
facility bears interest at 17.5% per annum with is capitalized to repayment.  On December 6, 
2019, the Facility Agreement was amended to increase the amount available to $18.0 million, 
extend the repayment date to January 31, 2020 and provide a secure fixed charge against the 
Company’s assets.  There are no covenants associated with this facility.  On January 30, 2020 
the Company and QMetco Limited agreed to increase the facility limit to $19.0 million and extend 
the repayment date to February 28, 2020.  On March 31, 2020 the repayment date was amended 
to April 30, 2020.   
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(iii)  Loan Note Subscription (“LNSA”) 
 
The company entered into a LNSA on April 27, 2018 for $4.4 million with First Samuel Limited on 
behalf of its Managed Discretionary Accounts Clients (“First Samuel”) to fund ongoing remediation 
and the operational readiness program.  The LNSA has a redemption date of August 30, 2021 
and carries an interest rate of 8.0% per annum, which is capitalized to repayment.  The Company 
has an option, subject to Shareholder notice under Section 5.1 of the Company’s Unanimous 
Shareholder Agreement, to issue equity at market price as repayment of all principal and 
capitalized interest.  In order to exercise this option, the value of the capitalized interest will be 
amended to yield cumulative returns of 12.0% on the $4.4 million of principal. There are no 
covenants associated with the LNSA.   
 
(iv) Term Loans 
 
Two secured term loans with Alberta Treasury Branches (“ATB”) totalling $1.5 million were 
assumed on February 1, 2018, the date of the acquisition of Custom Bulk Services (“CBS”).  Both 
loans incur interest at prime plus 0.5% and are repayable in combined monthly installments of 
$0.014 million.  Both loans are secured by land held by CBS and corporate guarantees and are 
treated as short-term loans because they are renewed on an annual basis. 
 
Covenants 
ATB Loan 1 requires CBS to maintain Total Debt to Equity in excess of 3.0:1, and a Debt Service 
Coverage ratio (“DSCR”) of less than 2.0:1.  ATB Loan 2 requires CBS to maintain Total Debt to 
Equity in excess of 5.0:1 and a DSCR ratio of less than 1.25:1.   
 
CBS, based on its intercompany reporting has breached the DSCR ratio for both loans as at 
March 31, 2020.  Refer to Note 2 for management’s plans for the remediation of these covenants.     
 
11.  LEASE LIABILITIES 
 
The Company incurs lease payments related to rail cars, vehicles, office space and small 
equipment.  Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments 
at incremental borrowing rates of 5.0% to 13.8%.  Leases with a lease term of twelve months or 
less are expensed to direct operating or general & administrative expenses.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

As at September 30, 2019 193$                            
Additions on adoption 4,886                          
Interest expense 331                              
Lease payments (599)                            
Changes in F/X rate 331                              
As At March 31, 2020 5,142$                        
Less: Current portion 456                              
Total long-term leases 4,686$                        
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The following table reconciles the operating lease commitments disclosed at September 30, 
2019 to the present value of the remaining lease payments as at October 1, 2019: 
 

 
 

12.  ISSUED CAPITAL 

 

 
 
The Company’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares 
without par value and an unlimited number of preferred shares issuable in series.  At March 31, 
2020, 1,172,321 thousand common shares were outstanding and no preferred shares were 
outstanding.   
 
As at December 31, 2019, a subsidiary of the Company, Heemskirk Mining Pty Ltd., had 
7,881,075 options issued to Taurus a shareholder of the Company as part of the debt facility (refer 
to Note 10).  These options are exercisable at AUD0.0878, are fully vested and expire on July 15, 
2020.  As at December 31, 2019 all issued options were still outstanding.      
 
 
13.  SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Operating lease commitments disclosed as at September 30, 2019 8,350$       
Discount from application of the incremental borrowing rates as at October 1, 2019 (3,509)       
Adjustment for extension of office lease 45               
Lease liabilities on adoption of IFRS 16 4,886$       

Ordinary shares issued and fully paid
Number of Shares 

('000)
Amount ('000)

At September 30, 2019 1,172,321                  88,110$                      
At March 31, 2020 1,172,321                  88,110$                      

2020 2019 2020 2019
March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31

Accounts receivable 561$            (253)$             1,375$         (15)$             
Inventories 459              (2,131)            780              (2,626)          
Trade and other payables (751)             351               (1,921)          250              
Provisions 14                (91)                4                 (76)               
Total 282$            (2,124)$          237              (2,467)          

Related to:
Operating activities 1,265           (1,614)            1,636           (3,648)          
Investing activities (982)             (510)              (1,398)          1,181           
Total 282$            (2,124)$          237$            (2,467)$        

For the three months ended For the six months ended
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14.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
(a)   Risk management overview 
 
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including credit risk, liquidity risk 
and market risk.  The Company employs risk management strategies and policies to ensure that 
any exposures to risk are in compliance with the Company’s business objectives and risk 
tolerance levels.     
 
(b)   Fair value of financial instruments 
 
The fair values of cash, accounts receivable, accrued receivables, accounts payable, accrued 
liabilities, loan facilities and term loans approximate the carrying values due to their short-term 
maturities. 
 
The Company analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method.  The 
different levels have been defined as: 
 

Level 1: Values based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities, accessible at the measurement date.  

Level 2: Values based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or model inputs that 
are observable either directly or indirectly for substantially the full-term of the 
asset or liability.   

Level 3: Values based on prices or valuation techniques that require inputs for the asset 
or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).   
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(c)   Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its obligations.  Substantially all of the Company’s accounts receivable 
are due from purchasers of silica sand.   
 
It is the Company’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to 
verification procedures including an assessment of their independent credit rating, financial 
position, past experience and industry reputation.  Accounts receivable are monitored on an 
ongoing basis with the result that the Company’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. 
 
One customer accounts for a substantial portion of the Company’s revenues.  The customer is 
deemed credit worthy and no collection issues have arisen thus far.  Significant changes in 
industry conditions will increase the risk of not collecting receivables.  Management believes that 
this risk is materially mitigated by the size and reputation of the customer.   
 
As of March 31, 2020 and September 30, 2019, The Company’s trade receivables were 
comprised of the following:  

Carrying
March 31, 2020 amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets at amortized cost:
  Cash and cash equivalents 1,030$       1,030$      -$           -$           
  Accounts receivable 360            360          -             -             

Financial liabilities at amortized cost:
  Senior loan facility 53,588$      -$         -$           53,588$      
  Working capital facility 20,694       -           -             20,694       
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,183         3,183        -             -             
  Loan note subscription 5,709         -           -             5,709         
  Term loans 1,234         -           1,234         -             
  Leases - short -term 456            -           456            -             
  Leases - long-term 4,685         -           4,685         -             

Carrying
September 30, 2019 amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets at amortized cost:
  Cash and cash equivalents 1,438$       1,438$      -$           -$           
  Accounts receivable 1,325         1,325        -             -             

Financial liabilities at amortized cost:
  Senior loan facility 46,730$      -$         -$           46,730$      
  Working capital facility 10,569       -           -             10,569       
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 5,020         5,020        -             -             
  Loan note subscription 5,391         -           -             5,391         
  Term loans 1,295         -           1,295         -             
  Finance leases - short-term 193            -           193            -             

Fair Value

Fair Value



NORTHERN SILICA CORPORATION 
Notes to the Consolidated Interim Financial Statements – Unaudited 
Six months ended March 31, 2020 
(stated in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)  
 

Northern Silica Corporation | Consolidated Interim Financial Statements | 16 
 
 

 
 
The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of accounts receivable on the 
balance sheet.  No loss provision was booked as there is no historical loss events for this 
customer and market conditions have not changed since the prior quarter.   
 
(d)   Liquidity risk   
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 
come due.  The Company manages its liquidity risk by producing weekly and monthly cash flow 
forecasts and budgets and monitoring its performance against these forecasts and budgets.  The 
liquidity position of the Company is managed to ensure sufficient liquid funds are available to meet 
the Company’s financial commitments in a timely and cost-effective manner.  As at March 31, 
2020, the Company had a working capital deficit of $79.5 million (September 30, 2019: deficit of 
$61.0 million).  Refer to Note 2 for Management’s plans to remediate this risk.  
 
The financial liabilities on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position consist of accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities, debt facilities, restoration provision and leases.  The Company 
manages this risk through detailed monitoring of budgeted and projected operating results and 
cash requirements.              
 
The risk implied from the values shown in the table below, reflects a balanced view of cash 
outflows of non-derivative financial instruments.   The Company has obtained a waiver from 
Taurus with respect to non-compliance with certain covenants of the Senior Loan Facility.   
The following table reflects all contractually fixed repayments and interest for the recognized 
financial liabilities at March 31, 2020: 
 

 
   
 
 
 

March 31 September 30
2020 2019

Current 86$                              597$                            
1-30 days 17                                9                                   
31-60 days -                               1                                   
61-90 days -                               -                               
Over 90 days -                               -                               
Total trade receivables 103$                            607$                            
Accrued receivables -                               718                              
Total receivables 103$                            1,325$                        

Within 1 year 2-5 Years
More than 5 

years Total
Trade and other payables 3,139$                     -$                         -$                         3,139$       
Provisions 44                             -                           -                           44               
Site restoration provision -                           -                           437                           437             
Leases 1,002                       3,554                       3,401                       7,957         
Propane purchases 120                           240                           -                           360             
Loans and borrowings 81,227                     -                           -                           81,227       

85,531$                  3,794$                     3,838$                     93,163$    
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(e)   Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk or uncertainty arising from market price movements and their impact on the 
future performance of the business.  These include changes in commodity prices, foreign 
exchange rates and interest rates.  Market price movements that could adversely affect the value 
of the Company’s financial assets, liabilities and expected future cash flows. The primary market 
risks are: 
 
Foreign currency risk 
 
The Company undertakes transactions for procuring equipment and services in foreign 
currencies.  In addition, the Senior Loan Facility is and the long-term Rail Lease are denominated 
in United States (“US”) Dollars. 
 
At March 31, 2020 and September 30, 2019, the carrying amounts of the Company’s US Dollar 
financial instruments are as follows (in CAD): 
 

 
      
At March 31, 2020, if the conversion rate between the Canadian and US Dollar had 
increased/(decreased) by 100 basis points, with all other variables held constant net income 
would have been affected by ($0.6 million)/$0.6 million (September 30, 2019: ($0.5 million)/$0.5 
million).  Management believes at the balance sheet date, risk exposures are representative of 
the risk exposure inherent in the Financial Statements.   
  

March 31 September 30
2020 2019

Cash and cash equivalents 3$                                1$                                
3                                   1                                   

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (87)                               (724)                            
Leases (4,941)                         -                               
Interest bearing liabilities (53,785)                      (47,162)                      

(58,814)                      (47,886)                      
Net exposure (58,811)$                    (47,885)$                    
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Interest rate risk 
 
The Company’s policy is to manage its interest rate risk by using a mix of fixed and variable rate 
debt.  The Company’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to floating rates on 
cash in the bank and changes in the prime rate for the Company’s ATB Term loans.  At March 
31, 2020, the impact if rates had increased/ (decreased) by 100 basis points would have been 
approximately $0.012 million (September 30, 2019: $0.013 million). 
 
(f)   Capital management 
 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the ability to continue as a 
going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Company manages its capital based on current 
economic conditions, the risk characteristics of the underlying assets, and planned capital 
requirements within guidelines approved by its Board of Directors.  Total capitalization is 
maintained or adjusted by drawing on existing debt facilities, issuing new debt or equity securities 
when opportunities are identified.   
 
The Company monitors its capital structure and financing requirements using the ratios included 
in its debt covenants.  As at March 31, 2020 the Company breached certain loan covenants (refer 
to Note 10).     
 
14.  OPERATING SEGMENTS 
 
The Company is organized into separate operating segments based on the products and services 
provided.  Management monitors the operating results of each segment separately for the 
purpose of making decisions about resource allocations and performance evaluations.   
 
The Moberly Mine segment consists of the mine and processing plant in Golden, British Columbia.  
This segment mines and processes the silica which mainly gets shipped to the Transload facility 
for sale and distribution to end users.  The Transload segment consists of transloading and 
storage facilities in Penhold, Alberta.  The Corporate segment consists of administration costs 
relating to corporate activities and officers. 
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For the three months ended March 31, 2020
Transload Moberly Mine Corporate Total

Silica sales revenue -$            281$               -$             281$           
Transloading services revenue 88               -                 -               88              

88               281                -               369             
Cost of sales
  Direct operating 140             1,684              -               1,823          
  Storage and logistics 61               (22)                 -               40              

201             1,662              -               1,863          

Gross loss (113)            (1,381)             -               (1,494)         

General and administrative costs 27               104                901              1,032          
Depreciation and amortization 214             897                19                1,130          
Other income (4)               -                 -               (4)               

237             1,001              920              2,158          
Operating loss (350)            (2,382)             (920)             (3,652)         

Finance costs 178             2,696              3                 2,878          
Loss on foreign exchange 414             4,481              7                 4,902          

593             7,177              10                7,780          

Loss before income tax (942)            (9,559)             (929)             (11,431)       
Income tax expense -              -                 -               -             
Loss and comprenensive loss (942)            (9,559)             (929)             (11,431)       

Other comprehensive income (loss) -              -                 -               -             
Total comprehensive loss (942)$          (9,559)$           (929)$           (11,431)$     
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For the six months ended March 31, 2020
Transload Moberly Mine Corporate Total

Silica sales revenue -$            934$               -$             934$           
Transloading services revenue 123             -                 -               123             

123             934                -               1,057          
Cost of sales
  Direct operating 354             3,876              -               4,229          
  Storage and logistics 74               (3)                   -               72              

428             3,873              -               4,301          

Gross loss (305)            (2,939)             -               (3,244)         

General and administrative costs 57               228                1,736           2,021          
Depreciation and amortization 429             1,829              27                2,285          
Other income (8)               (9)                   (2)                (18)             

478             2,048              1,761           4,288          
Operating loss (783)            (4,987)             (1,761)          (7,531)         
Finance costs 354             4,776              20                5,151          
Loss on foreign exchange 325             3,550              7                 3,882          
Realized loss on portfolio investments -              -                 -               -             

680             8,326              27                9,032          

Loss before income tax (1,463)         (13,314)           (1,788)          (16,564)       
Income tax recovery -              -                 -               -             
Loss and comprenensive loss (1,463)         (13,314)           (1,788)          (16,564)       

Other comprehensive income (loss) -              -                 -               -             
Total comprehensive loss (1,463)$       (13,314)$         (1,788)$        (16,564)$     
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For the six months ended March 31, 2020
Transload Moberly Mine Corporate Total

Silica sales revenue -$            934$               -$             934$           
Transloading services revenue 123             -                 -               123             

123             934                -               1,057          
Cost of sales
  Direct operating 354             4,163              -               4,517          
  Storage and logistics 74               (3)                   -               72              

428             4,160              -               4,588          

Gross loss (305)            (3,226)             -               (3,531)         

General and administrative costs 57               228                1,736           2,021          
Depreciation and amortization 429             1,829              27                2,285          
Other income (8)               (9)                   (2)                (18)             

478             2,048              1,761           4,288          
Operating loss (783)            (5,275)             (1,761)          (7,819)         
Finance costs 354             4,776              20                5,151          
Loss on foreign exchange 325             3,550              7                 3,882          
Realized loss on portfolio investments -              -                 -               -             

680             8,326              27                9,033          

Loss before income tax (1,463)         (13,601)           (1,788)          (16,852)       
Income tax recovery -              -                 -               -             
Loss and comprenensive loss (1,463)         (13,601)           (1,788)          (16,852)       

Other comprehensive income (loss) -              -                 -               -             
Total comprehensive loss (1,463)$       (13,601)$         (1,788)$        (16,852)$     
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For the six months ended March 31, 2019
Transload Moberly Mine Corporate Total

Silica sales revenue -$            1,319$            -$             1,319$        
Transloading services revenue 271             -                 -               271             

271             1,319              -               1,590          
Cost of sales
  Direct operating 411             1,826              -               2,237          
  Storage and logistics 402             -                 -               402             

813             1,826              -               2,639          

Gross loss (542)            (507)               -               (1,049)         

General and administrative costs 71               457                1,284           1,812          
Depreciation and amortization 152             915                32                1,099          
Other income (3)               (1)                   -               (4)               

220             1,371              1,316           2,907          

Operating loss (762)            (1,878)             (1,316)          (3,956)         

Finance costs 31               1,664              15                1,710          
Asset impairment -              2,270              -               2,270          
Loss on foreign exchange -              852                21                873             

31               4,786              36                4,853          

Loss before income tax (793)            (6,664)             (1,352)          (8,809)         
Income tax expense -              -                 -               -             
Loss and comprenensive loss (793)            (6,664)             (1,352)          (8,809)         

Other comprehensive income (loss) -              -                 -               -             
Total comprehensive loss (793)$          (6,664)$           (1,352)$        (8,809)$       
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As at March 31, 2020
Transload Moberly Mine Corporate Total

Current assets 296$           4,565$            859$            5,719$        
Right of use assets 4,489          22                  84                4,595          
Property, plant and equipment 2,614          51,361            7                 53,982        
Intangible assets 1,732          -                 -               1,732          
Total assets 9,131          55,947            951              66,028        
Current liabilities 1,604          82,477            784              84,865        
Total liabilities 6,258          82,755            809              89,822        
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Nasri, Behnoosh

From: marc rabinov <contactmarcrabinov@gmail.com>

Sent: Sunday, April 19, 2020 8:57 PM

To: Martin Boland; Philip Katz; marc rabinov

Subject: Fwd: NS

Attachments: NS proposition April 2020 .docx

Dear Martin 

Philip and I have worked hard over the weekend and have put our thoughts in the attached document for your review 

We look forward to hearing from  

Kind regards  

Marc and Philip 

Report this message as spam



Dear Martin

Thank you for your proposal and the discussions we have had to date.  Philip and I have worked hard to clarify 
our thoughts on this and have outlined them below.  While they differ from your approach, we believe they are 
valid. 

As a first step, we believe it would help to clarify where we see the business could go in the short term if the 
silicone metal option is successful

We have sketched out a model below. If you are aware of information that would change this model, we would 
appreciate you sharing it

Scott has suggested that the gross margin could be as high as $100 per tonne. We do not know what level of 
confidence to attach to that.  Given all the uncertainties we assumed a margin $70 / tonne and assume that 
throughput remains about 300,000 tonnes per annum. We are aware that this could be upsized significantly, but 
Scott has indicated that to do that a new road and interchange would be needed and that could cost $10 million
As a result, we have stuck with the base case assumptions above.

This model suggests that net revenues would be in the vicinity of $21 million pa
Assume head office costs $2 million, rail car costs circa $1.0 million and assume Penhold washes its face
This leaves us with pre-tax net of $18 million pa
While we have tax losses to use up, for valuation purposes, it is necessary to look at net after tax profit which we 
assume would be $12.6 million using a 30% tax rate 
If we apply a ten multiple to this, based on the belief that production will continue for many years, then the 
business is worth $126 million

We assume that the debt converts to equity as you have proposed. Say the existing $74 million of debt (ignore 
FS debt) converts to about 60% of the equity which would equate to the face value of the debt. Then, the $6 
million of new money will become worth 40% of $126 million or $50 million. It is important to note that it is likely 
that subsequent raises will be necessary and hence the $6 million may be $12 million before the Silicone 
business is operational. Even under these circumstances, this arrangement makes it possible for the new money 
to participate in a reasonable share of the upside.  

The question remains as to who contributes the new $6 million at this time. It seems to us that this should be 
done by offering existing shareholders a fraction commensurate with their current equity investment. This would 
be about 10% or $600,000 for Katz / Rabinov and about $3 million for Taurus. Clearly this leaves a $2.4 million 
deficiency as FS is not contributing. The options are that the remaining partners divide up this sum or that a new 
partner is identified.

It seems completely unfair to insist that Katz / Rabinov must assume all this deficiency as Taurus currently 
believes. Indeed, if this deficiency is allocated proportionately, we could be asked to make up 10% or $240,000 
of it with Taurus bearing the rest.

We are aware that this proposal is different to the proposal that Taurus has put forward, but we believe that any 
independent person would conclude that our proposal is the fairer one.

Finally, given all the issues to date, we believe that our contribution should come with a board seat, anti-dilution 
provisions and some rights on certain major decisions. 

We would appreciate Taurus giving this alternative assessment due consideration and look forward to your reply

Kind regards 

Marc Rabinov

On behalf of myself and Philip Katz
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Nasri, Behnoosh

From: Philip Katz <philipckatz@gmail.com>

Sent: Monday, April 20, 2020 9:21 PM

To: Martin Boland

Cc: marc rabinov; Peter Briggs

Subject: Re: NS

Good Day Martin 
Thank you for your response - we have every desire to work with Taurus and find a way forward. 
The unfortunate reality is that all the money, debt and equity, that we collectively have injected, is now 
underwater. 
In an arms length sale a buyer or investor injecting fresh capital would demand far more than we are 
proposing. 
In a Chapter 11 reorganization we would be arguing over value and a plan forward which benefits all 
stakeholders; Further, Taurus, Qmetco and the Board of Directors would be under a microscope and need to 
justify it's actions that led to the current state of affairs. The company would come under the control of a 
court appointed trustee. 
Our proposal, spelled out in the attachment to Marc's email, has the participating shareholders contributing 
capital pro rata to ownership (a standard commercial practice for a capital raise by existing shareholders).  
We are ready willing and able to write a check and continue along this journey with Taurus; our proposal is a 
reasonable step toward reorganizing and moving forward.    
On behalf of Marc Rabinov and Philip Katz 

Philip Katz
Tel Office:     +1.917.386.2223
      Mobile:    +1.347.886.2963

GOD BLESS AMERICA

On Mon, Apr 20, 2020 at 12:34 AM Martin Boland <mboland@taurusfunds.com.au> wrote: 

Philip / Marc,

Acknowledging receipt of your email.

Suggest we arrange a call for Monday evening NYC / Tuesday morning Melbourne time if that suits.
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In advance of a call a few initial points to make:

 Since NSC last raised equity, Taurus (via QMetco) has contributed C$19m of capital into the business. This 
contribution was always intended to be a bridge to an equity raise. If combined with the targeted C$6m of 
fresh capital currently targeted this equates to a notional amount of C$25m of which your hypothetical pro-
rata share would be C$2.5m and fairly close to C$3m  

 We’ve never expected you guys to go pro-rata on the proposed convertible note amount of C$80m (inclusive of 
retiring ALL Taurus debt and raising C$6m of new capital). This would imply Katz/Rabinov participation of C$8m 
and result in roughly 10% see-through ownership. We appreciate this scenario isn’t feasible for you 

 Based on your below proposal of contributing a total of C$840k this equates to roughly 1% of the total 
convertible note amount. As a result your pro-forma shareholding would only be around 1% and we suspect 
not a palatable investment proposition for you 

 We remain open to coming to agreement on including the FS loan notes into the convertible note structure but 
only if the party holding those notes is contributing at least C$3m. This would result in your pro-forma 
shareholding being higher than otherwise would. Per the spreadsheet sent last week a contribution of C$3m 
via the convertible notes and agreement to fold-in the FS loan notes at 50% of their face value would result in 
your pro-forma ownership being around 7.6% 

 The alternative for Taurus is to progress through a Chapter 11 style restructuring which is highly unlikely to see 
any value left for current equity and/or the FS loan notes given they rank as unsecured debt 

At this stage no additional details we can add to your commentary on the silicon metal opportunity which remains a 
work in progress.

Cheers

Martin Boland  
Director  
Taurus Funds Management Pty Limited 

P:  +612 8314 5503 (Direct)  
F:  +612 8314 5555  (Fax)  
M:  +61 417 411 336  
E:  mboland@taurusfunds.com.au
W: www.taurusfunds.com.au

Business Address:
Suite 4101, Level 41, Gateway  
1 Macquarie Place  
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia 

Australian Financial Services Licensee Number 307723 

☞ Please consider the environment before printing this email.

Unless otherwise indicated, this message is intended only for the personal and confidential use of the designated recipient(s) 
named above. If you are not the intended recipient of this message you are hereby notified that any review, dissemination, 
distribution or copying of this message is strictly prohibited. This communication is for information purposes only and should not be 
regarded as an offer to sell or as a solicitation of an offer to buy any financial product or service, an official confirmation of any 
transaction, or as an official statement of the entity sending this message. Email transmission cannot be guaranteed to be secure or 
error-free. Therefore, we do not represent that this information is complete or accurate and it should not be relied upon as such. All 
information is subject to change without notice. 



3

From: Philip Katz <philipckatz@gmail.com>  
Sent: Monday, 20 April 2020 11:12 AM 
To: marc rabinov <contactmarcrabinov@gmail.com> 
Cc: Martin Boland <mboland@taurusfunds.com.au> 
Subject: Re: NS 

Good Morning Martin

Just confirming, Marc's email and attachment reflect our joint thoughts. 

Philip Katz
Tel Office:     +1.917.386.2223
      Mobile:    +1.347.886.2963

GOD BLESS AMERICA

On Sun, Apr 19, 2020 at 8:57 PM marc rabinov <contactmarcrabinov@gmail.com> wrote: 

Dear Martin 

Philip and I have worked hard over the weekend and have put our thoughts in the attached document for your review

We look forward to hearing from  

Kind regards  

Marc and Philip 
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   Clerk’s Stamp: 

COURT FILE NUMBER  2001- 

COURT  COURT OF QUEEN’S BENCH OF ALBERTA 

JUDICIAL CENTRE OF  CALGARY 

  IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS 
ARRANGEMENT ACT, RSC, 1985, c C-36, as amended 
AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR 
ARRANGEMENT OF NORTHERN SILICA CORPORATION, 
HEEMSKIRK MINING PTY. LTD., CUSTOM BULK SERVICES 
INC., HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED, HEEMSKIRK CANADA 
HOLDINGS LIMITED and HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS 
(MOBERLY) LIMITED 

APPLICANTS  QMETCO LIMITED and TAURUS RESOURCES NO. 2 B.V. 

RESPONDENTS  NORTHERN SILICA CORPORATION, HEEMSKIRK 
MINING PTY. LTD., CUSTOM BULK SERVICES INC., 
HEEMSKIRK CANADA LIMITED, HEEMSKIRK CANADA 
HOLDINGS LIMITED and HCA MOUNTAIN MINERALS 
(MOBERLY) LIMITED 

DOCUMENT  CONSENT TO ACT 

CONTACT 
INFORMATION OF 
PARTY FILING THIS 
DOCUMENT: 

 Cassels Brock & Blackwell LLP 
Suite 3810, Bankers Hall West 
888-3RD Street SW 
Calgary, AB T2P 5C5 
Phone: 403-351-2921 
Fax: 403-648-1151 
Attention :   Jeffrey Oliver 
                    Email: joliver@cassels.com 
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Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc. consents to act as CCAA monitor on terms substantially provided 
in the draft Initial Order contained in the application filed in the within proceeding. 

 

 

DATED at the City of Calgary, in the Province of Alberta, this 23rd day of June, 2020. 

 

Alvarez & Marsal Canada Inc. 
 
 

 
Per: 
Name:   Orest Konowalchuk, CPA-CA, CIRP, LIT 
Title:     Senior Vice President 
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